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v Assured
Founded in 1972, SAP today is the world leader in enterprise applications in terms of software

and software-related service revenue, and the world’s third-largest independent software
manufacturer based on market capitalization. Our continued growth over four decades is
attributable to relentless innovation, a diverse portfolio, and our ability to anticipate ever-
changing customer requirements. With more than 253,500 customers in over 180 countries,
the SAP Group includes subsidiaries in major countries and employs more than 66,500
people.

Our company’s culture puts our customers’ success at the center of everything we do, and is
driven by our passions — which are:

— Success — We measure our success by our customers’ success.

— Accountability — We embrace accountability and strive to always make good on our
promises.

— Professionalism — We exhibit professionalism by consistently delivering quality work.

— Integrity — We are honest and fair and take responsibility for all our actions.

— Teamwork — We value teamwork because it enables us to exceed our individual limits and
share greater success.

— Trust — We work for each other’s success and take personal responsibility for all of our
relationships.

For more information about our business conduct, see the Business Conduct section in the
SAP Integrated Report 2013 online.

SAP is headquartered in Walldorf, Germany; our legal corporate name is SAP AG. The
corporation is listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange as well as stock exchanges in Berlin
and Stuttgart in Germany and the New York Stock Exchange in the United States. At the end
of 2013, our market capitalization was €76.5 billion. SAP is a member of the German DAX and
of the Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50 index.

We derive our revenue from fees charged to our customers for licensing of on-premise
software products and solutions, and the use of our cloud solutions by subscription. We also
derive revenue from support, consulting, development, training, and other services.

SAP markets and distributes our products, solutions, and services primarily through a
worldwide network of local subsidiaries, which are licensed to distribute SAP offerings to
customers in defined territories. Distributorship agreements are in place with independent
resellers in some countries. For more information, see the Business Model section.

As of December 31, 2013, SAP AG controlled directly or indirectly 272 subsidiaries. Our
subsidiaries perform various tasks such as sales and marketing, consulting, research and
development, customer support, training, or administration. For a complete list of subsidiaries,


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/governance/business-conduct.html
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/strategy-and-business-model/business-model.html

associates, and other equity investments, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements section, Note (34).

For management reporting, our activities are broken down into two divisions, On-Premise and
Cloud, which are further divided into operating segments. Our On-Premise division is
composed of two operating segments, On-Premise Products and On-Premise Services. Our
Cloud division is also composed of two operating segments, Cloud Applications and Ariba. For
more information about our segments, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
section, Note (28).


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/fileadmin/user_upload/2013/Konzernabschluss_nach_IFRS/SAP_GB13_E-Notes.pdf#page=104
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/295.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=A&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/fileadmin/user_upload/2013/Konzernabschluss_nach_IFRS/SAP_GB13_E-Notes.pdf#page=92
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Economy and the Market

" Assured
GLOBAL ECONOMIC TRENDS
In its most recent monthly report, the European Central Bank (ECB") concludes that the
global economy has remained fairly weak in 2013, especially in the first half of the year. That
is consistent with the view of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), stating that in 2013 gross
domestic product (GDP) across the world grew 3% year over year.

The experts also note regional divergence: According to the ECB, growth shifted to the
industrialized economies and became established there. In contrast, growth in most of the
major emerging economies slowed. Weaker domestic demand, limited scope for government
stimulus programs, and tougher financing conditions are the reasons cited by the ECB.
Additionally, commodity-exporting countries suffered from the sluggish demand on the
international commodity markets.

The economy of the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) region was weak in 2013.
Annual GDP in the euro area declined 0.4% year over year, according to the numbers
published by the ECB. The ECB reports that weak domestic and export demand slowed down
economic activity in the larger Central and Eastern European countries and Russia, although it
perceived a more encouraging trend toward the end of the year. In comparison, the Middle
East and Africa merely experienced a slight deceleration of growth. However, political
instability severely hindered economic growth in some countries in the region, notably Iraq and
Libya.

In the global context, the economy of the Americas region proved relatively robust, the ECB
notes. Despite tax increases and government spending cuts that came into force in March,
year-over-year annual growth in the United States was just short of 2% compared to 2012.
Growth was faster in the second half of the year than in the first as conditions on the
residential real estate and labor markets improved, consumer spending rose, and exports
increased. The ECB reports continuing recovery in Latin America, at only a slightly reduced
pace.

The contrary development of the industrialized and emerging economies was particularly
noticeable in the Asia Pacific Japan (APJ) region, according to the ECB. Japan, with its
expansive financial and monetary policy, turned to positive GDP growth rates and achieved
growth of 2%. Only in the third quarter was there a slight dip, caused by weaker exports. Most
emerging economies in Asia performed clearly more subdued than in recent years, the ECB
reports. In China, for instance, only the third quarter saw a slight acceleration in growth (to
7.8% year over year) after a modest stimulus package.

THE IT MARKET
Worldwide IT investment growth was higher than overall global economic growth throughout
2013, U.S. market research firm International Data Corporation (IDC) reports. However, that


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/296.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=p&no_cache=1

growth slowed during the course of the year. For this reason IDC corrected its projections
downward more than once. The main reason for this was slower growth in the emerging
economies such as in China and Russia. For that reason the emerging economies did not
grow as quickly as IDC had expected at the beginning of the year.

In 2013, the global IT market expanded by a percentage in the middle of the single-digit range,
which was slightly less than in the prior year. Leading the way was the mobile devices
segment, with growth well into the double-digit range. In fact, IDC revised its forecast for the
mobile device segment upward several times in the course of the year. The software segment
also outperformed the overall IT market, IDC reports. The PC segment was sluggish the entire
year, especially in the emerging economies, where economic growth flagged. Global spending
on servers and data storage devices contracted. In contrast, IDC reports that the global
market for IT services expanded by a percentage in the low single digits.

In the EMEA region, the Western European market for IT recorded low but stable growth and
has now, in IDC’s view, survived the crisis. In Russia the economic development was
completely different, according to the IDC. Over the year, it revised its forecast for growth in
the Russian IT market downward by several percentage points in light of the weak Russian
economy.

In the Americas region, the IT market followed the relatively robust expansion of the global
economy. Although the economic policy situation was at times volatile in the United States,
the U.S. IT market largely met expectations. IT investment grew by a percentage in the middle
single-digit range year over year. The IT market also proved resilient in Latin America,
including Brazil, and even recorded double-digit growth.

In the APJ region, the IT market reflected trends in the overall economy. Notably, the IT
market in Japan performed better than IDC had originally expected. At the beginning of the
year, IDC forecasted a contraction, but in fact over the full year IT investment increased
slightly. On the other hand, IT spending in China grew more slowly than IDC had originally
expected. Full-year growth was well below the double-digit percentages of recent years.

IMPACT ON SAP

SAP business was only slightly affected by the relatively weak growth in 2013 — especially in
the first half of the year — in the overall global economy and in the IT industry: Despite a
slower than expected start to the year, in 2013 our growth surpassed that of the global
economy and of the IT industry.

We owe this success first and foremost to our greater focus on innovation strategy and with it
our investment in three new fields of business: mobile solutions, in-memory computing with
SAP HANA, and cloud solutions. The heightened pace of innovation at SAP and the rapid and
successful integration of the companies we acquired, have been the decisive factors in our
achieving double-digit constant currency growth in non-IFRS software and software-related
services revenue.

SAP was highly successful in the EMEA region. With double-digit growth in revenue from
software and cloud subscriptions, we again increased our market share. Alongside double-digit
percentage growth in our home market, Germany, we performed remarkably well in France,
Russia, the Middle East, and Africa, achieving high double-digit software revenue growth.

Likewise, our Americas region outperformed the overall economy and the IT market. The


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/296.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=i&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/296.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=i&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/296.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=m&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/296.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=i&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/296.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1

double-digit increase in revenue from software and cloud subscriptions in 2013 were mainly
driven by a substantial — triple-digit — rise in cloud subscription revenue in North America and
very strong core business in Latin America.

In the APJ region, the economic environment was very weak at the beginning of the year, and
SAP's revenue suffered during this time as a result. However, the regional economy turned
around toward the end of the year, reflected in double-digit growth for our software and cloud
subscription revenue in the fourth quarter — a commendable result in the competitive context.
This helped return SAP to modest single-digit revenue growth for the full year in the APJ
region.

The emerging economies, with high double-digit growth, are important growth markets for SAP.
Key among them are China as well as the Middle East, Russia, and Brazil, where we achieved
strong double-digit software and cloud subscription revenue growth rates.

Overall, in 2013 we demonstrated an aptitude for global growth that few other companies in the
IT industry can match.

1) Unless otherwise indicated, all economic information in this section is based on information from the European
Central Bank (ECB).
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After significantly outperforming the major indexes in 2012, SAP stock increased 2.7% in
2013, while the DAX index increased 25.5%. Throughout the year SAP was in continuous
dialog with investors about our strategy for innovation and growth. The key topics discussed
were the SAP HANA platform, SAP’s shift to the cloud, the Ariba network business, and the
changes to the SAP Executive Board in 2013.

STOCK MARKETS AT RECORD LEVELS

In 2013, the U.S. Federal Reserve's ultra-loose monetary policy and low base interest rates in
Europe boosted stock markets. Liquid financial markets repeatedly sent key indexes such as
the U.S. Dow Jones Industrial Average index and Germany's DAX 30 to record levels.

In 2012, SAP stock gained 48.6%, ahead of major indexes. In 2013, the blue-chip and industry
indexes made up ground, while SAP stock rose a further 2.7%. The DAX 30 and the Dow
Jones EURO STOXX 50 index of blue-chip stocks in the euro area gained 25.5% and 18%
respectively in 2013. The Dow Jones Industrial Average index gained 26.5%, the S&P 500
29.6%, and the S&P North American Technology Software Index 30.2%. SAP stock
performed below average compared to other technology stocks: The Technology Peer Group
Index (TechPGl), which lists ten major technology companies, rose 19.7%.

SAP STOCK AT HIGHEST PRICE SINCE MARCH 2000

After closing at €60.69 on the Xetra trading system at the end of 2012, SAP stock fell to
€57.82 on January 22, 2013, its lowest level for the quarter. The publication of our preliminary
finalquarter and full-year results on January 23 put the share price on an upward trajectory.
The prospect of the Federal Reserve sticking to its stimulus program and a successful CeBIT
for SAP lifted the share price on March 15 to €64.80, its highest value for the year and a level
it had not seen since March 2000. In mid-March, the DAX passed the 8,000 point mark for the
first time since December 2007.

SAP stock came under pressure at the start of April as the markets weakened. It picked up
momentum again after we announced our first-quarter results on April 19, and, with the
markets rallying, reached €64.05, its high for the quarter, on May 15. Disappointing economic
growth figures for China, the announcement of personnel changes on the SAP Executive
Board, and the ex-dividend price adjustment after the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
on June 4 then caused the price to fall. It recovered soon after when SAP announced thatit
would acquire hybris.

The share price fell in the second half of July, and traded at €55.12 on July 23. On July 18 we
published our second-quarter results and adjusted our revenue guidance for 2013, due to the
industry transformation in the cloud business. The SAP Supervisory Board proposed Jim
Hagemann Snabe, who had announced that he would step down as co-CEO, to the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders in May 2014 as a candidate for Supervisory Board
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membership. The after-effects of SAP's adjusted revenue outlook coupled with a general
reluctance to invest in the software sector pushed the share price down to €53.42 on
September 5, its lowest level of the quarter.

At the beginning of October, investor worries ahead of our third-quarter results and weak
market sentiment pushed the share price down to its lowest level for the year of €52.20 on
October 9. After we confirmed our outlook guidance on October 21 and announced another
quarter of double-digit growth, the share price passed the €60.00 mark in the second half of
November. The market also welcomed the news that SAP would tap into China's cloud market
through a joint venture with China Telecom. After profit-taking in early December, a general
year-end rally began mid-month that lifted the DAX to a new all-time high on December 27.
Buoyed by this, the SAP share price climbed to finish the year at €62.31.

On January 21, 2014, SAP published its preliminary fourthquarter and full-year results for 2013
and announced it had pushed back the target date for operating margin to help capture growth
opportunities in the cloud. SAP now expects to reach its non-IFRS operating margin goal of
35% by 2017 rather than in 2015 as previously stated. Investors reacted to the news with
caution, causing SAP stock to fall to €59.62.

SAP Stock in Comparison to DAX 30, Dow Jones EURD STOXX 50, S&P Morth American Technology Software Index and to TechPGl
December 31, 2002 (= 100%) to January 31, 2004
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Key Facts About SAP Stock/SAP ADRs

Listings
Germany Berlin, Frankfurt, Stuttgart
USA (ADR) New York Stock Exchange

IDs and symbols

WKN/ISIN 716460/DE0007164600
NYSE (ADRs) 803054204 (CUSIP)
Reuters SAPG.F or .DE
Bloomberg SAP GR

Weight (%) in indexes at 12/31/2013

DAX 30 7.04%
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Prime All Share 5.54%

CDAX 5.69%
HDAX 5.79%
Dow Jones STOXX 50 1.85%
Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50 3.08%

DIVIDEND PAYOUT OF €1.00 PER SHARE

We believe our shareholders should benefit appropriately from the profit the Company made in
2013. We wish to continue our dividend policy, which is that the payout ratio should be more
than 30% of the profit after tax of the Group.

Therefore, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board will recommend that the
shareholders approve a total dividend of €1.00 per share for fiscal year 2013 at the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders. This corresponds to a year-over-year dividend
increase/decrease of €0.15. Based on this recommendation, the overall dividend payout ratio
(which here means total distributed dividend as a percentage of profit) would be 36% (2012:
36%).

CAPITAL STOCK UNCHANGED

SAP's capital stock on December 31, 2013, is €1,228,504,232.00 (2012: €1,228,504,232.00).
It is issued as 1,228,504,232 nopar shares, each with an attributable value of €1 in relation to
the capital stock.

LARGER FREE FLOAT

The proportion of our stock in free float increased again slightly in 2013. Applying the definition
accepted on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange — which excludes treasury stock from the free float
— on December 31, 2013, the free float stood at 74.7% (December 31, 2012: 74.4%). In
January 2014, approximately 22.5% (January 2013: 22.7%) of the stock was under the control
of three founders and their trusts and holding companies. U.S. institutions remained the next
largest group of shareholders, holding around 18.0% (19.4%) of the stock. Institutions in
Ireland and the United Kingdom held about 14.9% (13.6%), followed by Continental European
investors outside Germany, who held approximately 13.8% (12.8%). Institutions in Germany
held 7.6% (7.8%) and investors from the rest of the world held 2.7% (3.0%) of the stock in
January 2014. Private or unidentified investors held 17.6% (17.7%). SAP held 2.8% (3.0%) of
the stock in treasury.

Return on SAP Common Stock — WKN 716460/ISIN DE0007164600

Percent, unless otherwise stated

Initial investment €10,000

Date of investment 12/31/2003 12/31/2008 12/31/2012
Period of investment 10 years 5years 1 year
Value on 12/31/2013") (in €) 21,381 26,808 10,419
Average annual return 7.9 21.8 4.2

Performance comparators




DAX 30 Performance — total return index 9.2 14.7 25.5

REX General Bond — total return index 45 4.2 -0.5
S&P 500 Composite — total return index 6.9 19.2 324
S&P North American Technology Software Index — price index 8.2 22.9 31.1

R Assuming all dividends were reinvested.
Source: Datastream

Return on SAP ADRs - 803054204 (CUSIP)

Percent, unless otherwise stated

Initial investment US$10,000

Date of investment 12/31/2003 12/31/2008 12/31/2012
Period of investment 10 years 5years 1 year
Value on 12/31/2012") (in US$) 23,207 25,646 10,990
Average annual return 8.8 20.7 9.9

Performance comparators

S&P 500 Composite — total return index 7.4 17.9 324

R Assuming all dividends were reinvested.
Source: Datastream

COMMUNICATION WITH INVESTORS

SAP aims for the greatest possible transparency and openness in a continuous dialog with our
shareholders. In several hundred one-on-one meetings held at SAP, during investor road
shows worldwide, and at investor events, we answered inquiries from institutional investors
and analysts about our business and strategy. We also held telephone conferences and
analyst meetings when we published our quarterly results. Investor presentations at the
SAPPHIRE NOW conferences, which took place in Beijing, China, and in Orlando, Florida, in
the United States, were key elements of our communication with the financial markets. In
addition, SAP engages in regular dialog with socially responsible investors (SRIs), by
providing insight into SAP’s environmental, social, and corporate governance policies.

COMPREHENSIVE SERVICE FOR PRIVATE INVESTORS

Providing a full service for retail in vestors is a priority for SAP. Our services for private
investors include investor presentations at various retail shareholder events, the shareholder
hotline, e-mail contact at investor(at)sap.com, investor relations information on our public Web
site www.sap.com/investor, and a mobile Web site m.sapinvestorrelations.com. We provide a
range of information for investors about SAP and SAP stock online, including press releases
delivered by e-mail, social media including information provided on our SAP Investor Relations
Twitter feed @sapinvestor, our quarterly SAP INVESTOR magazine, which investors can
subscribe to free of charge, and a text message service. We also publish an overview of the
latest analyst assessments in collaboration with Vara Research. All key events at which
members of our Executive Board speak to financial analysts and institutions are broadcast
live on the Internet, and we post the presentation materials on the investor relations area of
our public Web site.


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/297.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1%5Bchar%5D=S&no_cache=1
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For SAP, stakeholder engagement and collaboration are deeply embedded into our process of
innovation and the development of our solutions. Before we can design a new solution, we
must first understand the issue we are addressing. For this reason, design thinking and co-
innovation are essential. At the same time, this process is not complete. With any innovation,
there is often a time lag before stakeholders understand and absorb the full implications of a
new solution. In other words, we need to update our license to operate by continually
assessing and managing the additional responsibilities brought about by innovation.

To fully understand these responsibilities, we regularly engage with seven key stakeholder
groups that are most relevant to our business, as well as our Sustainability Advisory Panel.
We have selected these groups as they are critical to our value creation. This dialog also

influences our materiality assessment.

Stakeholder
Group

How We Engage

Examples in 2013

Customers

Ensuring our customers’ success is core to
everything we do. In addition to the sales engagement
cycle, we also engage customers through industry
value networks, co-innovation projects, customer
councils, and customer-organized user groups
throughout the world. The Customer Engagement
Initiative provides early insight to SAP product
planning, allowing our customers to influence and
collaborate around our product development cycle.
We also gather customer feedback regularly through
our “SAP Listens” customer and partner feedback
program.

For more information on
customer surveys, see the
Customers section.

Employees

We survey employees annually, conducting pulse
checks throughout the year. The Supervisory Board
comprises 50% employee representation, and
management regularly engages with employee works
councils. In addition, the Executive Board answers
employees’ questions in all-hands meetings that take
place every quarter. In quarterly coffee corner
sessions, senior managers explain our strategy to
employees and answer their questions directly.

For the results of our latest
employee survey and how SAP is
responding, see the Employee
Engagement section.

Governments

We advise governments and administrations
worldwide on critical IT topics, such as the cloud and
Big Data, which play a key role in creating new
efficiencies and spurring economic growth.

For more information on our
policy engagement in 2013, see
the Public Policy section.

Industry
analysts

Our Analyst Relations team and the Executive Board
interact with IT analysts on a frequent basis.

We updated IT analysts, for
example, on SAP HANA, our
enterprise applications, our

industry solutions, our cloud
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solutions, our ecosystem, and
our services. When it comes to
sustainability solutions, we
informed them about our
sustainability reporting, energy
management, environmental
health and safety, and operational
risk management solutions.

Financial Our Investor Relations team and the Executive Board For more information on our
analysts and conduct one-to-one briefings with financial analysts dialog with investors, see the
investors and investors, as well as investor road shows, Investor Relations section.

quarterly earnings calls, and our annual general

meeting; the investor relations team also engages

with the sustainable investment community.
Non- Our dialog with NGOs and academic institutions helps We work with academia, for
governmental us understand how we can help address today’s example through the SAP
organizations most pressing issues with our solutions and what is University Alliances program that
(NGOs) and expected from us as a corporation. provides students with hands-on
academia experience working with SAP

software and solutions.

SAP HANA was developed in
cooperation with the Hasso
Plattner Institute for Software
Systems Engineering (HPI) at the
University of Potsdam, Germany.

Partners and
suppliers

Our partners are also key to our growth, as they help
us co-innovate solutions, implement solutions at
customer sites, and support our operations. The spirit
of cooperation and engagement is exemplified by the
online SAP Community Network, which now include
more than two million members.

We have also started to work with select suppliers to
understand how we can help each other improve.

As with customers, we also
gather partner feedback regularly
through our “SAP Listens”
customer and partner feedback
program.

An example for our engagement
with suppliers is the dialog we
continued with our major rental
car providers about how we can
reduce our joint greenhouse gas
footprint.

Sustainability
Advisory
Panel

Our Sustainability Advisory Panel consists of expert
representatives of customers, investors, NGOs, and
employees.

Our Sustainability Advisory Panel
met in 2013 with SAP senior
executives from the areas of
strategy, solutions, finance, and
administration. The group
discussed the further integration
of sustainability into SAP
solutions, how we can support
business transformations, and
the key issues where technology
will play an especially important
role in creating a sustainable
future.

Like other companies, we still have farther to go to align our stakeholder engagement with the
AA1000 APS principles of inclusivity, materiality, and responsiveness. We can do this, for
example, by continuing to develop formal approaches to profile and map stakeholders more
systematically, to evaluate stakeholder feedback, put specific points in context, and
consolidate input from both internal and external stakeholder groups.
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SAP Group and Market Environment
Customers

v Assured
When SAP customers become best-run businesses, they can create more sustainable

business models — which in turn helps us ensure our own long-term viability. That is why we
strive to provide more than just software; we continually engage with our customers at every
stage — not only during the sales and implementation phases, but also through the sharing of
best practices and innovations.

One example of this strategy is our Customer Engagement Initiative. This program offers
customers early insight into certain aspects of our product road map, so they can influence
the development cycle. In addition, it offers customers the opportunity to network on topics of
mutual interest. These networking opportunities take place at a variety of global events,
including the SAPPHIRE NOW and SAP d-code (previously SAP TechEd) conferences, as
well as virtual events.

CUSTOMER LOYALTY

We gauge customer loyalty through an annual survey that measures our Net Promoter Score
(NPS). Customer loyalty is one of our four companywide strategic goals, along with revenue,
margin, and employee engagement. In 2013, our NPS increased by 3.2 percentage points to
12.1%, compared with 8.9% in 2012. The increase achieved in 2013 showed us that we are on
the right track even though we had predicted an increase of eight percentage points at the
beginning of the year. In addition, the results provided insights into different geographic
regions and issues, and will help inform our future approach.

Our increased NPS reflects our commitment to listening to our customers and responding to
their needs. Our goal is to best support their success and the success of SAP. For example,
we are expanding on the insights provided by our surveys through in-person focus groups that
explore customer feedback in more depth. These sessions have enabled us to identify the
underlying reasons behind issues and focus more precisely on where we need to make
improvements. We are also showing customers how we are addressing feedback. A prime
example is the use of SAP Service Marketplace to describe improvement projects in a host of
areas, from our licensing process to our digital experience. Customers can also provide input
into these projects through idea place, an online platform from SAP, to capture, discuss, and
rate ideas.

The NPS shows how likely our customers would be to recommend SAP to friends or
colleagues on a scale of 0-10. To determine this metric, we start with the percentage of
“promoters” of SAP — those who give us a score of 9 or 10. We then subtract the number of
“detractors” — those who give us a score of 0—6. The method ignores “passives,” who give us a
score of 7 or 8. The NPS can range from -100% to +100%. For more information on the NPS,
see the Internal Management System section, and the Non-Financial Notes section of the
SAP Integrated Report 2013 online.
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STRONG CUSTOMER DEMAND

Our strategy focuses on offering solutions and services to help customers run better today
and tomorrow. To do so we offer a spectrum of solutions from complete suites to applications
that are simple, lean, focused, quick to implement, and highly mobile. In 2013, we saw
customers embrace this strategy by licensing or subscribing to the full range of SAP
applications — from comprehensive solutions for large enterprises to the latest mobile apps.

Some examples by region include the following customers:

EUROPE, MIDDLE EAST, AND AFRICA (EMEA) REGION

— The Deutscher Fussball-Bund (DFB) is made up of the German Association Football
League at the professional level and five regional and 21 state associations at the semi-pro
and amateur levels. The customer plans to tailor campaigns and promotions to fans through
the SAP CRM powered by SAP HANA rapid-deployment solution and SAP Event Ticketing
software.

— Eldorado, a large consumer electronics and domestic appliances retailer in Russia,
selected the SAP CRM powered by SAP HANA application, as well as the SAP 360
Customer, SAP Planning for Retail, and hybris OmniCommerce for retail to help improve
customer service and achieve faster results. With SAP and hybris software, Eldorado
expects to track and combine consumer information across channels in real time, so they
can run their business and achieve full intimacy with their consumers.

— Nestlé Nespresso is a world leader in coffee machines and coffee maker technology. With
the SAP Cloud for Sales solution, Nespresso aims to extend its premium experience by
understanding and engaging customers at every step of the buying journey.

— The Royal Swaziland Sugar Corporation, a leading sugar producer in Africa, has chosen to
adopt SAP Business Suite powered by SAP HANA. SAP Business Suite software will allow
the company to consolidate multiple systems.

— Unilever, one of the largest multinational consumer goods companies in the world,
partnered with SAP to develop the SAP Retail Execution mobile app on SAP Mobile
Platform. With this SAP software, Unilever expects to empower its large sales force,
merchandisers, and shopping assistants across multiple countries in Asia and Europe to
accelerate opportunities at the point of sale and increase customer satisfaction.

AMERICAS REGION

— ExxonMobil, an American multinational oil and gas corporation, selected the SAP Cloud for
Sales solution and the SAP Sales and Operations Planning solution
(powered by SAP HANA) to support demand and supply balancing. Building on its on-
premise SAP software deployment with cloud solutions from SAP, ExxonMobil expects to
optimize logistics planning processes, increase planning accuracy, and shorten planning
cycle time through the improved management of Big Data.

— Levi Strauss & Co, a well-known clothing brand, chose to run its analytics platform through
SAP NetWeaver Business Warehouse powered by SAP HANA. With this, Levi Strauss
expects to consolidate financial reporting globally, get real time insight into product
performance, and help stock the right products in the right stores at the right time.

— Petrobras, Brazil’s largest energy company, is already live with the SAP Business Planning
and Consolidation application. Petrobras expects this implementation to improve forecast
accuracy and drive real-time financial planning based on latest oil prices and currency
fluctuations.

— ProHealth Care, a community-based healthcare system located in the United States,
selected the SuccessFactors Enterprise bundle. With SAP, ProHealth Care expects to
align with its top HR initiatives, focusing on patient safety and satisfaction.
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ASIA PACIFIC JAPAN (APJ) REGION

— Agricultural Bank of China (ABC), one of the four Tier 1 banks in China, selected SAP ASE
and SAP 1Q software to support synergistic development in rural and urban areas. With
SAP, ABC expects to capitalize on its comprehensive business portfolio and extensive
distribution network through the use of an advanced IT platform.

— China Resources Enterprise (CRE), a large producer of consumer goods in China, selected
the SAP 360 Customer solution and the SAP Trade Promotion Management application.
With SAP software, CRE expects to gain the speed and flexibility it needs to execute its
winning strategy from any device, anytime, anywhere.

— Net One Systems, a leading network integrator in Japan, selected the SAP ERP application
to promote innovation in its operating processes, construct an efficient IT platform, and
strengthen internal controls by linking information among its operations.

— Shanghai Huayi Group, one of China’s largest chemical manufacturers, operates more than
20 wholly owned and shareholding subsidiaries. With SAP software, Shanghai Huayi Group
expects to improve capital operations, resources sharing, and technological management to
advance the company into the world’s top 50 chemical makers.

— Varun Beverages Limited, a food and beverages company based in India, selected SAP
Business Suite powered by SAP HANA to support faster, smarter, and real-time decision
making. With SAP software, Varun Beverages expects to provide real-time analytical
reporting to key stakeholders, while achieving a 20% reduction in the MRP process and a
15% reduction in overall order processing time.
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Acquisitions

" Assured
SAP views acquisitions as investments in people, technologies, and growth. In 2013, SAP

made the following acquisitions:

ACQUISITIONS

— In March, SAP acquired Ticket-Web GmbH & Co. KG, a provider of ticketing solutions and
niche customer relationship management (CRM) software for sports and entertainment
promoters. The acquisition helped SAP enter the sports and entertainment industry, as we
can now offer enhanced solutions that help promoters, venues, and teams market events
over the Internet and better manage arenas.

— In April, SAP acquired certain assets from KMS Software Company LLC, a provider of
Web-based human capital management software and solutions in the areas of electronic
onboarding, off-boarding, forms management, and new-hire engagement.

— In April, SAP acquired Camilion, a provider of product development, product lifecycle, and
underwriting solutions for the insurance market. These solutions allow SAP customers to
streamline the management and creation of new insurance products, providing insurance
brokers and underwriters with simple tools to help speed up transactions and reduce costs.

— In April, SAP acquired SmartOps, a provider of inventory and service-level optimization
software solutions. This acquisition helps SAP develop real-time supply chain software
solutions on the SAP HANA platform. The solutions help customers optimize inventory and
service levels, freeing up working capital for innovation and growth.

— In August, SAP acquired hybris, one of the leading commerce technology companies. This
is an investment in the future of commerce and customer engagement. We continue to
combine the omnichannel commerce solutions of hybris with enterprise technology and
industry leading in-memory, cloud, and mobile innovations from SAP. Together, these
capabilities can help facilitate new levels of customer insight and engagement.

— In October, SAP acquired KXEN, a provider of predictive analytics technology for line-of-
business users and analysts. The addition of KXEN solutions will provide easy-to-use
predictive capabilities for the extensive SAP customer base.

For more information about our acquisitions, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements section, Note (4).

VENTURE ACTIVITIES

Through SAP Ventures, which comprises our consolidated investment funds, SAP has
partnered with renowned entrepreneurs worldwide to build industry-leading businesses. SAP
Ventures has supported more than 100 companies on five continents for more than 15 years.
Many of these companies have been acquired or have become publicly listed companies.

In October, SAP announced its commitment to invest US$650 million through a new
consolidated investment fund, named SAP Ventures Fund II.
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In 2013, SAP made a total commitment of US$1 billion bringing SAP Ventures’ total available
investment pool to more than US$1.4 billion for use over the lifetime of its respective funds.
Investments through the funds are currently ongoing and depend on capital calls from the
funds. SAP Ventures seeks companies with an established market presence that are growing
very fast, and which they can help fuel their growth by adding expertise, relationships,
geographic reach, and capital. It invests globally with a particular focus on emerging
companies in Europe, India, and the United States, as well as in Brazil and China.

For more information about our consolidated investment funds, see the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (34).
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v Assured
To better understand and enable sustainable performance on a global level, both for our

company and customers, SAP subscribes to and routinely engages in a range of third-party
organizations, including:

— Aspen Network of Development Entrepreneurs (ANDE)
— Association of Climate Change Officers

— Boston College Center for Corporate Citizenship
— Business for Social Responsibility

— econsense

— FSG

— Greenhouse Gas Management Institute

— International Chamber of Commerce

— International Integrated Reporting Council

— Sustainability Consortium

— Transparency International Germany

— United Nations Global Compact (since 2000)

— World Economic Forum

— WRI / WBCSD Greenhouse Gas Protocol
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Corporate Governance Overview

v Assured
SAP sees effective corporate governance as critical to achieving corporate goals and

increasing the company’s value. Naturally, openness about the company’s corporate
governance principles, practice, and structure is itself an important element in SAP’s policy.

More information can be found online on our Corporate Governance section on our public Web
site SAP.com.

SAP AG Corporate Governance Structure

General
Meeting of
Shareholders:
1 share — 1 vote

— Elects members - Formally approves
— Formally approves — Authorized — Authorized acts annually
acts annually to convens to convens
meetings meetings
- Reports - Reports

— Appoints members
— Supervises management

[ .
L

il
8 elected by shareholders — Repaorts
8 elected by employees
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Global Managing Board

Bill McDermott Jim Hagemann Snabe

Co-Chief Executive Officer and Co-Chief Executive Officer and

Member of the Executive Board of SAP AG  Member of the Executive Board of SAP AG
Joined SAP: 2002 Joined SAP: 1990

Appointed to Executive Board: 2008 Appointed to Executive Board: 2008

Dr. Werner Brandt Robert Enslin

Chief Financial Officer, Labor Relations Member of the Global Managing Board of
Director and SAP AG,

Member of the Executive Board of SAP AG President, Global Customer Operations
Joined SAP: 2001 Joined SAP: 1992

Appointed to Executive Board: 2001



Bernd Leukert

Member of the Global Managing Board of
SAP AG,

Head of Application Innovation

Joined SAP: 1994

Gerhard Oswald

Member of the Executive Board of SAP AG,
Board Area Scale Quality & Support

Joined SAP: 1981

Appointed to Executive Board: 1996

Luka Mucic

Member of the Global Managing Board of
SAP AG,

Head of Global Finance

Joined SAP: 1996

a™

Dr. Vishal Sikka

Member of the Executive Board of SAP AG,
Board Area Products & Innovation

Joined SAP: 2002

Appointed to Executive Board: 2010
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Report from the SAP Supervisory Board

COOPERATION BETWEEN THE EXECUTIVE AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

SUPERVISORY BOARD MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS

THE WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SAP AG AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORTS FOR 2013

MEMBERSHIP CHANGES ON THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND EXECUTIVE
BOARD

adadl
Professor Hasso Plattner, Chairperson of the Supervisory Board of SAP AG

Dear Shareholders,

SAP had a very successful 2013. The Company had the fourth consecutive year of double-
digit growth in non-IFRS software and software-related service revenue, accelerated its
transition to a cloud company, continued to grow its core business, and increased its
profitability. This combination of achievements is unique in the software industry and shows
that the Company’s long-term strategy for innovation and growth is successful. In 2013, non-
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IFRS total revenue was €16.9 billion. Non-IFRS software and software-related service revenue
increased 11% at constant currencies (by 6% to €14.0 billion at current exchange rates). Non-
IFRS operating income increased by 14% to €5.9 billion at constant currencies. The operating
margin widened by 150 basis points to 33.5% at constant currencies.

As the Supervisory Board, our role is to look beyond the financial results to also evaluate the
Company’s overall vision and direction. SAP anticipated the fundamental shift in IT to cloud
computing and to the real-time business process management that in-memory technology
makes possible, and, as a market leader, is driving this change.

SAP HANA has revolutionized database technology and created the next generation of real-
time business platforms. With total license revenue of €1.2 billion in less than three years and
more than 3,000 customers worldwide, SAP HANA is the most successful product in SAP’s
history. This technology is the basis of all SAP applications in the future.

The Company’s rapidly-growing cloud business also demonstrates its leadership in that
segment. Cloud solutions from SAP have more than 35 million users, making SAP the largest
cloud company worldwide. In 2013, it recorded cloud subscription and support revenue of €757
million. The Company’s new technologies and the dynamism of its cloud business are the
foundation for long-term and profitable growth and for extending its market leadership.

We follow these developments closely in the course of our Supervisory Board work. As
always, the Supervisory Board relies on an open and sincere dialog with the Executive Board
to efficiently organize and perform our duties. In our report, we describe the ongoing close
cooperation between the two boards, the topics discussed at meetings of the Supervisory
Board, the work of our committees, corporate governance at SAP, and the audit of SAP AG
and the consolidated financial statements.

COOPERATION BETWEEN THE EXECUTIVE AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

In 2013, we discharged the duties imposed on us by the law and by the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation. We were continuously consulted by the Executive Board on the running of the
Company; we scrutinized and monitored the work of management for legal compliance,
adherence to proper accounting principles, appropriateness, and cost-effectiveness. The
Executive and Supervisory Boards consulted on the Company’s strategy and regularly
discussed progress on its implementation. We were involved whenever the Executive Board
made decisions of fundamental importance to SAP.

The Supervisory Board received regular, full, and timely reports from the Executive Board,
both from members in person and in written documents. Those reports chiefly concerned the
Company’s strategy, plans, business performance, risks, risk management, compliance, and
transactions of special significance for SAP. The Executive Board also indicated when the
Company’s business deviated from the plans and targets and explained these deviations.

The content and scope of the Executive Board’s reports fully met the requirements that the
Supervisory Board had placed on them. In addition to these reports, the Supervisory Board
received supplementary information from the Executive Board. In particular, the Executive
Board was available at Supervisory Board meetings for discussions and to answer our
questions. We questioned and probed the Executive Board to satisfy ourselves that the
information it provided us was plausible. The Supervisory Board maintains a list of the
categories of transactions for which the Executive Board must obtain the Supervisory Board’s
consent. The Supervisory Board continually reviews the list to see if it requires amendment. It
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was most recently amended in 2013. The Supervisory Board carefully considered all
transactions in the listed categories and discussed them with the Executive Board, focusing
on the benefits, risks, and other effects of each transaction. The Supervisory Board agreed to
all transactions for which its consent was sought by the Executive Board.

The Executive Board also kept the chairperson of the Supervisory Board fully informed
between meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees. In particular, the co-CEOs
met regularly with the chairperson of the Supervisory Board to discuss SAP’s strategy,
planning, the Company’s business performance, risks, risk management, compliance, and
other key topics and decisions. The Supervisory Board chairperson was informed without
delay of important events that were significant for assessing SAP’s position and progress or
for the management and governance of the Company.

SUPERVISORY BOARD MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS

There were four ordinary meetings and two extraordinary meetings of the Supervisory Board in
2013. Resolutions of the Supervisory Board were adopted at these meetings or by -
correspondence vote. It is customary practice at our meetings that the Executive Board
withdraws while we deliberate on items that pertain to the Executive Board or require
discussion among Supervisory Board members alone. This happened at all Supervisory Board
meetings in 2013. The Supervisory Board discussed the following matters and, where
necessary, made resolutions.

Resolution Adopted by Correspondence in January
In January 2013, the Supervisory Board approved by correspondence vote the appointment of
Rodolpho Cardenuto as president of the America region.

Meeting in February

At our meeting on February 14, 2013, the Supervisory Board discussed the 2013 budget.
Based on the operational plan for 2013, which the Executive Board presented in detail, we
agreed to the 2013 budget presented by the Executive Board, including the 2013 capital
expenditure budget and liquidity plan.

We also received and discussed the recommendation of the General and Compensation
Committee concerning Executive Board variable compensation for 2012. We first determined
performance against the defined targets, and then decided the payouts for Executive Board
members entitled under the 2012 short-term incentive (STI) plan by considering this
performance and the discretionary element. We discussed performance against the annual
financial targets for the 2010 and 2011 medium-term incentive (MTI) plans and determined the
payout of the 2010 MTI plan. We determined the performance against the 2012 tranche of the
RSU Milestone Plan 2015. We then turned our attention to Executive Board compensation for
2013. We identified the key performance indicators (KPIs) and set the target numbers for each
KPI in the 2013 STI plan and their relative weightings. We adopted a resolution on Executive
Board members’ individual allocation of rights under the RSU Milestone Plan 2015 (2013
tranche). Finally, we evaluated the appropriateness of the Executive Board members’
compensation for 2013, and in each case found it to be appropriate in terms of amount,
structure, objective criteria, and for each member’s responsibilities and tasks.

On the recommendation of the General and Compensation Committee, we extended the
Executive Board appointment of Werner Brandt from January 1, 2014, through June 30, 2014,
amended his contract, and set his 2014 compensation.



We approved the engagement of a law firm in which a member of the Supervisory Board is a
partner. The member concerned was excluded from the deliberations and voting on this
matter. The Executive Board reviewed business in 2012 and presented other management
information, such as SAP’s market position and the Company’s plans through 2015.

The General and Compensation Committee, the Technology and Strategy Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Finance and Investment Committee, and the Nomination Committee
reported to us on their meetings. The General and Compensation Committee referred to the
agenda items discussed at that same Supervisory Board meeting. The Audit Committee
described progress on the 2012 financial statements and reported that at its last meeting it
had been briefed about the findings from the audit’s focus areas. The Committee also reported
on its deliberations on the Company'’s internal control systems. The Finance and Investment
Committee informed us about the annual report it receives on SAP Ventures and SAP HANA
Real-Time Fund activities and about its discussions on the Company’s plans to establish a
third venture capital fund. The Technology and Strategy Committee gave us an account of
SAP HANA Enterprise Cloud, SAP Managed Services, and the user experience strategy it
was discussing.

Meeting in March (Meeting to Discuss the Financial Statements)

At our meeting on March 21, 2013, the Supervisory Board first turned its attention to SAP
AG’s 2012 financial statements and the consolidated financial statements, the audits
conducted by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft (KPMG), and the Executive Board’s
proposed resolution on the appropriation of retained earnings for 2012. The Audit Committee
reported on all matters for which it is responsible in connection with the 2012 financial
statements, particularly on the form and scope of its examination of the documents relating to
the financial statements, and recommended that the Supervisory Board approve them. The
auditor attended the meeting. Referring in particular to the six audit focus topics that had been
agreed between the auditor and the Audit Committee, the auditor reported in detail on the audit
and on the results. The auditor also related the discussions on those matters at the two p-
receding meetings of the Audit Committee. The auditor then discussed the results with the
Supervisory Board and answered our questions. The Supervisory Board approved the audit.
There were no findings from our own examination, so we gave our consent to the SAP AG and
consolidated financial statements for 2012. We checked and endorsed the Executive Board’s
proposal concerning the appropriation of retained earnings. In addition, we agreed our proposed
resolutions for the agenda of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in June 2013. We
adopted a proposal to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders concerning the election of
an auditor for 2013 that followed the recommendation of the Audit Committee.

At this meeting, we also deliberated on the Executive Board’'s proposal to convert SAP AG to
a European company (Societas Europaea, or SE), which would require Supervisory Board
approval. After an in-depth discussion, the Supervisory Board gave its approval for the
Executive Board to prepare the conversion of the Company’s legal form to an SE. A resolution
on the conversion is to be put to the shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders.

The Executive Board presented the forecast for the second quarter and reported on SAP
HANA developments and plans.

Because a Supervisory Board member had left his previous law firm and had become a
partner in another law firm, we approved the transfer of the Company’s engagements with the
member’'s previous law firm to the new firm, and consented to two additional engagements
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with that new firm. The Supervisory Board member concerned did not take part in the
deliberations on these matters or the vote on the related resolution.

Under the appropriate agenda items, the Audit Committee and the Technology and Strategy
Committee reported on their recent meetings.

Resolution Adopted by Correspondence in April

The Executive Board had chosen a law firm to advise on the employee co-determination
procedure and preparation of the relevant documents ahead of the Company’s conversion to
an SE. A member of the Supervisory Board is a partner in this law firm. In April 2013, the
Supervisory Board approved by correspondence the instruction of this law firm to the extent
the Executive Board envisioned and at the fees and hourly rates negotiated for the services.
The Supervisory Board member concerned abstained from voting on the resolution.

Resolutions Adopted by Correspondence in May

On the recommendation of the Finance and Investment Committee, in May 2013, we approved
by correspondence additional capital for the SAP HANA Real-Time Fund and the creation of,
and capital for, the new SAP Ventures Il Fund.

In a second correspondence vote, we appointed Werner Brandt as labor relations director
because Luisa Deplazes Delgado was about to leave the Executive Board and we approved
the appointment of Bernd Leukert and Luka Mucic to the Global Managing Board with effect
from July 1, 2013.

Extraordinary Meeting in June

At our extraordinary meeting on June 4, 2013, we addressed the departure of Lars Dalgaard
and Luisa Deplazes Delgado from the Executive Board. On the recommendation of the -
General and Compensation Committee, we adopted resolutions on the termination agreements
with Luisa Deplazes Delgado and Lars Dalgaard, and on the consulting contract with Lars
Dalgaard. The Executive Board also informed us about changes to its schedule of portfolios
prompted by the departure of Lars Dalgaard and Luisa Deplazes Delgado. In a significant
change designed to simplify the organizational structure and create one development
organization, responsibility for all innovations was passed to Executive Board member Vishal
Sikka. Gerhard Oswald’s portfolio was redefined as Scale, Quality & Support, to include
responsibility for SAP HANA Enterprise Cloud. As part of these changes to the schedule of
portfolios, Werner Brandt took over responsibility for Global HR.

We also discussed the acquisition of hybris. The Executive Board presented the grounds for
acquiring the company, the agreed purchase price, and the terms of the purchase agreement.
We discussed the key considerations of the acquisition and, on the recommendation of the
Finance and Investment Committee, we approved the acquisition of hybris and the financing of
the acquisition. In accordance with the applicable plan terms and conditions, we agreed that
the targets of the long-term RSU Milestone Plan 2015, the 2013 STI, and the 2011 MTI should
be adjusted to eliminate any nonrecurring effects of the hybris acquisition on Executive Board
compensation.

Meeting in July

The meeting on July 11, 2013, was held in San Martin, California. The Supervisory Board had
the opportunity to join the opening ceremony of the SAP Center in San Jose, visit SAP Labs
in Palo Alto, and meet the representatives of major U.S. customers and SAP Ventures’
portfolio companies.
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At our July meeting, the Executive Board gave us an account of business in the second
quarter of 2013, performance in the first half-year, and the forecast for the second half-year.
Notably, it informed us about the revenue of each division and region in the second quarter of
2013, the performance of the cloud division, and SAP’s competitive position in general. We
discussed in detail the directors’ and officers’ group liability insurance policies that we take out
from year to year, and approved them.

As proposed by the General and Compensation Committee, the Supervisory Board resolved to
adjust the compensation of Executive Board member Vishal Sikka to reflect his increased
responsibilities. Referring to a report that the independent compensation consulting firm
Hostettler, Kramarsch & Partner had prepared, we checked that the compensation the
Committee had proposed was appropriate and then approved it. We also resolved to extend
Gerhard Oswald’s term of office as an Executive Board member to include the period from
July 1, 2014, to December 31, 2016, and approved the extension of his appointment contract
accordingly.

The Executive Board updated us about the preparations for the conversion of SAP AG to an
SE.

The committees reported from their meetings on topics we had not covered elsewhere on the
agenda. The Finance and Investment Committee presented in detail its deliberations from May
and June about the planned acquisition of hybris. The Audit Committee reported on the
quarter’s results, the audit focus areas for 2013, and the regular review of the Company’s
system of internal controls. The Special Committee updated us on TomorrowNow litigation.

After the Executive Board had left the meeting, we discussed succession planning for the
Executive and Global Managing Boards.

Extraordinary Meeting in July

We held an extraordinary meeting by telephone conference on July 21, 2013. Jim Hagemann
Snabe had informed us that he wished to step down from the Executive Board. After careful
deliberation, the Supervisory Board decided to recommend him to the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders in May 2014 as a candidate for Supervisory Board membership, provided the
statutory conditions were met for waiving the "cooling-off" period. We then deliberated on Jim
Hagemann Snabe’s contract termination agreement. We resolved to terminate his appointment
contract by mutual agreement with effect from the end of the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders on May 21, 2014.

Resolutions Adopted by Correspondence in August

On August 16, 2013, the Supervisory Board agreed by correspondence on the terms and
conditions and the details of Jim Hagemann Snabe’s contract termination agreement that we
had discussed at July’s extraordinary meeting. Under the termination agreement with Jim
Hagemann Snabe, he receives fixed compensation for his Executive Board tenure in 2013 and
2014. A report from Ernst & Young confirmed the opinion we had reached in our own review
that this compensation was appropriate. Apart from that, we have not agreed to make any
payments in connection with Jim Hagemann Snabe’s leaving.

Resolutions Adopted by Correspondence in September

On September 6, 2013, again by correspondence and with the Executive Board’s agreement,
we resolved to update the Company’s declaration of implementation of the German Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code” in this report) pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act,



section 161. The declaration had to be updated because, under the termination agreement with
Jim Hagemann Snabe, he receives only fixed cash compensation elements for his Executive
Board tenure in 2013 and 2014. The agreement contains these arrangements because Jim
Hagemann Snabe would transfer to the Supervisory Board if the conditions of the German
Stock Corporation Act, section 100 (2)(4) are fulfilled and the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders elects him. An advantage of the agreed fixed cash compensation elements is
that they avoid a conflict of interest for Jim Hagemann Snabe. If he were to receive the
variable compensation elements SAP ordinarily pays its Executive Board members, such a
conflict of interest would arise on his transfer to the Supervisory Board because (some)
elements of his Supervisory Board compensation package would converge with those of the
remaining Executive Board members.

Meeting in October

In our meeting on October 10, 2013, the Executive Board reported on third-quarter business
and preliminary results. We then discussed strategy with the Executive Board in light of the
Company’s performance.

After the Executive Board had left the meeting, we deliberated on a successor to Werner
Brandt as chief financial officer. We agreed to appoint Luka Mucic to this position for a term of
three years with effect from July 1, 2014. We discussed Ernst & Young's report on the
appropriateness of the compensation that was to be offered to Luka Mucic. Our own review of
the compensation had found it appropriate. We then agreed that and the other terms and
conditions of Luka Mucic’s Executive Board appointment contract.

On the recommendation of the General and Compensation Committee, we resolved to again
adjust the targets of the 2013 STI plan, 2011 MTI plan, and RSU Milestone Plan 2015. The
targets had been adjusted for the hybris acquisition. Since the acquisition was completed later
than expected, the targets had to be readjusted to the actual acquisition date.

The Executive Board gave a detailed account of developments in the cloud business, SAP
Business Suite powered by SAP HANA, research, and support.

The next item on the agenda was the topic of women on the Executive Board and in
leadership at SAP. The Executive Board reported on how the Company’s measures to
promote diversity and increase the number of women in leadership positions were progressing.

We received a progress report on the preparations for converting SAP AG to an SE and were
informed of who were the members of the Special Negotiating Body.

In agreement with the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board then adopted, for regular
publication in October 2013, the annual declaration of implementation of the German Corporate
Governance Code pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, section 161. The General
and Compensation Committee reported that it had met immediately prior to our meeting to
verify compliance with the declaration of implementation of the Code. The Supervisory Board
determined that we have a sufficient number of independent members. Some Supervisory
Board members currently have business dealings with SAP or hold senior positions in
companies that currently have business dealings with SAP, or have done so in the course of
the year. SAP’s business dealings with these persons or companies are or were at arm’s
length. In our view, especially given the limited scope and materiality of those dealings, they
did not affect the independence of the Supervisory Board members concerned and do not give
rise to any substantial and not merely temporary conflict of interest in the meaning of the
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Code. Specially designed questionnaires were sent to Supervisory Board and Executive Board
members in August 2013 in connection with the regular review of the efficiency of the
Supervisory Board’s activities pursuant to section 5.6 of the Code. Ahead of the meeting, we
had received a written copy of the Supervisory Board chairperson’s analysis of the results of
the survey concerning the efficiency of the work of the Supervisory Board and its committees.
We discussed his analysis at the meeting.

On the recommendation of the General and Compensation Committee we resolved to set up a
new committee for employee and organizational matters, the People and Organization
Committee. We appointed the following members to the People and Organization Committee:
Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Anja Feldmann, Wilhelm Haarmann, Christiane Kuntz-Mayr, Lars
Lamadé, Hartmut Mehdorn, Mario Rosa-Bian, and Stefan Schulz. The committee is tasked
with advising the Executive Board and Supervisory Board on recruitment, people development,
major organizational changes, succession planning for the Global Managing Board and other
executive positions, employee salary structures and budget, equal opportunities for women at
SAP, and employee surveys. We approved a related change to the membership of the
Technology and Strategy Committee. Margret Klein-Magar replaces Mario Rosa-Bian, who will
step down from this committee. We were then informed about progress on the Company’s
activities to attract talented university graduates worldwide and discussed this matter with the
Executive Board.

The General and Compensation Committee, the Technology and Strategy Committee, and the
Finance and Investment Committee reported on their recent meetings.

Resolution Adopted by Correspondence in November
In November, the Supervisory Board approved by correspondence the Executive Board’s
plans to lease a new building in Paris to bring four SAP facilities together in one location.

THE WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES
The committees made a key contribution to the work of the Supervisory Board and reported on
their work to us. The following committees were in place in 2013 (as of December 31, 2013):

— General and Compensation Committee: Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Panagiotis
Bissiritsas, Wilhelm Haarmann, Lars Lamadé, Bernard Liautaud, Margret Klein-Magar

— Audit Committee: Erhard Schipporeit (chairperson), Stefan Schulz, Inga Wiele, Klaus
Wucherer — Finance and Investment Committee: Wilhelm Haarmann (chairperson),
Panagiotis Bissiritsas, Hartmut Mehdorn, Kurt Reiner

— Technology and Strategy Committee: Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Stefan Schulz
(deputy chairperson), Pekka Ala-Pietila, Anja Feldmann, Christiane Kuntz-Mayr, Bernard
Liautaud, Margret Klein-Magar (joined in November 2013), Kurt Reiner, Mario Rosa-Bian
(left in October 2013), Inga Wiele, Klaus Wucherer

— People and Organization Committee: Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Anja Feldmann,
Wilhelm Haarmann, Christiane Kuntz-Mayr, Lars Lamadé, Hartmut Mehdorn, Mario Rosa-
Bian, Stefan Schulz

— Mediation Committee: Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Christiane Kuntz-Mayr, Hartmut
Mehdorn, Mario Rosa-Bian

— Nomination Committee: Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Pekka Ala-Pietila, Bernard Liautaud

— Special Committee: Hasso Plattner (chairperson), Pekka Ala-Pietila, Wilhelm Haarmann,
Margret Klein-Magar, Lars Lamadé, Erhard Schipporeit

Each of the committees was active in 2013 except the Mediation Committee, which has never



had to meet in the history of SAP.

For more information about the Supervisory Board committees and their duties, see SAP’s
corporate governance statement pursuant to the German Commercial Code, section 289a, -
published on SAP’s Web site at: www.sap.com/corporate-en/investors/governance/index.epx.

During 2013, the committees focused on the following topics:

— The General and Compensation Committee held eight regular meetings, and outside
these meetings it passed three resolutions by correspondence. A regular topic on its
agenda was succession planning at Executive Board and Global Managing Board levels.
The committee prepared the Supervisory Board’s resolutions on Executive Board
compensation and on the compensation of the members of the Global Managing Board. It
deliberated on the annual Capital Market Compliance Officer's Report, the preparations for
appointing a successor to Werner Brandt as chief financial officer, and the conversion of
SAP AG to an SE. At its May 2013 meeting, the Committee discussed the termination
agreements for Lars Dalgaard and Luisa Deplazes Delgado, who had resigned from the
Executive Board. It also deliberated on compensation for Global Managing Board members.
At its September meeting, the Committee agreed the resolutions it would propose to the
Supervisory Board regarding adjustments to the STI, MTI, and long-term incentive (LTI)
variable elements of compensation for Executive Board members. As explained above, the
adjustments were required to eliminate the nonrecurring effects of the hybris acquisition. It
also prepared the Supervisory Board’s resolution on Luka Mucic’s appointment as chief
financial officer and deliberated on the plans to set up the People and Organization
Committee and this new committee’s composition and tasks. At its October 2013 meeting,
the Committee discussed the Company’s implementation of the German Corporate
Governance Code recommendations and prepared the Supervisory Board’s decisions with
respect to the submission of the declaration of implementation of the Code and on the
independence of Supervisory Board members. It also prepared the Supervisory Board’s
decision about who should sit on the People and Organization Committee and the tasks of
that committee.

— The Finance and Investment Committee held four meetings, one of which was a joint
meeting with the Technology and Strategy Committee. It also adopted one resolution by
correspondence vote. At its meeting on February 11, 2013, the Committee received an
update on the SAP Ventures and the SAP HANA Real-Time Fund. It discussed proposals
for a new SAP Ventures Fund and for increasing the capital of the SAP HANA Real-Time
Fund. It received a summary of equity investments in 2013 and of the work of our Mergers
& Acquisitions team. At its May and June 2013 meetings, the Committee deliberated on the
hybris acquisition. The Executive Board provided detailed information about its plans to
acquire the company, and the Committee resolved to recommend the acquisition to the
Supervisory Board. At their joint meeting in October 2013, the Finance and Investment
Committee and the Technology and Strategy Committee were informed about SAP’s
competitive position and acquisition planning and analysis, and were updated on SAP
HANA Enterprise Cloud, and discussed these matters. In November 2013, the Finance and
Investment Committee approved by correspondence vote the sale of certain assets of a
U.S. subsidiary of Sybase, Inc.

— The Audit Committee held four meetings at which members attended in person and four
telephone conference meetings. One focus of its work was SAP’s financial reporting,
especially the SAP AG and consolidated financial statements, the combined SAP Group
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and SAP AG management report, and the Form 20-F annual report for 2012. Reviewing the
system of risk management in the Group, oversight of the financial reporting process, the
systems of internal control and risk management, and the internal audit were also key
topics at its meetings. In several of its meetings in 2013, the Audit Committee received
updates on the progress and results of the external audit on SAP’s worldwide compliance
management system (CMS) for the areas of anticorruption and competition law. The Audit
Committee’s view that the compliance processes at SAP are well designed, carefully
implemented, and effective was strengthened by the results of the independent external
audit of the CMS. In addition, the Committee did preparatory work on the Supervisory
Board’s proposals to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the distribution of
retained earnings and the auditor to be elected for 2013, and verified the recommended
auditor’'s independence. Following the election of the auditor, the Audit Committee decided
with the auditor on the focus areas of the audit and agreed the auditor’s fee.

The Audit Committee deliberated regularly on SAP’s business performance and its impact
on the Company’s financial accounting. It discussed with the Executive Board the 2012
results, the findings of the 2012 audit, the 2013 quarterly results and quarterly reports, and
the auditor's quarterly reviews of selected software agreements. The auditor attended all
physical meetings of the Audit Committee meetings, and most of its teleconference
meetings and reported in depth on its audit work and on its quarterly reviews of selected
software agreements. In addition to these discussions in the physical meetings, the
Executive Board held telephone conferences with the Audit Committee before the
announcement of the preliminary quarterly results to inform Committee members about
progress on the quarterly financial statements and the quarterly reviews of selected
software agreements, and about the preliminary quarterly results. The Audit Committee also
discussed each quarterly report with the Executive Board in these telephone conferences.
At its July 10 meeting, the Audit Committee was informed by KPMG about the planned
audit focus areas. At its meeting on October 9, 2013, the Committee was informed about
the governance model for the human resources function with particular regard to risk
management and people management. It discussed the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control structure, internal audit service, and compliance system, as described
above. The Committee also reviewed the internal audit service’s audit plan.

The Technology and Strategy Committee met four times in 2013. It discussed the key
technology trends in the software industry in the years to come and SAP’s corporate and
product strategies. The meetings primarily addressed SAP HANA technology and plans to
use SAP HANA as the platform for SAP applications. The Committee’s work also focused
on the Company’s cloud computing strategy and its implementation. As reported above, in
October the Committee held a joint meeting with the Finance and Investment Committee to
discuss SAP’s acquisition strategy and review past acquisitions. The Committee discussed
the user experience strategy and the strategy for customer relationship management
applications.

The Nomination Committee, whose members are all shareholder representatives, held
one meeting in 2013. At this meeting, in February, it deliberated on the future composition
of the Supervisory Board and the plans to convert SAP AG to an SE.

The Special Committee is tasked with coordinating and managing the Supervisory Board’s
external legal counsel concerned with the investigation and analysis of the facts in
connection with the TomorrowNow litigation. The Special Committee invited the Company’s
attorneys to its July meeting, held in St. Martin, California, so that they could inform the
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Committee in person about the latest developments and the court of appeals’ potential
verdicts.

— The new People and Organization Committee held its inaugural meeting and adopted its
rules of procedure in December 2013. It deliberated on the results of the 2013 employee
survey and analyzed them closely. It was informed about personnel planning and
development at SAP, and discussed proposals for improvements to the recruitment
process.

Regular reports from the committees ensured that the Supervisory Board was kept fully
informed of all matters covered by the committees and were able to discuss them thoroughly.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SAP’s corporate governance officer monitored our compliance with those recommendations in
the Code with which, in our declaration, we claim to comply, and reported in full to the General
and Compensation Committee. Members of the Executive Board and of the Supervisory Board
had no conflicts of interest that sections 4.3.4 and 5.5.2 of the Code require to be disclosed to
the Supervisory Board. As we reported above, the Supervisory Board consented to the
conclusion of contracts with a member of the Supervisory Board. There was also a transaction
between the Company and a member of the Executive Board. It was consistent with industry
standards and was immaterial. The General and Compensation Committee consented to this
transaction. The Company made no other contracts with members of the Executive Board or
Supervisory Board that would have required a prior resolution of the Supervisory Board.

For more information about Code compliance, see the Executive and Supervisory Boards’
Corporate Governance Report. The Supervisory Board closely examined the Executive
Board’s corporate governance statement pursuant to the German Commercial Code, section
289a. We approved the statement with the combined SAP Group and SAP AG management
report.

SAP AG AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORTS FOR 2013

KPMG audited the SAP AG and consolidated financial reports for 2013. The Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders elected KPMG as the SAP AG and SAP Group auditor on June 4,
2013. The Supervisory Board proposed the appointment of KPMG on the recommendation of
the Audit Committee. Before proposing KPMG to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
as auditor for the year, the chairperson of the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee
obtained confirmation from KPMG that circumstances did not exist that might prejudice or
raise any doubt concerning its independence as the Company’s auditor. In that connection,
KPMG informed us of the volume of other services it provided to the Group in the past year
and had been engaged to provide in the year to come. The Supervisory Board has agreed with
KPMG that the auditor should report to the Supervisory Board and record in the auditor’s report
any fact found during the audit that is inconsistent with the declaration given by the Executive
Board and the Supervisory Board concerning implementation of the German Corporate
Governance Code. KPMG examined the SAP AG financial statements prepared in accordance
with the German Commercial Code, the consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as required by the
German Commercial Code, section 315a, and the combined SAP Group and SAP AG
management report, and certified them without qualification. The auditor thus confirmed that,
in its opinion and based on its audit in accordance with the applicable accounting principles,
the SAP AG and consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets,
financial position, and results of operations of SAP AG and the SAP Group. The auditor also
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confirmed that the combined SAP AG and SAP Group management report is consistent with
the corresponding financial statements and as a whole gives a suitable view of the position of
SAP AG and the SAP Group and of foreseeable opportunities and risks. KPMG had
completed its audit of SAP’s internal control systems over financial reporting and certified
without qualification that it complies with the applicable U.S. standards. The auditor states in
its opinion that it considers SAP’s internal controls over financial reporting to be effective in all
material respects. All Audit Committee and Supervisory Board members received the
documents concerning the financial statements mentioned above, the audit reports prepared
by KPMG, and the Executive Board’s proposal concerning the appropriation of retained
earnings in good time.

On February 20, 2014, the Executive Board prepared the financial reports of SAP AG and the
Group for 2014, comprising the SAP AG financial statements, the consolidated financial
statements, and the combined management report, and submitted them to the Supervisory
Board without delay.

At the meeting of the Audit Committee on Wednesday, March 19, 2014, and at the meeting of
the Supervisory Board on Thursday, March 20, 2014, the Executive Board explained the
financial statements of SAP AG and the SAP Group and its proposal concerning the
appropriation of retained earnings. At the meetings, members of the Executive Board also
answered questions from the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board. It also explained
the annual report on Form 20-F to the Audit Committee meeting.

After the explanations from the Executive Board, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory
Board reviewed the financial statement documents in the light of KPMG’s audit reports. The
representatives of the auditor who attended presented full reports on the audit and the results
of the audit to the Audit Committee and Supervisory Board meetings and explained the audit
report. The auditor also reported that it had not identified any material weaknesses in our
internal control and risk-management systems for financial reporting. Both the Audit
Committee and the Supervisory Board asked detailed questions about the form, scope, and
results of the audit. The Audit Committee reported to the Supervisory Board on its own review
of the financial accounts, its discussions with the Executive Board and with the auditor, and
its supervision of the financial reporting process. It confirmed that as part of its supervisory
work, it had addressed the effectiveness of internal control, risk management, and internal
auditing systems of the SAP Group and found them to be effective.

The Committee also reported that KPMG had told it no circumstances had arisen that might
give cause for concern about KPMG’s impartiality and had listed the services it had provided
that were not part of the audit. The Committee reported that it had examined the auditor’s
independence, taking the non-audit services it had rendered into consideration, and stated that
in the Committee’s opinion the auditor possessed the required degree of independence.

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board were able to satisfy themselves that KPMG
had conducted the audit properly. In particular, they concluded that both the audit reports and
the audit itself fulfilled the legal requirements. On the basis of the report and the Audit
Committee’s recommendation, the Supervisory Board approved the audit and, because there
were no findings from our own examination, we gave our consent to the SAP AG financial
statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined management report
(including the Executive Board’s corporate governance statement pursuant to the German
Commercial Code, section 289a). The financial statements and combined management report
were thus formally adopted. The Supervisory Board’s opinion of the Company and the Group



coincided with that of the Executive Board as set out in the combined management report.
The Supervisory Board considered the proposal presented by the Executive Board concerning
the appropriation of retained earnings. In doing so, we considered to the requirements of -
dividends policy, the effects on the liquidity of the Group, and the interests of the
shareholders. We also discussed these matters with the auditor. On recommendation of the
Audit Committee, we then endorsed the Executive Board’s proposal concerning the
appropriation of retained earnings. We approved this present report.

MEMBERSHIP CHANGES ON THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND EXECUTIVE BOARD
The following members left the Executive Board: Lars Dalgaard on May 31, 2013; and Luisa
Deplazes Delgado on June 30, 2013. The Supervisory Board appointed Executive Board
member Werner Brandt as labor relations director.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Executive Board, the managing directors of the Group
companies, and all of our employees for their hard work and dedication in 2013. We would also
like to thank our customers and partners. Without them, our Company’s success would not be
possible.

For the Supervisory Board

Professor Hasso Plattner
(Chairperson)
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COMPENSATION FOR EXECUTIVE AND SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS

This compensation report outlines the criteria that we applied for the year 2013 to determine
compensation for Executive Board and Supervisory Board members, discloses the amount of
compensation paid, and describes the compensation systems. It also contains information
about Executive Board members’ share-based payment plans, shares held by Executive
Board and Supervisory Board members, and the directors’ dealings required to be disclosed in
accordance with the German Securities Trading Act.

COMPENSATION FOR EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

Compensation System for 2013

Executive Board members’ compensation for 2013 is intended to reflect SAP’s size and global
presence as well as our economic and financial standing. The compensation level is
internationally competitive to reward committed, successful work in a dynamic business
environment.

The Executive Board compensation package is performance-based. In 2013, it had three
elements:

— A fixed annual salary

— A variable short-term incentive (STI) plan to reward performance in the plan year

— A Restricted Share Unit-based long-term incentive (LTI) plan tied to the price of SAP
shares (RSU Milestone Plan 2015)

The Supervisory Board set a compensation target for the sum of the fixed and the variable
elements. It reviews, and if appropriate revises, this compensation target every year. The
review takes into account SAP’s business performance and the compensation paid to board
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members at comparable companies on the international stage. The amount of variable
compensation depends on SAP’s performance against performance targets that the
Supervisory Board sets for each plan year. The performance targets are key performance
indicator (KP1) values aligned to the SAP budget for the plan year.

The following criteria apply to the elements of Executive Board compensation for 2013:

— The fixed element is paid as a monthly salary.

— The variable compensation under the STI 2013 plan depends on the SAP Group’s
performance against the KPI target values for non-IFRS constant currency software
revenue growth and non-IFRS constant currency operating margin increase as well as non-
IFRS constant currency new and upsell billings. In addition, the STI element has a
discretionary component that allows the Supervisory Board, after the end of the period in
question, to address not only an Executive Board member’s individual performance, but
also SAP’s performance in terms of market position, innovative power, customer
satisfaction, employee satisfaction, and attractiveness as an employer. Moreover, if there
has been any extraordinary and unforeseeable event the Supervisory Board can, at its
reasonable discretion, retroactively adjust payouts up or down in the interest of SAP. On
February 13, 2014, the Supervisory Board assessed SAP’s performance against the agreed
targets and determined the amount of STI payable. The STI pays out after the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders in May 2014.

— The long-term incentive element is called the RSU Milestone Plan 2015. “RSU” stands for
“restricted share unit.” This four-year plan focuses on the SAP share price and on certain
objectives derived from our Company strategy for the years through 2015. For each of the
four years, the members of the Executive Board are allocated a certain number of SAP
RSUs for the respective year based on a budget amount that was granted to each
Executive Board member in 2012 already for the years 2012 through 2015. The number of
RSUs allocated to each member for a given year is his or her target amount (an amount in
euros) for that year divided by the SAP share price over a reference period (defined in the
RSU Milestone Plan 2015 terms) at the beginning of the year in question.

The number of RSUs an Executive Board member actually earns in respect of a given year
depends on Company performance against the objectives for that year (a year is a
“performance period” in the plan). The objectives derive from SAP’s strategy for the period
to 2015. The plan objectives relate to two key performance indicators (KPIs): our non-IFRS
total revenue and our non-IFRS operating profit. The KPI targets have already been set for
the entire life of the RSU Milestone Plan 2015 for the years 2012 to 2015 and will merely be
adjusted for the effects of key acquisitions.

After the end of each fiscal year, the Supervisory Board assesses the Company’s
performance against the objectives set for that year and determines the number of RSUs to
be finally allocated to (and which then vest in) each Executive Board member. There are
objective-based performance hurdles to clear each year before any RSUs can vest. There
is also a cap: Normally, the quantity of vested RSUs a member can attain in respect of a
plan year is capped at 150% of his or her initial RSU allocation for that year.

The Company strategy underlying the RSU Milestone Plan 2015 focuses on where SAP
aims to be by 2015, so the plan gives greater weight to performance against the KPI
targets for 2015 (the final year of the plan) than against the targets for 2012 through 2014.
After the end of 2015, the number of vested RSUs a member of the Executive Board
actually receives for that year is revised. In circumstances where the targets for the
individual years are not achieved but the 2015 targets are achieved, the outcome of this
revision would be that a member would receive as many vested RSUs for 2015 as would
make up for any that he or she did not receive in the earlier years by reason of failure to
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achieve targets. On the other hand, if the Company underachieves against the 2015
objectives, Executive Board members may in a worst case scenario lose all of the vested
RSUs allocated to them for 2015.

All vested RSUs are subject to a three-year holding period. The holding period commences
at the end of the year for which the RSUs were allocated. The amount an RSU eventually
pays out depends on the SAP share price at the end of the holding period. A member who
leaves the Executive Board before the end of the plan retains his or her vested RSUs for
completed plan years but does not retain any allocated but unvested RSUs for the year
during which he or she leaves. If a member leaves the Executive Board before the
beginning of the subsequent year, no RSUs are finally allocated.

Each vested RSU entitles its holder to a (gross) payout corresponding to the price of one
SAP share after the end of the three-year holding period. The applicable share price is
measured over a reference period defined in the RSU Milestone Plan 2015 terms.

Subject to the requirements in the German Stock Corporation Act, section 87 (1), the
Supervisory Board is entitled to revise the STI and the LTI in extraordinary and
unforeseeable circumstances.

For the terms and details of the RSU Milestone Plan 2015, see the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements section, Note (27). The number of RSUs to be issued to each
member of the Executive Board in 2013 by way of long-term incentive was decided by the
Supervisory Board on February 14, 2013.

An additional long-term incentive plan (LTI HANA) has been dedicated to Vishal Sikka to
align his remuneration to his new expanded role with regard to SAP HANA. The LTI HANA
for the years 2013 to 2015 consists of three annual compensation components with an
assessment period of three years that will be cash-settled after this period. The LTI HANA
is linked to KPIs specific to SAP HANA.

The contracts of Executive Board members Bill McDermott, Lars Dalgaard, and Vishal Sikka
include clauses that determine the exchange rates for the translation of euro-denominated
compensation into U.S. dollars.

In 2010 and 2011, the Executive Board members were granted a variable medium-term
incentive (MTI) plan to reward performance in the plan year and the two subsequent years.
The variable compensation under the MTI 2011 granted for the fiscal year 2011 depends on
the Group’s performance over the three years 2011 to 2013 against the KPI target values for
software and software-related service revenue growth and earnings per share (both of which
are non-IFRS, constant currency values). In addition, the MTI element has a discretionary
component that is assessed by the Supervisory Board at the end of the plan period. The close
of the fiscal year 2013 represents the end of the plan period for the MTI 2011, and therefore
the corresponding entitlement under the MTI 2011 is included in the compensation for the
fiscal year 2013. The payment will be due after the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in
May 2014.

Executive Board Members’ Compensation for 2013
€ thousands

Fixed Elements Performance-Related Element Compensation
for 20137

Short-Term and Long-Term

Medium-Term Incentive

Incentive Elements Element

Salary  Other? STI MTI Share-Based
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2011 Payment (RSU
Milestone Plan

2015)?)
Bill McDermott (co-  1,150.0 1,570.5 1,737.2 1,011.1 4,143.5 9,612.3
CEO)
Jim Hagemann 1,150.0 6,082.9 1,737.2 1,011.1 - 9,981.2
Snabe (co-CEO)
Dr. Werner Brandt 700.0 29.0 1,051.5 611.0 1,486.4 3,877.9
Lars Dalgaard (until 291.7 203.3 469.1 - - 964.1
May 31, 2013)%)
Luisa Deplazes 350.0 26.1 421.0 - - 797 1
Delgado (until June
30, 2013)%)
Gerhard Oswald 700.0 17.0 1,051.5 611.0 1,486.4 3,865.9
Dr. Vishal Sikka 700.0 383.6 1,051.5 611.0 1,486.4 4,232.5
Total 5,041.7 8,312.4 7,519.0 3,855.2 8,602.7 33,331.0

") Insurance contributions, benefits in kind, expenses for maintenance of two households, relocation costs, non-
recurring payments, use of aircraft, tax, cash disbursement of long-term incentive element, discrete payments
arising through application of the fixed exchange rate clause. The effects from the application of the fixed
exchange rate clause are disclosed under “Other” (in the prior year under the different compensation
components). Further, these amounts are shown in the year of payment rather than in the year of entitlement of
the underlying compensation. The amount for Jim Hagemann Snabe under “Other” includes the fixed payments
for the 2012 and 2013 RSUs according to the description below.

2) Compensation attributable to Executive Board members for 2013 including the 2013 plan tranche of LTI 2015
based on the grant value at time of grant.

3) Salary and STI for 2013 are pro rata temporis amounts until the end of the respective term. The RSUs
allocated for 2013 are forfeited upon the end of their contract.

In 2012, the Executive Board members already received the LTI grants for the years 2012 to
2015, which are dependent on their uninterrupted tenure as Executive Board members in the
years in question. Although these allocations are tied to the respective years and thus — from
an economic perspective — represent compensation for the Executive Board members in the
respective years, for the purpose of disclosure in the Compensation Report the grants had to
be included in the total compensation for Executive Board members for the year in which the
grants were allocated (in 2012) pursuant to section 314 of the German Commercial Code
(HGB). The share-based payment amounts in the table above disclose the LTI grants for the
year 2013 that were already granted in 2012 and included in the total compensation for 2012.
Consequently they are excluded from the total Executive Board compensation for 2013 (see
second next paragraph) calculated as required under section 314 of the German Commercial
Code.

Jim Hagemann Snabe resigned his seat on the Executive Board with effect from May 21, 2014
(Annual General Meeting of Shareholders). The SAP Supervisory Board will propose that he be
elected to the SAP Supervisory Board by the SAP shareholders on the same day. Mr.

Snabe’s termination agreement provides as follows: To replace the payout for 2012 RSUs
under the RSU Milestone Plan that on allocation in 2012 were valued €4,318,400 based on a
stock price of €45.26, he will be paid €6,485,800 gross based on a stock price of €52.96 (that
is, the mean of the 2012 and 2013 reference prices) discounted at 2% because of early
payment. Of that amount, €4,318,400, which was already allocated in 2012 and which was the



grant value at time of grant, was already included in 2012 compensation. The difference of
€2,167,400 is included in the total compensation for 2013 (see below). The RSUs allocated for
2013 were converted into a fixed payment of €3,768,300 (gross amount) based on a share
price of €58.69, a target achievement of 92.97%, and it is discounted at an interest rate of 2%
over the period to the original contractual disbursement date. This amount will be paid out after
the close of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in May 2014.

To compensate for his 2014 RSUs, Mr. Snabe will receive a prorated payment of €1,700,000
in respect of the period he serves in 2014. This amount will also be paid out after the close of
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in May 2014.

Including allocations for 2014 and 2015 to Gerhard Oswald (€1,574,800 each) that were
allocated in 2013 in line with the extension of his Executive Board contract, the total
Executive Board compensation calculated as required under section 314 of the German
Commercial Code amounts to €24,109,600, thereof: Bill McDermott €5,468,800, Jim
Hagemann Snabe €6,212,900, Werner Brandt €2,391,500, Lars Dalgaard €964,100, Luisa
Deplazes Delgado €797,100, Gerhard Oswald €5,529,100, and Vishal Sikka €2,746,100.

The share-based payment amounts in 2013 result from the following RSUs under the RSU
Milestone Plan 2015.

Share-Based Payment Under RSU Milestone Plan 2015

Grants for 2013

Quantity Total Grant Value at Time of Grant")

€ thousands

Bill McDermott (co-CEO) 73,289 4,143.5

Jim Hagemann Snabe (co-CEO)z) - -

Dr. Werner Brandt 26,290 1,486.4

Lars Dalgaard (until May 31, 2013)?) - -

Luisa Deplazes Delgado (until June 30, 2013)2) - -

Gerhard Oswald 26,290 1,486.4
Dr. Vishal Sikka 26,290 1,486.4
Total 152,159 8,602.7

D The grant value of each RSU allocated in 2013 was €56.54.

2) The allocations for Jim Hagemann Snabe (73,289 RSUs) were converted into a fixed payment. The allocations
for Lars Dalgaard (26,290 RSUs) and Luisa Deplazes Delgado (21,562 RSUs) forfeited upon the end of their
contract. Consequently they are not disclosed in the table above.

Total Executive Board Payment in 2012
€ thousands

Fixed Elements Performance-Related Element Compensation
for 2012V

Short-Term and Long-Term



Medium-Term Incentive
Incentive Elements Element

Salary  Other? STI MTI Share-Based
10 Payment (RSU
Milestone Plan

2015)" 3)
Bill McDermott (co- 1,150.0 699.6 1,545.7 1,067.6 4,318.4 8,781.3
CEO)
Jim Hagemann 1,150.0 163.8 1,545.7 1,067.6 4,318.4 8,245.5
Snabe (co-CEQ)
Dr. Werner Brandt 700.0 26.7 935.5 645.1 1,549.1 3,856.4
Lars Dalgaard (from 503.6 0 674.8 0 1,156.2 2,334.6
April 12, 2012)
Luisa Deplazes 233.3 96.4 193.9 0 414.4 938.0
Delgado (from
September 1, 2012)
Gerhard Oswald 700.0 16.5 935.5 645.1 1,549.1 3,846.2
Dr. Vishal Sikka 700.0 143.9 935.5 577.9 1,549.1 3,906.4
Total 5,136.9 1,146.9 6,766.6 4,003.3 14,854.7 31,908.4

R Compensation attributable to Executive Board members for financial year 2012 including the 2012 tranche of
LTI 2015 based on the grant value at time of grant.

2) Insurance contributions, benefits in kind, expenses for maintenance of two households, relocation costs, non-
recurring payments, use of aircraft, tax, discrete payments arising through application of the fixed exchange rate
clause. The disclosure of payments arising through application of the fixed exchange rate clause was adapted to
the disclosure for 2013.

3) Fair value at the time of grant.

In 2012, in addition to the LTI grant for 2012, Executive Board members already received the
LTI grants for the years 2013 to 2015, which are dependent on their uninterrupted tenure as
Executive Board members in the years in question. Although these allocations are tied to the
respective years and thus — from an economic perspective — represent compensation for the
Executive Board members in the respective years, for the purpose of disclosure in the
Compensation Report the grants must be included in the total compensation for Executive
Board members for the year in which the grants were allocated pursuant to section 314 of the
German Commercial Code. Vesting of a plan tranche is dependent on the respective
Executive Board member’s continuous service for the Company in the respective fiscal year.
In 2012, the contracts of Werner Brandt and Gerhard Oswald were set to expire in mid-2014,
while the contracts of Lars Dalgaard and Luisa Deplazes Delgado were set to expire in mid-
2015. As a result, the LTI allocations for the years 2014 to 2015 (for Werner Brandt and
Gerhard Oswald) and the LTI allocations for the year 2015 (for Lars Dalgaard and Luisa
Deplazes Delgado) had not yet been allocated with legally binding force in 2012.

In 2012, additional grants for Executive Board members for future years were €4,390,000 for
each co-CEO and €1,574,800 for each regular Executive Board member, in each of 2013,
2014, and 2015 (except Luisa Deplazes Delgado, who was supposed to receive €1,291,600 for
the year 2013). The total compensation for 2012 pursuant to section 314 of the German
Commercial Code, in other words, including this additional compensation as well as the long-
term compensation tranches granted but not yet earned, amounted to €72,138,400, thereof:



Bill McDermott €21,951,300, Jim Hagemann Snabe €21,415,500, Werner Brandt €5,431,200,
Lars Dalgaard €5,484,200, Luisa Deplazes Delgado €3,804,400, Gerhard Oswald €5,421,000,
and Vishal Sikka €8,630,800.

Share-Based Payment Under RSU Milestone Plan 2015

Grants for 2012

Quantity Grant Value per Unit at Total Grant Value at

Time of Grant Time of Grant

€ € thousands

Bill McDermott (co-CEO) 95,414 45.26 4,318.4

Jim Hagemann Snabe (co-CEO) 95,414 45.26 4,318.4

Dr. Werner Brandt 34,226 45.26 1,549.1

Lars Dalgaard (from April 12, 2012) 24,594 47.01 1,156.2

Luisa Deplazes Delgado (from 8,332 49.73 4144
September 1, 2012)

Gerhard Oswald 34,226 45.26 1,549.1

Dr. Vishal Sikka 34,226 45.26 1,549.1

Total 326,432 14,854.7

END-OF-SERVICE BENEFITS

Regular End-of-Service Undertakings

Retirement Pension Plan
The following retirement pension agreements apply to the individual members of the Executive

Board:

— Werner Brandt, Luisa Deplazes Delgado (who stepped down on June 30, 2013), and
Gerhard Oswald receive a retirement pension when they reach the retirement age of 60 and
vacate their Executive Board seat, or a disability pension if, before reaching the regular
retirement age, they become subject to occupational disability or permanent incapacity. A
surviving dependent’s pension is paid on the death of a former member of the Executive
Board. The disability pension is 100% of the vested retirement pension entitlement and is
payable until the beneficiary’s 60th birthday, after which it is replaced by a retirement
pension. The surviving dependent’s pension is 60% of the retirement pension or vested
disability pension entitlement at death. Entitlements are enforceable against SAP AG.
Current pension payments are reviewed annually for adjustments and, if applicable,
increased according to the surplus in the pension liability insurance. If service is ended
before the retirement age of 60 is reached, pension entitlement is reduced in proportion as
the actual length of service stands in relation to the maximum possible length of service.
The applied retirement pension plan is contributory. The contribution is 4% of applicable
compensation up to the applicable income threshold plus 14% of applicable compensation
above the applicable income threshold. For this purpose, applicable compensation is 180%
of annual base salary. The applicable income threshold is the statutory annual income
threshold for the state pension plan in Germany (West), as amended from time to time.



Originally, Gerhard Oswald was under a performance-based retirement plan. This plan was
discontinued when SAP introduced a contributory retirement pension plan in 2000. His
pension benefits are derived from any accrued entitlements on December 31, 1999, under
performance-based pension agreements and a salary-linked contribution for the period
commencing January 1, 2000. Gerhard Oswald’s rights to retirement pension benefits will
increase by further annual contributions because he will remain a member of the Executive
Board after his 60th birthday until his retirement on December 31, 2016.

Werner Brandt’s rights to retirement pension benefits will increase by further contributions
as he will remain a member of the Executive Board after his 60th birthday until his
retirement on June 30, 2014.

— Bill McDermott has rights to future benefits under the portion of the SAP America pension
plan classified as “Non-Qualified Retirement Plan” according to the U.S. Employee
Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). The “Non-Qualified” pension plan of SAP
America is a cash balance plan that on retirement provides either monthly pension
payments or a lump sum. The pension becomes available from the beneficiary’s 65th
birthday. Subject to certain conditions, the plan also provides earlier payment or invalidity
benefits. The “Non-Qualified” pension plan closed with effect from January 1, 2009. Interest
continues to be paid on the earned rights to benefits within this plan.

— SAP made contributions to a third-party pension plan for Bill McDermott and Vishal Sikka.
SAP’s contributions are based on Bill McDermott’s and Vishal Sikka’s payments into this
pension plan. In 2013, SAP paid contributions for Bill McDermott totaling €698,400 (2012:
€1,053,600) and for Vishal Sikka totaling €153,900 (2012: €215,300).

— Instead of paying for entitlements under the pension plan for Executive Board members,
SAP pays equivalent amounts to a non-SAP pension plan for Jim Hagemann Snabe. In
2013, SAP paid contributions totaling €282,900 (2012: €283,400).

— Lars Dalgaard has no entitlements under the pension plan for Executive Board members.
SAP made no retirement pension plan contributions to a third-party pension plan with
respect to Lars Dalgaard in 2013.
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The table below shows the annual pension entitlement of each member of the Executive Board
on reaching age 60 based on entitlements from SAP under performance-based and salary-
linked plans vested on December 31, 2013.

Annual Pension Entitlement
€ thousands



javascript:;

Vested on
December 31, 2013

Vested on
December 31, 2012

Bill McDermott (co-CEO)” 88.4 78.1
Dr. Werner Brandt 89.82) 88.2
Luisa Deplazes Delgado 5.8 2.3
(until June 30, 2013)%)

Gerhard Oswald 267.9% 259.9%)

" The rights shown here for Bill McDermott refer solely to rights under the SAP America pension plan.

2) Due to the last extension of Werner Brandt's contract beyond his 60th birthday, this value represents the
retirement pension entitlement that he would receive after his current Executive Board contract expires on June
30, 2014, based on the entitlements vested on December 31, 2013.

%) Due to changes in tax regulations in Germany, for commitments after January 1, 2012, the minimum age to
receive pension payments increased to age 62. The value shown for Luisa Deplazes Delgado for 2013
represents the retirement pension entitlement that she would receive at the age of 62 based on the entitlements
vested by the end of her contract.

%) Due to the most recent extension of Gerhard Oswald's contract beyond June 30, 2014, this value represents
the retirement pension entitlement that he would receive after his current Executive Board contract expires on
December 31, 2016, based on the entitlements vested on December 31, 2013.

%) Due to the last extension of Gerhard Oswald's contract beyond his 60th birthday, this value represents the
retirement pension entitlement that he would receive after his current Executive Board contract expires on June
30, 2014, based on the entitlements vested on December 31, 2012.

These are vested entitlements. To the extent that members continue to serve on the
Executive Board and that therefore more contributions are made for them in the future,
pensions actually payable at the age of 60 will be higher than the amounts shown in the table.

Postcontractual Non-Compete Provisions
During the agreed 12-month postcontractual non-compete period, each Executive Board

member receives abstention payments corresponding to 50% of his or her final average
contractual compensation as agreed in the respective contract on an individual basis. Any
other occupational income generated by the Executive Board member will be deducted from
his compensation in accordance with section 74c of the German Commercial Code.

The following table presents the net present values of the postcontractual non-compete
abstention payments. The net present values in the table reflect the discounted present value
of the amounts that would be paid in the fictitious scenario in which the Executive Board
members leave SAP at the end of their respective current contract terms and their final
average contractual compensation prior to their departure equals the compensation in 2013.
Actual postcontractual non-compete payments will likely differ from these amounts depending
on the time of departure and the compensation levels and target achievements at the time of
departure.

Net Present Values of the Postcontractual

Non-Compete Abstention Payments
€ thousands

Contract Term Net Present Value
Expires of Postcontractual
Non-Compete

Abstention Payment

Bill McDermott (co-CEQ) June 30, 2017 4,534 1



Dr. Werner Brandt June 30, 2014 1,933.3

Gerhard Oswald December 31, 2016 1,846.3
Dr. Vishal Sikka December 31, 2017 1,958.9
Total 10,272.6

After his resignation as a member of the Executive Board, Jim Hagemann Snabe will receive
monthly abstention compensation over a period of twelve months for the post-contractual non-
compete period totaling €3,015,500 (gross).

Early End-of-Service Undertakings

Severance Payments
The standard contract for all Executive Board members provides that on termination before full

term (for example, where the member’s appointment is revoked, where the member becomes
occupationally disabled, or in connection with a change of control), SAP AG will pay to the
member the outstanding part of the compensation target for the entire remainder of the term,
appropriately discounted for early payment. A member has no claim to that payment if he or
she has not served SAP as a member of its Executive Board for at least one year or if he or
she leaves SAP AG for reasons for which he or she is responsible.

If an Executive Board member’s appointment to the Executive Board expires or ceases to
exist because of, or as a consequence of, change or restructuring, or due to a change of
control, SAP AG and each Executive Board member has the right to terminate the
employment contract within eight weeks of the occurrence by giving six months’ notice. A
change of control is deemed to occur when a third party is required to make a mandatory
takeover offer to the shareholders of SAP AG under the German Securities Acquisition and
Takeover Act, when SAP AG merges with another company and becomes the subsumed
entity, or when a control or profit transfer agreement is concluded with SAP AG as the
dependent company. An Executive Board member’s contract can also be terminated before
full term if his or her appointment as an SAP AG Executive Board member is revoked in
connection with a change of control.

Postcontractual Non-Compete Provisions
Abstention compensation for the postcontractual non-compete period as described above is

also payable on early contract termination.

Permanent Disability
In case of permanent disability, the contract will end at the end of the quarter in which the

permanent inability to work was determined. The Executive Board member receives the
monthly basic salary for a further 12 months starting from the date the permanent disability is
determined.

Payments to Executive Board Members Retiring in 2013

Luisa Deplazes Delgado resigned from her position as Executive Board member with effect
from June 30, 2013, with the approval of the Supervisory Board. Lars Dalgaard resigned from
his position as Executive Board member with effect from May 31, 2013, with the approval of
the Supervisory Board. The postcontractual non-compete provision in both contracts has been
canceled without compensation.



Payments to Former Executive Board Members

In 2013, we paid pension benefits of €1,387,000 to Executive Board members who had retired
before January 1, 2013 (2012: €1,360,000). At the end of the year, the PBO for former
Executive Board members was €29,181,000 (2012: €30,551,000). Plan assets of €26,015,000
are available to service these obligations (2012: €26,054,000).

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS’ LONG-TERM INCENTIVES

Members of the Executive Board hold or held throughout the year share-based payment rights
under the RSU Milestone Plan 2015 and the SAP SOP 2010 (which were granted in previous
years). For information about the terms and details of these programs, see the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (27).

RSU Milestone Plan 2015

The table below shows Executive Board members’ holdings, on December 31, 2013, of
restricted share units issued to them under the RSU Milestone Plan 2015. The plan is a cash-
settled long-term incentive scheme with a payout subsequent to a performance period of one
year and an additional holding period of three years. The RSU Milestone Plan 2015 consists of
four plan tranches to be issued with respect to the calendar years 2012 through 2015.
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The holding of RSUs on December 31, 2013, that were issued and not forfeited in 2013,
reflects the number of RSUs multiplied by the 92.97% target achievement. The RSUs
allocated in 2012 have a remaining term of 2.08 years, the RSUs allocated in 2013 have a
remaining term of 3.08 years.
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The holding on December 31, 2012, reflects the number of RSUs issued in 2012 multiplied by
the 133.55% target achievement.

SAP SOP 2010
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The table below shows Executive Board members’ holdings, on December 31, 2013, of virtual
share options issued to them under the SAP SOP 2010 since its inception. The strike price for
an option is 115% of the base price. The issued options have a term of seven years and can
only be exercised on specified dates after the vesting period. The options issued in 2010 are
exercisable beginning in September 2014 and the options issued in 2011 are exercisable
beginning in June 2015.
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Total Expense for Share-Based Payment
In the report year and the prior year, total expense for the share-based payment plans of
Executive Board members was recorded as follows.

Total Expense for Share-Based Payment
€ thousands

2013 2012
Bill McDermott (co-CEQ) -1,629.7 16,239.0
Jim Hagemann Snabe (co-CEO) -2,967.0 16,239.0
Dr. Werner Brandt 1,042.9 4,998.1
Lars Dalgaard (until May 31, 2013) —2,264.2 4,239.6
Luisa Deplazes Delgado (until June 30, 2013) —-2,126.4 2,795.6
Gerhard Oswald -376.0 6,417.0
Dr. Vishal Sikka -376.0 6,500.3
Total —8,596.4 57,428.6

The expense is recognized in accordance with IFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments.” Because the
RSU Milestone Plan 2015 tranches for 2014 to 2015 were allocated at the beginning of 2012,
we are required to recognize them in part in 2013 even though these future tranches depend on
the achievement of specific financial targets in future periods.

Shareholdings and Transactions of Executive Board Members
No member of the Executive Board holds more than 1% of the ordinary shares of SAP AG.
Members of the Executive Board held a total of 30,201 SAP shares on December 31, 2013
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(2012: 35,271 shares).

The table below shows transactions by Executive Board members and persons closely
associated with them notified to SAP pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act, section
15a, in 2013.

Transactions in SAP Shares

Transaction Date Transaction Quantity Unit Price

Dr. Werner Brandt June 10, 2013 Share purchase 800 €58.5900

November 26, 2013 Share sale 11,000 €60.9000

Gerhard Oswald June 11, 2013 Share purchase 815 €57.5260

Jim Hagemann Snabe July 22,2013 Share purchase 1,815 €55.2038
(co-CEOQ)

Bill McDermott (co-CEO) July 23, 2013 Purchase of ADRs 1,500 US$72.8400

Dr. Vishal Sikka September 11, 2013 Purchase of ADRs 1,000 US$72.5800

EXECUTIVE BOARD: OTHER INFORMATION
We did not grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any commitment for the
benefit of, any member of our Executive Board in 2013 or the previous year.

As far as the law permits, SAP AG and its affiliated companies in Germany and elsewhere
indemnify and hold harmless their respective directors and officers against and from the
claims of third parties. To this end, we maintain directors’ and officers’ (D&O) group liability
insurance. The policy is annual and is renewed from year to year. The insurance covers the
personal liability of the insured group for financial loss caused by its managerial acts and
omissions. The current D&O policy includes an individual deductible for Executive Board
members of SAP AG as required by section 93 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act.

COMPENSATION FOR SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS

Compensation System

Supervisory Board members’ compensation is governed by our Articles of Incorporation,
section 16. Each member of the Supervisory Board receives, in addition to the reimbursement
of his or her expenses, compensation composed of fixed elements and a variable element.
The variable element depends on the dividend paid by SAP on its shares.

The fixed element is €100,000 for the chairperson, €70,000 for the deputy chairperson, and
€50,000 for other members. For membership of the Audit Committee, Supervisory Board
members receive additional fixed annual remuneration of €15,000, and for membership of any
other Supervisory Board committee €10,000, provided that the committee concerned has met
in the year. The chairperson of the Audit Committee receives €25,000, and the chairpersons of
the other committees receive €20,000. The fixed remuneration is payable after the end of the
year.

The variable compensation element is €10,000 for the chairperson, €8,000 for the deputy
chairperson, and €6,000 for the other members of the Supervisory Board for each €0.01 by



which the dividend distributed per share exceeds €0.40. The variable remuneration is payable
after the end of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that resolves on the dividend for
the relevant year.

However, the aggregate compensation excluding compensation for committee memberships
must not exceed €250,000 for the chairperson, €200,000 for the deputy chairperson, and
€150,000 for other members of the Supervisory Board.

Any members of the Supervisory Board having served for less than the entire year receive
one-twelfth of the annual remuneration for each month of service commenced. This also
applies to the increased compensation of the chairperson and the deputy chairperson and to
the remuneration for the chairperson and the members of a committee.

Amount of Compensation

Subject to the resolution on the appropriation of retained earnings by the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders on May 21, 2014, the compensation paid to Supervisory Board
members in respect of 2013 will be as set out in the table below.
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In addition, we reimburse members of the Supervisory Board for their expenses and the value-
added tax payable on their compensation.

The total compensation of all Supervisory Board members in 2013 for work for SAP excluding
compensation relating to the office of Supervisory Board member was €1,176,200 (2012:
€1,083,500). Those amounts are composed entirely of remuneration received by employee
representatives on the Supervisory Board relating to their position as SAP employees in 2013
and 2012, respectively.

Supervisory Board member Wilhelm Haarmann practiced as a partner in the law firm
HAARMANN Partnerschaftsgesellschaft in Frankfurt am Main, Germany, until February 2013.
In February 2013, he was elected a partner in Linklaters LLP in Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
Wilhelm Haarmann occasionally advises SAP on particular projects, tax matters, and
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questions of law. Before Mr. Haarmann joined Linklaters LLP, SAP had already received
consulting services from Linklaters and will continue to do so. In 2013, the fees for such
services totaled €327,500 (2012: €9,400).

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES FOR THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

We do not offer members share options or other share-based payment for their Supervisory
Board work. Any share options or other share-based payment received by employee-elected
members relate to their position as SAP employees and not to their work on the Supervisory
Board.

Shareholdings and Transactions of Supervisory Board Members

Supervisory Board chairperson Hasso Plattner and the companies he controlled held
119,300,882 SAP shares on December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012: 121,348,807 SAP
shares), representing 9.711% (2012: 9.878%) of SAP’s share capital. No other member of the
Supervisory Board held more than 1% of the SAP AG share capital at the end of 2013 or of
the previous year. Members of the Supervisory Board held a total of 119,316,444 SAP shares
on December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012: 121,363,858 SAP shares).

The table below shows transactions by Supervisory Board members and persons closely
associated with them notified to SAP pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act, section
153, in 2013:

Transactions in SAP Shares

Transaction Date Transaction Quantity Unit Price

in €

Christian Wiele August 23, 2013 Share sale 116 57.2600
Inga Wiele August 26, 2013 Share sale 92 57.3500
Margret Klein-Magar August 26, 2013 Share sale 132 57.0400
Mario Rosa-Bian August 27, 2013 Share sale 130 57.3500
Hasso Plattner October 24, 2013 Share sale R R

" The notifying party (Hasso Plattner GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs-KG) concluded a contract with a bank acting as
commission agent for the monthly sale of SAP shares with a fair value of €10,000,000 per month. The sale will be
carried out at the bank’s own discretion in the stock market or over the counter, during December 2013 through
November 2014. With this transaction a program running since November 2012 will be continued (see notification
on November 30, 2012). Price: Targeted is the volume-weighted average (stock market) price of the SAP share
on the relevant day of sale. Number of items: Total amount traded divided by the relevant sale price of the sold
shares.

SUPERVISORY BOARD: OTHER INFORMATION
We did not grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any commitment for the
benefit of, any member of our Supervisory Board in 2013 or the previous year.

Hasso Plattner, the chairperson of the Supervisory Board, entered into a consulting contract
with SAP after he joined the Supervisory Board in May 2003. The contract does not provide for
any compensation. The only cost we incurred under the contract was the reimbursement of
expenses.



As far as the law permits, we indemnify Supervisory Board members against, and hold them
harmless from, claims brought by third parties. To this end, we maintain directors’ and officers’
(D&O) group liability insurance. The current D&O policy does not include an individual

deductible for Supervisory Board members as envisaged in the German Corporate Governance
Code.

) This Compensation report is part of the audited management report.
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Governance
Sustainability Management and Policies

v Assured
Our governance structure for sustainability reflects the importance that we place on all

aspects of our performance — social, environmental, and financial. In 2009, we created the
position of chief sustainability officer (CSO), reporting to our co-CEOs to oversee a dedicated
sustainability organization.

The CSO has several major responsibilities that cover our sustainability performance as well
as our actions to embed sustainability into our business. First, the Sustainability organization
works with leaders across the company to monitor our environmental, social, and economic
performance. A second area of focus is the development of technology solutions to help our
customers manage the complete spectrum of their sustainability activities across their entire
value chain.

ENSURING THAT ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND RESOURCES DRIVE PROGRESS
Our Sustainability team is part of a matrix organization with dual reporting lines to the CSO
and business areas. It is composed of the following:

— A core team of sustainability experts who design our approach and work to embed
sustainability into our corporate strategy as well as our existing and new solutions

— Development and solution management professionals creating SAP solutions for
sustainability

— Global services and support personnel

— A Sustainability Operations team responsible for our internal sustainability performance

— A Corporate Social Responsibility team responsible for managing our social investments

— Sustainability communications personnel

— Sustainability marketing professionals

In addition, in close collaboration with the sustainability operations team, dedicated staff
members are responsible for integrating sustainability into their lines of business, such as:

— Procurement, which includes supplier evaluation

— Human resources, in particular, health, diversity and inclusion, employee engagement, and
leadership development

— IT operations, covering issues such as working environment and energy consumed by data
centers

— Facility management and environmental building design

— SAP Labs locations around the world, which oversee a range of sustainability projects

Other responsibilities related to material issues are:
— Financial performance: The Executive Board retains ultimate responsibility for revenue

growth, profitability, and financial stability of the company.
— Labor standards and human rights: Overall, global responsibility lies with the Executive
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Board member responsible for human resources and labor relations. We foster regular
dialog among the sustainability organization and employee representatives, specifically
German works councils and the European Works Council created in 2012.

— Anti-corruption, anti-competitive behavior, and overall compliance: These
responsibilities lie with our Global Compliance Office.

— Privacy and data protection: Managed by an internal Data Protection and Privacy Office
that operates in Germany

— Security: Accountabilities are defined for products and corporate issues; a cross-
organizational cybersecurity task force has been established

— Occupational safety: Managed locally by each subsidiary in line with local regulation

— Customer loyalty: Measured by a dedicated team in the office of the co-CEOs; account
managers are responsible for the relationships with their customers

DEFINING OUR COMMITMENT THROUGH POLICIES

Our commitment to make SAP a more sustainable company and to manage our impacts is
defined in our global policies, which can be found online on our Sustainability at SAP section
on our public Web site SAP.com. Our policies are applicable to all SAP subsidiaries and are
approved by the Executive Board.

SAP adheres to regulations and policies for energy and emissions. For example, SAP reports
the greenhouse gas emissions caused by corporate jets under the European Union Emissions
Trading System (EU ETS). In addition, the Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) is
applicable to our German locations where we have installed solar panels.

SETTING GOALS TO HOLD OURSELVES ACCOUNTABLE

We are committed to improving our sustainability performance and holding ourselves
accountable for our progress. SAP has set annual, medium-term, and long-term targets for a
wide range of performance indicators, spanning environmental, social, and financial impacts.
An overview of our goals can be found in the Corporate Goals section.

CERTIFYING OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH

In addition to rigorous measurement of key performance indicators and transparency in our
results, we take additional steps to enhance our management processes. For example, to
formalize our approach to environmental improvements, we have initiated a pilot for a global
environmental management system according to the ISO 14001 standard.

To date, SAP legal entities in seven countries — in Bulgaria, Canada, Hungary, Israel, Italy,
Germany, and the United States — have received an ISO 14001 certification as part of the pilot
program. We expect other entities to follow. These certifications are published in the
Sustainability at SAP — Environmental Management section on our Web site SAP.com.

EVALUATING OUR MANAGEMENT APPROACH

We regularly review whether our strategy, programs, and initiatives are effective. For example,
the sustainability operations team has quarterly review meetings with senior executives. We
have also launched global internal audit programs for labor standards and human rights as well
as for environmental management. While we view external ratings and rankings as a key
reflection of our performance, the ultimate measure of our success is whether we achieve the
goals we set for ourselves.

DRIVING TRANSFORMATIONAL CHANGE IN OUR BEHAVIOR AND CULTURE
We believe that to help our customers become more sustainable, we must also strive to
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become an example ourselves. We look at two main areas to create change: Our processes
and our people. Achieving our goals requires challenging and transforming old behaviors and
ways of thinking. This journey helps us become more innovative, as we tackle problems in
new ways and design creative solutions. The engagement of our employees is essential, as
their ideas and commitment help drive change throughout SAP. Our strategy combines
organizational changes to embed sustainability into our business, as well as educational
workshops, campaigns, and other forms of outreach to involve employees. Four key
components of these efforts include:

— A focus on transparency and awareness building

— The need to make the benefits of change relevant and meaningful for our company and
employees through communication, incentives, recognition, and other means

— The existence of role models within SAP who demonstrate new behaviors and inspire
others

— The management of change by ensuring that the right processes and tools are in place

For example, employees learn about sustainability through engaging workshops and special
events focusing on areas such as energy, health, as well as diversity and inclusion. We
embedded the topic of sustainability into onboarding training for new employees as well as
trainings for managers. Dashboards are available to every employee, detailing impacts from
printing, energy consumption, and commuting. We openly communicate about reducing our
carbon footprint at the office through such tools as centralized power management on each
employee's computer. In addition, we increase our focus on showing the relevance of
sustainability not only for employees’ workplaces but also to their day-to-day jobs and SAP’s
core business through workshops dedicated to specific organizations and functions within the
company.

In 2013, we facilitated open dialog through coffee-corner sessions, virtual all-hands meetings,
and social media. Employees were able to explore interactively how sustainability is
connected to our vision to help the world run better and improve people’s lives. They learned
of examples whereby individual action made a difference and heard recommendations for
getting involved. We measure the success of our initiatives through our annual People Survey.
In 2013, 89% of our employees agreed with the statement “It is important for SAP to pursue
sustainability” compared to 91% in 2012 (and 77% in 2009).

LEADING THE CHANGE

Our leadership also has a key role to play in helping us become more sustainable. For this
reason, we continued our Senior Leadership Role Models program in 2013. This program
demonstrates how actively managing topics such as work/life balance and talent development
leads to greater business success, as well as employee engagement and satisfaction. Our
sustainable role models have helped inspire more sustainable behavior throughout SAP by
demonstrating that they care about more than financial metrics alone, but also focus on
making SAP a great place to work. A newly created dashboard for senior leaders helps them
explore the connections between non-financial and financial performance with breakdowns and
benchmarks for their teams. For example, they can see how their team’s business travel
contributes to SAP’s overall carbon footprint, along with financial implications of those results
and how they compare to other teams.

NETWORK OF SUSTAINABILITY CHAMPIONS
While sustainability requires strong leadership, it cannot be mandated from the top. Our
employees help us drive our progress throughout the company. We enlist a global internal


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/306.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1

network of more than 100 sustainability champions who represent different regions and lines of
business at SAP. They dedicate 10% of their work time to promoting sustainability. Not only
do they act as role models, but they also tailor sustainability to local needs and interests, and
share best practices.

Our sustainability champions are a critical part of our governance strategy, which combines
senior and local leadership with employee engagement to drive change at every level of SAP —
from our daily operations to our overall sense of purpose.
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v Assured
We act to ensure that we live up to high ethical standards throughout SAP. Our policies

govern the conduct of our management, employees, suppliers and partners, as well as critical
areas of our business such as sales, vendor selection, and payroll. In addition, we train
employees on the SAP Code of Business Conduct for Employees, which includes guidelines
on bribery, antitrust, and a host of other topics. In the case of any breaches of compliance, we
take appropriate remedial action.

ESTABLISHING CLEAR AND COMPREHENSIVE STANDARDS

Our compliance management system details our policies and procedures for ensuring ethical
business conduct. Audited by KPMG in 2012/2013, this system consists of the following
components:

— Fostering a favorable compliance culture

— Defining objectives

— Determining and analyzing compliance risks

— Running a compliance program

— Creating a responsible compliance organization

— Communicating standards clearly

— Monitoring and improving the management system

FOSTERING A COMPLIANT CULTURE THROUGH THE SAP CODE OF BUSINESS
CONDUCT FOR EMPLOYEES

One of our priorities has been to establish a common understanding of what we mean by
compliance. The SAP Code of Business Conduct for Employees (“Code”) summarizes our
standards, and all employees (including top executives) must recognize this Code when they
join SAP. While providing a global framework, the Code is adapted locally and translated into
local languages. Such adaptation cannot weaken any requirements of the global Code and, in
some cases, may be even stricter. In many countries, employees must also renew their
commitment on an annual basis. This is not a formality for us but a means to share one of the
most important foundations of our culture.

Our Code contains guidelines for all SAP employees as they perform their daily work on behalf
of SAP. It is binding for all employees throughout the world and sets the standard for our
dealings with customers, partners, competitors, and vendors. Our Code is also a statement of
our commitment to safeguarding our investors and customers against unfair competitive
practices, corruption, and misleading statements. Our Executive Board approves our Code.

Specifically, our Code covers the following:

— Prohibition of bribery and corruption in all its forms, including facilitation or “grease
payments”



— Gifts and business entertainment limits
— Full, fair, and accurate accounting

— Conflicts of interest

— Confidentiality

— Anti-competitive practices

DELIVERING EMPLOYEE TRAINING AND COMMUNICATION ON BUSINESS CONDUCT
Every other year, all employees in customer-facing roles are required to participate in e-
learning training on anti-corruption, competition law, and customer commitments. While our
last training year was 2012 (with more than 16,000 training sessions), we rolled out these
training sessions to employees of newly acquired companies in 2013. We also introduced
training on intellectual property (IP) for all employees in 2013, covering how we protect SAP’s
IP rights and the rights of third parties. Overall, about 88% of employees received training on
IP (thereof 81% in the Americas, 83% in APJ, and 95% in EMEA). The Global Compliance
Office also held classroom or online conference sessions on anti-bribery and anti-trust issues,
as well as the SAP Code of Business Conduct for Employees, with more than 6,000
participants. In 2014, we will conduct training on anti-corruption and anti-trust for the members
of the Executive Board.

In addition to our training, we take a number of other steps to ensure that employees are
aware of our policies and anticorruption standards:

— The Global Compliance Office conducts awareness calls and meetings

— Local managers send e-mails to their subsidiaries

— All policies, guidelines, and additional information are available on SAP Corporate Portal in
local languages

SETTING EXPECTATIONS FOR OUR BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
We have created other policies related to specific lines of business and business activities.
These guidelines include:

— Regulation of the appointment and remuneration of sales agents: All agents,
consultants, or other third parties assisting with a sales opportunity must enter a written
contract with mandatory provisions related to corruption and other issues. Before any
contract with a third-party sales agent is executed, an integrity check must be completed
along with internal approval processes.

— SAP Partner Code of Conduct: Governs our expectations of ethical business conduct by
our partners. Before working with SAP, all new partners must accept this code.

— SAP Supplier Code of Conduct: Governs SAP’s expectations of our vendors and
suppliers.

— Corporate Social Responsibility Policy: Lays out rules for donations made under SAP’s
corporate social responsibility (CSR) program to ensure that charitable donations are not
used for improper purposes such as bribery. The CSR team vets all donations made under
this program and conducts a validation process to ensure that the recipient charity is
legitimate. For donations that are not supported by the CSR team, we rolled out a
Delegation of Authority requiring approval from either the CFO or the Chief Global
Compliance Officer.

— Global IP Policy: Provides a set of behavioral rules for SAP employees worldwide to
comply with regulatory and legal requirements in the area of intellectual property law.

— Group accounting and revenue recognition guidelines

— Segregation of duty: Applies to all IT processes
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CONDUCTING COMPLIANCE RISK ANALYSIS

We review our business units and business activities for potential bribery or corruption on an
ongoing basis. For example, we collect quantitative data annually about each subsidiary with
employees and revenues (in 2013, these included 91 SAP offices and subsidiaries in 63
countries). This data includes revenue, number of employees, percentage of public sector
business, number of fraud allegations or incidents, changes or updates to relevant laws, and
other quantitative information. In addition, we periodically conduct interviews with those in key
roles at subsidiaries to gain further visibility into the risk landscape. To monitor our processes,
the Global Compliance Office works closely with our global governance, risk, and compliance
organization to identify areas where a risk assessment is needed; we then drive remediation
programs if necessary.

Generally, we find that our primary risks related to compliance concern corruption, antitrust,
export controls, and IP (For more information, see our Risk Report). Our assessment also
helps us create a general risk profile for subsidiary locations. Through analysis of our
quantitative data, we determine which countries require our highest attention.

ENFORCING POLICIES THROUGH OUR GLOBAL COMPLIANCE OFFICE

The Global Compliance Office oversees the SAP Code of Business Conduct for Employees
(“Code”), as well as all other related policies and our anticorruption program. An extension of
our Global Legal department, the office consists of global compliance officers based at our
headquarters and in our most important markets (especially where local language needs must
be met). In addition, each local subsidiary has local compliance officers who assess issues
and escalate them to the global level if necessary.

In addition to making regular reports to the CFO and Executive Board, the Chief Global
Compliance Officer provides annual reports to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board.
Matters of significance are brought to the attention of the Executive Board and the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board on an as-needed basis. Reporting to these boards allows
for regular monitoring and continuous improvement to our anti-corruption program.

We further promote compliance through the following practices:

— No employee will suffer demotion, penalty, or other adverse consequences for refusing to
pay bribes, even if such refusal may result in the enterprise losing business.

— Employees at all levels of the organization are required to disclose conflicts of interest to
the Global Compliance Office.

— In addition to responding to these disclosures, the Global Compliance Office also invites
employees to identify any potential conflicts during the annual process of renewing their
commitment to our code. Disclosures are then followed up with guidance or mitigation if
necessary.

MAINTAINING PROCESSES FOR INCIDENT REPORTING AND REMEDIATION
Employees have a number of avenues to raise concerns to the Global Compliance Office
when they believe there has been a breach of the SAP Code of Business Conduct for
Employees or when they seek advice:

— Helpline (For more information, see the Governance — Policies and Statutes section of our
public Web site SAP.com)

— Global Compliance Office mailbox

— Contact with local and global compliance officers via e-mail or telephone
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— Whistleblower tool used primarily for financial reporting and auditing issues to ensure that
anonymous reporting is possible

These channels are communicated to all employees on SAP Corporate Portal, and new hires
are informed of them during the new hire process. Our helpline is published on SAP.com for
external stakeholders. In addition, reporting channels are described in the SAP Partner Code
of Conduct and the SAP Supplier Code of Conduct. Most of these mechanisms are available
24x7, and concerns are treated as confidentially as possible in light of subsequent
investigation (concerns can also be raised anonymously through the whistleblower tool).
However they are raised, all concerns are investigated, and remedial action is taken if
necessary.

Such remedial actions in incidents of corruption may include:

— Written warning (for example, when a policy was violated but it is not clear that actual
corruption occurred)
— Termination

SAP responded to all reports of potential bribery and corruption received in 2013. No
allegations regarding corruption were substantiated.

JOINING COLLECTIVE ACTION TO COMBAT CORRUPTION

SAP is a member of the German chapter of Transparency International, a non-profit, non-
partisan organization that combats corruption in government and international business and
development. In addition, we are active in the Alliance for Integrity (AfIn). Afin is a business-
driven multi-stakeholder initiative promoting integrity in the economic system and conditions
for compliant and clean business. It was initiated by a number of multinational companies,
business associations, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and
Development (BMZ), the Society for International Cooperation (GIZ), the German Global
Compact Network and sequa, a non-profit development organization. The focus of the initiative
is on implementing collective action on the ground.


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/307.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=s&no_cache=1

w Integrated Report 2013
d Financial and Non-Financial Performance

Governance
Sustainable Procurement

v Assured
SOURCING FROM SUSTAINABLE SUPPLIERS TO FURTHER IMPROVE OUR
PERFORMANCE
In addition to promoting sustainability within our company, we seek to buy products and
services from suppliers who meet high environmental and social standards. Such procurement
practices help us create a positive impact and provide levers through which we can reduce our
emissions. In addition, working with suppliers who demonstrate a commitment to sustainability
enables us to comply with the requirements of our own customers.

SAP has a supply chain that supports the development of our software as well as our global
operations and employee base. Our purchases consist largely of consulting and development
services, travel, and marketing, as well as tangible goods related to IT equipment, our car
fleet, and our facilities.

DESIGNING POLICIES THAT REQUIRE OUR SUPPLIERS TO MEET HIGH
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL STANDARDS

To drive progress throughout our supply chain, SAP has made sustainability an integral part of
our Global Procurement Policy, which must be followed by all procurement staff. Our goal is to
make sustainable procurement a seamless part of our procurement organization, thereby
supporting SAP’s overall sustainability goals. This integration involves a continual evaluation
of trade-offs between economic, environmental, and social aspects of our sourcing decisions.

SAP is working to make social and environmental criteria mandatory in the selection process
for new suppliers. To help drive these sourcing practices, a section on sustainability has been
added to our global master contracts, asserting the right to receive information from our
suppliers on labor rights, health, safety, environmental protection, and other key sustainability
issues.

In addition, our suppliers are required to accept the SAP Supplier Code of Conduct. This code
is based on international standards that are relevant to our industry, including the Electronic
Industry Citizenship Coalition (EICC) and the United Nations Global Compact. It contains
provisions regarding human and labor rights, corruption and bribery, and waste, water, air, and
materials.

Wherever applicable we seek and choose suppliers that provide goods and services on a local
basis, for example for the food offered in our cafeterias. We started to capture diversity data of
our suppliers in the United States as part of a new systematic supplier management in 2013.

ASSESSING THE ENVIRONMENTAL AND HUMAN RIGHTS PERFORMANCE OF OUR
SUPPLIERS AND ADDRESSING POTENTIAL RISKS
As part of our new supplier management program, we now ask new SAP suppliers that exceed
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a certain business volume with us to answer a supplier sustainability questionnaire, which
covers how they protect the environment, respect internationally recognized human rights and
labor standards, and prevent corruption. The questionnaire helps us identify risks in our supply
chain, as well as areas where we can work with our suppliers to improve performance. Since
October 2013, we have screened all of our new direct suppliers on issues related to the
environment, human rights, labor standards, and anti-corruption; in the United States, we also
checked diversity. Our screening has not identified major risks or significant negative impacts
related to their social or environmental performance. As a result, we have not deemed it
necessary to conduct any more in-depth impact assessments.

Where we do identify risks, we assert the right to conduct on-site audits. In the event of major
noncompliance with our standards, we would request corrective actions. Currently, we conduct
supplier audits to assess privacy and data protection, which we believe present the greatest
risk to SAP.

We also began measuring the greenhouse gas emissions of our supply chain in 2012, and we
are working to further improve our respective methodology. We continue to work with our
suppliers to improve our collective footprint. For more information on these efforts, see the
Energy and Emissions |l section.

CO-INNOVATING TO BENEFIT OUR SUPPLIERS AND SAP

In recent years, our procurement organization has worked closely with key suppliers to
encourage sustainable practices in their respective businesses. We have continued to work
directly with suppliers in key areas to ensure measurable improvement:

— Business travel: We began close collaboration with our major car rental providers to reduce
our carbon footprint and provide a greater variety of sustainable solutions, including hybrid
vehicles.

— Food catering: We are defining new key performance indicators for food service suppliers
at our global locations to measure their environment, health, or safety performance, and are
exploring and pursuing more sustainable alternatives. At our offices in Germany, for
example, our entire coffee supply is now organic and fair trade.

— Renewable energy: In 2014, we plan to power all of our data centers and facilities with
100% renewable electricity. This strategy includes the purchase of Renewable Electricity
Certificates (RECs) to increase the share of renewable electricity in our electricity mix. We
have established guidelines to ensure that we invest in high-quality RECs that support the
development of the renewable energy market.

— Recycling paper: We now use 100% recycling paper in Germany. We plan to shift to 100%
recycling paper in the EMEA region in 2014.

— Paperless invoicing: By utilizing e-invoicing available in cloud solutions from Ariba, we are
achieving a reduction of 150,000 invoices annually.
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SAP has developed trustful relationships with governments worldwide by exploring the

potential of information and communications technology (ICT) for spurring economic growth,
creating jobs, and addressing societal changes.

In Europe, SAP maintains government relation offices in Germany, France, Russia, and
Brussels, Belgium; the latter hosts our European Union Representation Office. In the
Americas, SAP has established a government relations presence in Washington, D.C. in the
United States, and Sao Paulo, Brazil. Additional offices are located in South Africa and the
United Arab Emirates.

PUBLIC POLICY FOCUS IN 2013

SAP is engaged with governments around the globe on a number of public policy issues
including creating reasonable framework conditions for new technologies or business models
such as cloud computing and Big Data. Accordingly, SAP is engaged, for example, in the
European Cloud Partnership, which has the primary goal to drive growth in Europe by creating
the policy framework for a single market for cloud computing in Europe. SAP is also engaged
in developing best practices to ensure cybersecurity and the protection of personal data to
foster trust and market adoption of these new technologies. In this respect, SAP favors global
policy frameworks and international standards that enable the free flow of data across borders.

We also advise governments on how to drive innovation and address societal challenges
through the effective usage of digital technologies. For example, SAP serves on the European
Union High Level Group for Smart Cities and Communities and the Steering Board of the
European Cloud Partnership.

SAP cooperates with governments to promote the development of ICT skills and
entrepreneurship, as well as to empower small and midsize enterprises as key enablers for
economic growth and job creation.

Finally, SAP is advocating free trade in goods and services through improved market access
and greater regulatory cooperation across the globe.

MEMBERSHIPS IN TRADE ASSOCIATIONS

SAP is a member of several trade associations across the globe, including the U.S. Chamber
of Commerce, the National Association of Manufacturers, the Organization for International
Investment, TechAmerica, the Information Technology Industries Council, the Association of
Climate Change Officers, BITKOM, the Federation of German Industries, the Transatlantic
Business Council, DIGITALEUROPE, the European Roundtable of Industrialists, the Russian
Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs, and the Russian-German Chamber of Commerce.

SAP believes in transparency in the political process. Accordingly, SAP is registered in the
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European Transparency Register for interest representatives. In the United States, the
company is registered and reports in compliance with the Lobbying Disclosure Act.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
In principle, SAP does not support any political parties.

Under the laws of the United States, a number of SAP employees continue to exercise their
right to create a political action committee (PAC). The SAP Americas PAC is an independent,
registered, and strictly regulated organization that allows our employees in the United States
to support political candidates on a local, state, and federal level. Consistent with U.S. law,
SAP exercises no control over or influence in the SAP Americas PAC. The SAP Americas
PAC expenditures are available on the U.S. Federal Election Commission Web site.
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UPHOLDING STANDARDS REGARDING OUR EMPLOYEES, OUR ECOSYSTEM, AND
OUR SOLUTIONS
Respecting human rights is both a moral and a business imperative. Upholding high standards
protects our reputation, supports diversity, helps to attract and keep top talent, and fosters our
innovation as our employees work in fair, ethical conditions.

In working to ensure that our commitment to human rights translates into practice, we take
guidance from the United Nations “Protect, Respect and Remedy” framework. This model
spells out the responsibility of businesses to respect human rights and work alongside
government to remedy violations of such rights.

In 2011, we adopted the SAP Human Rights Commitment Statement that details our respect
and support of the values of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, as well as the
Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work by the International Labour
Organization. Our commitment statement has been approved by our Executive Board and is
applicable to all our operations and subsidiaries globally.

We based this statement on a global impact assessment that entailed interviewing
stakeholders to assess which issues were of greatest importance to SAP. We found that child
labor, freedom of association, and forced labor are less material issues for us as a business
software provider. We do not manufacture products using vendor factories and contracted
labor, and our employees are highly specialized and skilled, with an expectation of a
competitive salary and benefits. Nevertheless, we are enforcing human rights and labor
standards with our supply chain partners by both our human rights policy and our supplier code
of conduct. We also believe that our employees are in a strong position to voice their opinions,
making freedom of association a less relevant issue. For example, in our People Survey, 77%
of employees are convinced that the working relations they experience at SAP are
characterized by mutual trust and respect. At the same time, however, we have identified
complex, constantly evolving human rights risks and opportunities that the software industry
as a whole faces, from accessibility to security and privacy.

Our human rights statement focuses on three main areas where SAP has the greatest impact:
Our employees, our ecosystem of partners and suppliers, and our solutions.

ENFORCING OUR STANDARDS THROUGH AN AUDIT PROCESS AND GRIEVANCE
PROCEDURES

Our Sustainability organization is responsible and accountable for orchestrating our approach
to respecting human rights and integrating human rights considerations into our business. The
team works with colleagues from human resources, procurement, and product development to
create a comprehensive approach. To assess whether our human rights measures are
sufficient, we consider external benchmarks, performance ratings, audit results, and
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stakeholder feedback. In addition, in 2012, we launched a global internal audit program to
verify that our subsidiaries adhere to our standards.

RESPECTING THE RIGHTS OF OUR EMPLOYEES AND PROVIDING THEM WITH A
VOICE

Our most material human rights and labor standards relate to our employees, and we maintain
detailed policies in this area. For example, we have a long-standing policy of non-
discrimination in all aspects of our dealings with employees. We are also committed to
providing a work environment free from unlawful harassment. Employees who feel they are
being subjected to conduct that violates this policy are encouraged to report the conduct to
their managers, HR officers, or a compliance office. In the United States, reports regarding
harassment and discrimination must be escalated to the Global Compliance Office. Prompt,
thorough, and objective investigations are conducted upon receiving complaints, and if it is
determined that prohibited discrimination, harassment, or other conduct has occurred, we take
appropriate remedial action.

Our global ombudsperson also plays a crucial role in representing the voice of employees. An
independent and neutral authority, she is the main contact person for our global employee
base to address issues and settle disputes. Her work includes the investigation of staff
complaints and the mediation of fair settlements. Our ombudsperson is accessible to all
employees on a confidential basis. She also helps the Executive Board analyze HR-related
complaints and consider ways to address potential issues before they occur.

Employees have access to other channels to raise concerns about the workplace, including
colleagues who are trained to be part of our internal mediation pool. Our Global Compliance
Office oversees our anti-bribery and antitrust policies, along with other issues related to our
business conduct. In addition to such grievance procedures, we work to uphold high standards
by providing training to our employees on human rights issues that are most relevant to our
business — namely, security, privacy, and antidiscrimination.

COLLABORATING WITH OUR WORKS COUNCILS TO ENSURE FAIR LABOR PRACTICES
As published in the SAP Human Rights Commitment Statement, we strive for constructive
labor relations across the world, working within each country’s requirements.

For example, since 2006, our employees in Germany have been represented by works
councils. The councils consist of elected union members and non-union members. They have
the right to be consulted by SAP management on topics that define the work environment and
work processes. These include human resources initiatives, talent development, payment and
benefits, equal opportunities, changes in work or information technology processes, privacy
protection, and the protection of health and safety.

Other works councils exist in Belgium, France, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Slovenia,
Spain, and the United Kingdom. In addition, in 2012, a European Works Council was founded
and represents employees from all European SAP subsidiaries. This body must be informed
or, in special cases, consulted on important transnational issues.

Collective bargaining agreements with unions are made only in countries where legally
required. Overall, about 40% of employees are represented by works councils, an independent
trade union, or are covered by collective bargaining agreements.
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SAP management is committed to collaborate and communicate with the councils’
representatives on corporate management decisions. While we do not have a global minimum
notice period in place for making operational changes, we do provide timely information and
consult with employee representatives whenever and wherever required.

ADDRESSING HUMAN RIGHTS AND LABOR STANDARDS IN OUR SUPPLY CHAIN AND
SOLUTIONS

In addition to our employees, we are committed to respecting human rights in our supply chain
and solutions. The SAP Supplier Code of Conduct and the SAP Partner Code of Conduct
stipulate the upholding of human and labor rights, and we expect both our suppliers and
partners to provide a safe, healthy environment for employees.

We also recognize that our software is part of a technology landscape that is rapidly changing,
with the potential to impact human rights in complex and profound ways. Major issues include
data protection, privacy, and security. For more information on our approach to these topics,
see Security, Privacy, and Data Protection section.
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Our customers expect SAP to address threats to their on-premise software environments, as

well as to their cloud and mobile services. We view trust in our company as a reliable
business partner as the foundation of our success. This trust extends to the high quality and
security of our entire suite of products, as well as our ability to operate our cloud business
both securely and reliably. For this reason, we continually strive to protect customers,
business partners, and our own company through a range of coordinated practices.

COMPREHENSIVE SECURITY PRACTICES
At SAP, we take a holistic approach to product security because we are convinced that
simplistic approaches do not bring effective solutions. Our strategy includes:

— Software that meets the high SAP quality and security standards

— A dedicated security team that helps ensure our software is developed according to a solid
security development lifecycle

— Security functionality built into our products

— Mandatory security training for all developers

— Solid testing and validation of our products, patches, and services before shipment

— A software security response process to rapidly react to detected vulnerabilities and
provide fixes

— Security-related service offerings of our support organization

— A specialized security consulting team

— A large ecosystem of partners that specialize in security

— A dedicated research organization focused on security

— Corporate security at SAP locations, overseeing the security of our data centers and
development organization

SECURE CLOUD COMPUTING

Security and data protection are especially critical in the cloud, and we view trust in our
security and data protection practices as an important differentiator in our cloud business.
Both in terms of server locations and processes, our cloud operations meet standards for
availability, security, and data protection that are among the highest in our industry and
beyond. Currently, SAP is expanding its global network of data centers to meet demand for
our growing cloud business and the preference of many customers for local and regional
options. Laws on data protection and privacy vary considerably from country to country, and
we comply with local laws in each of the countries where we operate.

At the same time, all SAP data centers are required to comply with the same standards for
physical and technical security, which are among the highest in the industry. There is typically
a transition period for acquired companies as they incorporate our standards. These include
blocking illegal entry using biometric readers, bulletproof walls, and concrete pillars, as well as
a redundant power supply and Internet connection. We also ensure that access to information
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is limited to those meeting a required set of privileges, and all information is classified to
reflect its level of confidentiality and is encrypted as appropriate. We conduct full and
incremental data backups on a daily, weekly, and monthly basis. As a result, cloud solutions
from SAP comply with the latest standards and are certified in many areas, including data
center operations, software operations, business continuity, and internal inspection.
Certifications include ISO 27001, ISO 22301, ISAE 3402, SSAE 16, and BS 10012, among
others.

In 2014, SAP is planning to further extend our cloud security guidelines by publishing a Global
Cloud Security Policy that is binding for all cloud offerings from SAP. These guidelines will
reinforce our existing principles for security, privacy, and availability in our cloud business
while incorporating official standardization conducted outside of SAP, for example, by the
National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) in the United States.

MOBILE SECURITY

To help our customers ensure their security, the SAP Afaria mobile device management
solutions and SAP Mobile Platform deliver centralized control of mobile devices and tablets.
Through these advanced solutions, data and content are backed up and can be deleted if a
device is lost or stolen. In addition, sensitive data on devices is encrypted, and security
policies are centrally enforced.

STRICT DATA PROTECTION AND PRIVACY POLICIES

We recognize the growing importance of privacy in a world of increased access to personal
data. SAP adheres to a global data protection and privacy policy that not only secures the
privacy rights of employees, customers, prospects, and partners, but also of anyone whose
data is processed by SAP and falls within the legal parameters of SAP or our customers.
Privacy is regarded a top priority of our Executive Board as well as SAP’s legal entities, which
must abide by internal policies and applicable privacy laws.

We are implementing a data protection management system, which has already been
introduced in a number of internal functions, including support, human resources, marketing,
application innovation, custom development, and global services. This system ensures the
continual improvement of our risk-based approach and regular internal controls. For example,
our global permission-based marketing policy clarifies rules of consent and guidelines for the
marketing of our software and services. This policy also provides global standards for third-
party engagement, external data rental, and outbound calling, as well as opt-in and opt-out
services.

In 2013, SAP has not experienced any significant incidents regarding breaches of customer
privacy and losses of customer data, or incidents which would have required reporting subject
to the provisions of the German Federal Data Protection Act.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The German Commercial Code, section 289a, requires that listed stock corporations publish a
corporate governance statement either as part of their management report or on their Web site.
The Executive Board filed SAP’s corporate governance statement on February 19, 2014, and
published it on our public Web site at www.sap.com/corporate-en/investors/governance.

For more information about the corporate governance of SAP, see the Corporate Governance
Report section.

PLANNED CONVERSION TO A EUROPEAN COMPANY

In March 2013, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of SAP AG agreed to convert
SAP AG to a European Company (SE). SAP has begun working on the conversion process.
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board believe that the planned change of legal form
reflects SAP’s position as a global company with European roots. The European Company
legal form also reflects SAP’s European and international business activities. The European
Company legal form will allow SAP to optimize its corporate governance structure and the
work of its Supervisory Board and Executive Board.

As invited by management, SAP employees and their representatives in the European Union
(EU) and European Economic Area (EEA) countries elected their delegates to a Special
Negotiating Body (SNB). Negotiations between SAP management and the SNB regarding the
European employees’ involvement in the SE began in September 2013, are ongoing, and are
expected to last six months. SAP intends to seek the required approval of the shareholders for
the conversion of legal form at the 2014 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. If approved,
the change of legal form would take effect upon entry in the commercial register. With the
conversion to an SE, its shareholders automatically become shareholders of SAP SE.
Shareholders’ rights remain unchanged.

CHANGES IN MANAGEMENT

Lars Dalgaard stepped down from the Executive Board and left the Company on June 1, 2013,
to join a private equity firm. He continues to play an active role as an advisor to the SAP
Cloud business in the Cloud Governance Board.

We have consolidated all responsibility for innovation and product development under Vishal
Sikka, a member of the Executive Board. With effect from June 1, 2013, all on-premise
delivery, network (Ariba), and Cloud unit development leaders report directly to Vishal Sikka.
Additionally, the Executive Board nominated Bernd Leukert, executive vice president for
application innovation, to the Global Managing Board with effect from July 1, 2013. In this
capacity, Leukert reports directly to Vishal Sikka.

Luisa Deplazes Delgado, member of the Executive Board of SAP AG, Human Resources, and
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Labor Relations Director decided to leave SAP with effect from June 30, 2013, to become the
CEO of another company.

In addition to his role as our chief financial officer, Werner Brandt took on Executive Board
responsibility for human resources and became the labor relations director in Germany. In this
context, Luka Mucic became the head of global finance to support Brandt in his expanded
responsibilities. The Executive Board nominated Mucic to the Global Managing Board with
effect from July 1, 2013. In October 2013, the Supervisory Board of SAP AG appointed Luka
Mucic chief financial officer, effective July 1, 2014. Luka Mucic is the successor of Werner
Brandt, who will, as planned, withdraw from the Executive Board by that time.

On July 21, 2013, the SAP Supervisory Board agreed to propose that co-CEO Jim Hagemann
Snabe be elected to the SAP Supervisory Board at the SAP Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders in May 2014. This proposal is subject to support by at least 25% of the
shareholders. Jim Hagemann Snabe will conclude his current role as co-CEO and member of
the SAP Executive Board upon the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
in May 2014.

Bob Calderoni, president of Ariba, an SAP company, and a member of our Global Managing
Board, decided to leave SAP with effect from January 15, 2014.
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RESPONSIBLE MANAGEMENT

We are a global company with numerous subsidiaries around the world and an international
shareholder base, so we need good governance. Good corporate governance means managing
the Company accountably and transparently to secure long- term value, which is also the
purpose of the standards and principles that apply in Germany and the world. We believe our
shareholders, business partners, employees, and the financial markets reward good corporate
governance with the increased trust they place in our Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AT SAP

Because SAP is listed on a German stock exchange, our corporate governance is based on
the German Stock Corporation Act and on the German Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code” in this report). Since SAP is also listed in the United States, we comply with the rules
that apply to German companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). These
include the requirements, as they apply to foreign private issuers, of the NYSE Corporate
Governance Standards, the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). As required by the German Stock Corporation Act, section 161,
SAP’s Executive and Supervisory Boards provide the Company’s shareholders with
information about our implementation of the German Corporate Governance Code’s
recommendations by publishing an annual declaration of implementation. In addition, the
Executive Board publishes a corporate governance statement pursuant to the German
Commercial Code, section 289 a, describing certain aspects of the Company’s corporate
governance in greater detail. In accordance with section 3.10 sentence 1 of the German
Corporate Governance Code, the Executive and Supervisory Boards report below about
corporate governance at SAP in 2013.

EXECUTIVE BOARD

The SAP Executive Board currently has five members. It is solely responsible for managing
the Company. It has a duty to exercise its management powers in the interest of the Company
and in pursuit of the sustained growth of corporate value. It discusses and agrees its strategy
for the Company with the Supervisory Board, ensures compliance with the requirements of the
law throughout the Group, and maintains effective risk management structures and internal
risk controls.

GLOBAL MANAGING BOARD

In May 2012, to help with its work the Executive Board set up the Global Managing Board. It
currently comprises all of the Executive Board and four other global managers who play a part
in directing large sections of the business. These additional members are appointed by the
Executive Board with the Supervisory Board’s consent. The Global Managing Board has a
coordinating function, advises the Executive Board and helps it make decisions, but the
Executive Board retains overall responsibility for everything the Company does. It meets
regularly and its meetings are chaired by the co-CEOs.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

The SAP Supervisory Board has 16 members who, in equal numbers, represent the
shareholders and the employees. It appoints, monitors, and advises the Executive Board. The
Executive Board involves the Supervisory Board in decisions on matters of fundamental
importance for the Company. The Supervisory Board has reserved to itself the approval of
certain defined transactions of fundamental importance.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
In accordance with the recommendation in section 5.4.1, paragraph 2, of the Code, the
Supervisory Board has defined the following objectives for its own composition:

— There should never be fewer than two people from the international stage on the
shareholder representatives’ side of the Supervisory Board.

— No Supervisory Board member should be an employee, consultant, or director of a
significant SAP competitor.

— At least four shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board should be independent
members in the meaning of section 5.4.2 of the Code.

— No member of the Supervisory Board should be older than 75 years.

— At least one woman should sit on the Supervisory Board as a shareholder representative.

We believe the current composition of the Supervisory Board fulfills all of these objectives.

The General Meeting of Shareholders elects the shareholders’ side of the Supervisory Board.
The Code recommends (at section 5.4.1, third paragraph, first sentence) that when the
Supervisory Board proposes candidates for shareholders to elect or re-elect to the Supervisory
Board, it should take into account the objectives it set for its own composition. In our
Declaration of Implementation dated October 29, 2013, we reported that we did not follow that
recommendation. Our Supervisory Board will, of course, have regard to the adopted objectives
when seeking to identify suitable persons for candidacy and when preparing its
recommendation of candidates to the General Meeting of Shareholders. In the interest of SAP,
however, we must be in a position to recommend to the General Meeting of Shareholders
those candidates we believe are best suited for the vacant Supervisory Board seats.
Ordinarily, one of the suitability criteria will be whether a person’s candidacy is consistent with
the defined objectives. However, that need not always be the only decisive criterion for
proposing a particular candidate. Company law, which empowers the General Meeting of
Shareholders to elect members to the Supervisory Board, requires neither that the Meeting
adhere to the Supervisory Board’s objectives nor that it elect the Supervisory Board’s
proposed candidates.

The Supervisory Board has regard to the following requirements for its composition:

— The Supervisory Board has at all times to be composed in such a way that its members as
a group possess the knowledge, ability, and expert experience required to properly
complete its tasks in our global IT company.

— Pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, section 100 (5), the Supervisory Board
must at all times have at least one independent member with significant, recent, and
relevant financial or auditing experience.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
SAP believes a sufficient degree of independence of our Supervisory Board members is
essential for effective and responsible corporate management and control. As reported above,



our Supervisory Board has a defined objective for its composition regarding the minimum
number of independent members on the shareholder representative side, as recommended in
the Code, section 5.4.1, paragraph 2. At its meeting on October 10, 2013, the Supervisory
Board determined that all of its shareholder representative members are independent in the
meaning of the Code, section 5.4.2 and that the number of independent members is sufficient
in the meaning of that section. The Audit Committee is chaired by Erhard Schipporeit, who for
many years was the chief financial officer of a DAX company that is also listed on a U.S.
stock exchange and therefore qualifies as an independent financial expert in the meaning of
the German Stock Corporation Act, section 100 (5), and the equivalent U.S. provisions.

DIVERSITY IN THE COMPANY

The Executive Board follows the recommendation in section 4.1.5 of the Code that requires
executive boards to have regard to diversity when appointing people to leadership positions,
and in particular to employ appropriate numbers of women in such positions. In support of this,
we maintain a diversity policy for company leadership appointments. In May 2011, we also set
a target to increase the percentage of women in leadership positions from 18% at the
beginning of 2011 to 25% in 2017. We believe this is an ambitious target because there are
still more men than women studying engineering subjects. It goes without saying that ability is
still the primary selection criterion for any position at SAP. Globally, the per centage of women
in leadership positions at the end of 2013 was 21.2 %.

Section 5.1.2 of the Code contains the recommendation that supervisory boards should strive
for an appropriate representation of women at executive board level as well. The Supervisory
Board complies with this provision and has ruled that when a new member is needed for the
Executive Board, applications should be sought from within SAP and from outside, and that
the shortlist should be 50% women if possible. When we decide whom to appoint, the
strengths and performance of the candidates would always be more important than their sex.
Another long-term aim of the diversity policy for company leadership appointments mentioned
above is to build a diverse pool of potential candidates for future Executive Board vacancies.

As reported above, the Supervisory Board has defined concrete objectives to promote
diversity in its own membership and achieve an appropriate percentage of women members,
as envisioned in the second paragraph of section 5.4.1 in the Code.

DECLARATION OF IMPLEMENTATION PURSUANT TO THE GERMAN STOCK
CORPORATION ACT, SECTION 161

Every year, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board issue a declaration stating whether
SAP has implemented and is following the Code’s recommendations, and identifying any
recommendations that the Company has not followed — with an explanation of why it has not
done so. The declaration of implementation that we filed on October 29, 2013, is on the
company Web site at www.sap.com/corporate-en/investors/governance/policies-statutes.
Implementation declarations published in previous years are also available on this Web site,
and links are provided to current and previous versions of the Code. As reported in the
declaration of implementation, we follow all but eight of the 105 recommendations in the
current Code. The reasons we do not follow these particular recommendations are described in
detail in the declaration of implementation.

We voluntarily follow all six suggestions in the current Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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The Executive Board published our corporate governance statement for 2013 pursuant to the
German Commercial Code, section 289 a, on February 19, 2014. It is available on SAP’s Web
site at www.sap.com/corporate-en/investors/governance. It includes the current declaration of
implementation pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, section 161, certain
information on corporate governance practices, and an account of how the Executive Board
and the Supervisory Board work, who sits on which Supervisory Board committees, and how
those committees work.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT

SAP’s corporate governance includes our Code of Business Conduct for employees and
members of the Executive Board. The Code of Business Conduct expresses the high
standards that we require from our employees and Executive Board members and sets out the
main principles that guide our business conduct toward customers, business partners, and
shareholders. We see our Code of Business Conduct as the standard for our dealings
involving customers, business partners, vendors, shareholders, and competitors. By following
our Code of Business Conduct, we demonstrate a commitment against all forms of unfair
competitive practice, corruption, and misrepresentation. A Global Compliance Office reporting
to our general counsel monitors worldwide compliance with our Code of Business Conduct and
other policies applying within the Group. It regularly reviews these internal policies, revises
them if necessary, and delivers related employee training.

THE WORK OF THE EXECUTIVE AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board cooperate closely for the benefit of the Company.
The Executive Board regularly provides the Supervisory Board with full and timely reports on
all material matters of strategy, business planning and performance, including any deviations
of actual business performance from plan, risks, risk management, and corporate compliance.
We provide our shareholders with in-depth information about how the Executive and
Supervisory Boards work, how the committees are composed, and how these committees
work, in our corporate governance statement. For more information about the joint work of the
Executive and Supervisory Boards and about the work of the Supervisory Board and its
committees in 2013, see the Report from the Supervisory Board.

APPLYING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STANDARDS

As noted above, SAP is an NYSE-listed company and we are therefore subject to certain U.S.
financial legislation (including among others the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) and to the
applicable SEC and NYSE regulations. Besides implementing the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, section 404, and other Sarbanes-Oxley Act requirements, including
conducting an annual audit of our internal control over financial reporting, we comply with
those of the corporate governance standards codified in the NYSE Listed Company Manual,
section 303A, that bind foreign private issuers. The section 303A standards that apply to SAP
include the requirement to have an audit committee composed of members who are
independent in the meaning of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and related reporting requirements. In
accordance with the SEC and NYSE corporate governance rules, we have also published, at
Item 16G in our annual report on Form 20-F, a report on the significant differences between the
NYSE corporate governance standards and the German corporate governance rules, which we
apply. We publish our annual report on Form 20-F on our Web site at www.sap.com/corporate-
en/investors/newsandreports/reports in English only.

TRANSPARENCY, COMMUNICATION, AND SERVICE FOR SHAREHOLDERS
Our shareholders can obtain full and timely information about SAP on our Web site and can
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access current and historical Company data. Among other information, we post all of our
financial reports, all relevant news about the Company’s governing bodies and their corporate
governance documentation, information requiring ad-hoc (current) disclosure, press releases,
and news of directors’ dealings notifiable pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act,
section 15 a. Shareholders and the public are able to watch a live broadcast of the entire
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on the Internet. They can vote their shares at the
meeting or instruct a proxy of their choice or one of the proxies provided for that purpose by
SAP. Our shareholders are also able to participate in the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders on the Internet and to vote their shares by postal ballot. The details are in the
invitation to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. All of the documentation related to
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is posted in good time on SAP’s Web site at
www.sap.com/corporate-en/investors/governance/meetings.

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The June 2013 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders appointed KPMG to audit the SAP
AG and the consolidated financial statements. We prepare the SAP AG financial statements
in accordance with the German Commercial Code and our consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS. We prepare a management report, as required by the German
Commercial Code, and the Form 20-F annual report in accordance with SEC requirements.
The Executive Board is responsible for financial accounting. The Supervisory Board approves
the SAP AG financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined
management report.

In addition to our annual financial statements, we also prepare quarterly reports for the first,
second, and third quarters. Our quarterly reports comply with the German Securities Trading
Act and are submitted to the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board before they are
published.

In German stock corporation and commercial law, there are special requirements for internal
risk management that apply to SAP. To meet them, our global risk management system
supports risk planning, identification, analysis, handling, and elimination. We maintain
standard documentation of all our internal control structures and continually evaluate their
effectiveness. As a company listed on the NYSE, we instruct our auditor, KPMG, to conduct
an annual audit of our internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the
requirements of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, section 404. The audit as at December
31, 2013, confirmed that our internal control is effective. In compliance with the reporting
requirements in the German Commercial Code, sections 289 (5) and 315 (2)(5), the combined
SAP AG and SAP Group management report contains full information about the principal
features of the internal controls and risk management structure applying to SAP’s
consolidated financial reporting.

In 2012, SAP engaged its external independent auditor KPMG to conduct an audit on SAP’s
worldwide compliance management system (CMS) according to the German auditing standard
IDW PS 980 “Principles for the Proper Performance of Reasonable Assurance Engagements
Relating to Compliance Management Systems”. The audit covered the appropriateness,
implementation and operating effectiveness of SAP’s CMS in the areas of corruption and
antitrust law in the period from July 1 to December 31, 2012. The audit was completed on July
5, 2013.

EXECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD SHAREHOLDINGS
Section 6.3 sentence 2 in the Code recommends that the entire holdings of SAP shares shall
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be reported separately for the Management Board and Supervisory Board in the Corporate
Governance Report. In fulfilment of this recommendation we refer to the Compensation Report
of our Combined Management Report for 2013 which contains the respective data.
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Information required under the German Commercial Code, sections 289 (4) and 315 (4), with

explanatory report.

— Composition of share capital: For information about the composition of SAP AG share
capital as of December 31, 2013, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
section, Note (20). Each share entitles the bearer to one vote. American depositary receipts
(ADRs) representing our shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange in the United
States. ADRs are certificates representing non-U.S. shares and are traded on U.S. stock
exchanges instead of the underlying shares. One SAP ADR corresponds to one SAP
share.

— Restrictions applying to share voting rights or transfers: SAP shares are not subject to
transfer restrictions except the lock-in period under the SAP Share Matching Plan (SMP),
described below. SAP held 34,795,554 treasury shares on December 31, 2013. Treasury
shares did not entitle us to any rights, and hence to any voting rights or dividend. Shares
issued in 2013 under the employee SMP are subject to contractual transfer restrictions for
a three-year lock-in period unless the plan member’s employment with SAP is ended during
that period. Until that lock-in period has expired, the participating employees are not
ordinarily allowed to dispose of the shares they have acquired under the plan. We are not
aware of any other restrictions applying to share voting rights or to share transfers.

— Shareholdings that exceed 10% of the voting rights: We are not aware of any direct or
indirect SAP AG shareholdings that exceed 10% of the voting rights.

— Shares with special rights conferring powers of control: No SAP shareholder has
special rights conferring powers of control.

— Type of control over voting rights applying to employee shareholders who do not
directly exercise their control rights: As with other shareholders, employee holders of
SAP shares exercise their control rights in accordance with the law and the Articles of
Incorporation. In votes on the formal approval of their acts at the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders, employee representatives on the Supervisory Board — as all other members
of the Supervisory Board — are prohibited from exercising the voting rights associated with
their shares.

— Legal requirements and provisions in the Articles of Incorporation concerning the
appointment and dismissal of members of the Executive Board and amendment of
the Articles of Incorporation: Conditions for the appointment and dismissal of members of
the Executive Board and amendment of the Articles of Incorporation reflect the relevant
provisions in the German Stock Corporation Act. Under the Articles of Incorporation, the
Executive Board consists of at least two members who are appointed for a period of not
more than five years by the Supervisory Board in accordance with the German Stock
Corporation Act, section 84. The number of members of the Executive Board is decided by
the Supervisory Board. Executive Board members may be reappointed for, or their term of
office extended by, a maximum of five years. The German Codetermination Act, section
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31, provides that a two-thirds majority of the Supervisory Board membership is required for
Executive Board appointments. If the Supervisory Board fails to make an appointment with
a majority that meets this requirement, the Mediation Committee must propose an
appointee within one month. Appointments to the Executive Board can then be made by a
simple majority of the Supervisory Board membership. If the Supervisory Board also fails to
make an appointment with a majority that meets this requirement, the chairperson of the
Supervisory Board has two votes in the subsequent ballot. The Supervisory Board can
appoint a chairperson of the Executive Board and one or more deputy chairpersons from
among the members of the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board can revoke
appointments to the Executive Board in accordance with the German Stock Corporation
Act, section 84, if compelling reasons exist, such as gross negligence on the part of the
Executive Board member. If the Executive Board is short of a required member, one may
be appointed in urgent cases by a court in accordance with the German Stock Corporation
Act, section 85. In accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act, sections 179 and
133, an amendment of the Articles of Incorporation requires a resolution of the General
Meeting of Shareholders with a majority of at least three-quarters of the share capital
represented in the vote and the simple majority of the votes cast. Section 11 (2) of the
Articles of Incorporation authorizes the Supervisory Board to amend the Articles of
Incorporation where such amendments only concern the wording.

Powers of the Executive Board to issue and repurchase shares: The Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders on May 25, 2011, granted powers to the Executive Board, subject
to the consent of the Supervisory Board, to issue convertible and warrant-linked bonds and
to grant conversion and option rights in respect of SAP AG shares representing a total
attributable portion of the share capital of not more than €100 million secured by a
corresponding amount of contingent capital. These powers will expire on May 24, 2016. The
Executive Board is also authorized until June 7, 2015, to increase the share capital by not
more than €250 million by issuing new shares against contributions in cash and to increase
the share capital by not more than €250 million by issuing new shares against contributions
in cash or in kind. For more details about the different tranches of authorized capital and
the aforementioned contingent capital, see the Articles of Incorporation, section 4. The
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on June 4, 2013, granted a power to the Executive
Board in accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act, section 71 (1)(8), to buy back
for treasury on or before June 3, 2018, SAP AG shares attributable in total to not more than
€120 million of the share capital. The power is subject to the proviso that the shares
repurchased, together with any shares that were previously acquired and are still held by
SAP in treasury and any other shares controlled by SAP, must not in total exceed 10% of
SAP’s share capital. Executive Board powers, such as those described to issue and
repurchase stock and to grant rights of conversion and subscription to shares of SAP, are
widely followed common practice among German companies like SAP. They give the
Executive Board the flexibility it needs, in particular the options to use SAP shares as
consideration in equity investments, raise funds on the financial markets at short notice on
favorable terms, or return value to shareholders during the course of the year. To service
the SMP, which is an employee stock plan we established in 2010, the Executive Board is
authorized, subject to Supervisory Board consent, to issue to participants of the plan new
shares until June 7, 2015. This authorized capital has been used for plan tranches in 2010,
2011, and 2012 (but not in 2013), and on December 31, 2013, it empowered the Company
to issue new shares representing a total attributable portion of the share capital of not more
than €29,609,256.

Material agreements with provisions that take effect in the event of a change of
control following a takeover bid: SAP AG has concluded the following material
agreements with provisions that take effect in the event of a change of control, whether



following a takeover bid or otherwise:

= The terms of SAP’s syndicated €2 billion revolving credit facility include a change-of-
control clause. For more information about this syndicated credit facility, see the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (25). This clause obliges SAP AG to
notify the banks in case of a change of control. If, on receiving the notification, banks that
represent at least two-thirds of the credit volume so require, the banks have the right to
cancel the credit facility and demand complete repayment of the outstanding debt. If no
continuation agreement is reached, the credit facility would end and the obligation to repay
would become effective at an ascertainable time.

The terms of the German promissory notes totaling €86 million include a change-of-control
clause. For more information about these German promissory notes, see the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements section, Note (17b). The clause gives the lenders
special termination rights in case of a change of control. If no continuation agreement is
reached within 30 days after a change of control, the lenders would be entitled to declare
the loan due and demand repayment of the outstanding debt without delay.

In agreements between SAP AG and various banks for bilateral credit facilities that totaled
€487 million on December 31, 2013, we have agreed customary material adverse change
clauses permitting the banks to terminate if events occur that are materially adverse to
the economic standing of SAP AG, which may possibly also include a change of control.
In the past, we have drawn on these bilateral credit facilities only infrequently and only for
a few days. We believe that in view of our current liquidity situation, termination of these
credit facilities would not have a material adverse effect, at least in the near term.

SAP issued two bonds in 2010, each in two tranches of different tenures, totaling €2.2
billion. In 2012, SAP set up a Debt Issuance Program under which a first tranche of
Eurobonds in the amount of €1.3 billion was issued. In 2013, a new €4 billion Debt
Issuance Program was set up under which no bonds were issued until December 31,
2013. For more information about these bonds, see the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements section, Note (17b). Under the terms agreed with the buyers, we are
required to notify the buyers of any change of control without delay. If there is a change of
control and SAP is consequently assigned a lower credit rating within a defined period,
buyers are entitled to demand repayment. We currently do not have a credit rating with
any agency. In case that condition persists in a change of control event, an early
redemption would only be triggered if no rating agency assigns a credit rating during the
change of control period.

Under the terms of our U.S. private placements totaling US$2.65 billion, we are required to
offer lenders repayment of outstanding debt if there is a change of control and SAP is
consequently assigned a lower credit rating within a defined period. For more information
about these private placements, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
section, Note (17b). Lenders would have at least 30 days to accept the offer. We currently
do not have a credit rating with any agency. In case that condition persists in a change of
control event, an early redemption would only be triggered if no rating agency assigns a
credit rating during the change of control period.

We have entered into relationships with other companies to jointly develop and market
new software products. These relationships are governed by development and marketing
agreements with the respective companies. Some of the agreements include provisions
that, in the event of a change of control over one of the parties, give the other party a right
to consent to the assignment of the agreement or to terminate it.

— Agreements to compensate members of the Executive Board or the employees in the
event of a takeover bid: Agreements have been concluded with the members of the
Executive Board concerning compensation in the event of a change of control. These
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agreements, which are customary in Germany and elsewhere, are described in the
Compensation Report that is an integral part of this management report. We have no
analogous compensation agreements with other employees.
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Dear Stakeholders,

In 2010, we launched our customer-centric innovation strategy based on a strong conviction
that yesterday’s technologies could not solve tomorrow’s challenges.

We listened to our customers that wanted to adopt innovation faster, analyze unprecedented
amounts of data, reach their customers and consumers across all channels, and manage their
mobile workers. In response, we expanded our portfolio by investing in cloud-based solutions
and mobile technology — and by introducing SAP HANA, our game-changing in-memory
technology.

Now, in 2014, it is clear that our strategy was the right one. Today, cloud, mobile, and Big
Data are the dominant themes in the IT industry. With four consecutive years of double-digit
growth, our success is evident. We are the fastest-growing mega-cap company in the
enterprise software industry. For 2013, we reported €16.9 billion non-IFRS total revenue, with
11% constant currency growth in software and cloud subscription revenue (5% at actual
currencies). In the same period, our non-IFRS operating margin increased to 33.5% at
constant currencies (32.6% at actual currencies). We have more than 253,500 customers from
companies of all sizes, across 25 industries, in mature as well as emerging markets.

With the market position and innovation pipeline we have today, we now have a unique
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opportunity to deliver significantly more value to our customers and reshape the technology
landscape for lower cost and higher performance.

The trends we identified in 2010 have only accelerated, and we remain focused and
determined to win in rapidly growing areas, especially in cloud and in-memory technology. Our
SAP HANA technology has evolved from a real-time database to a true in-memory platform.
SAP HANA now allows companies to radically simplify their IT infrastructure. In 2013, we put
our entire SAP Business Suite on SAP HANA. Going forward, our software portfolio and the
innovations of our partner ecosystem will be built on the foundation of SAP HANA. In the three
years since its launch, SAP HANA has generated nearly €1.2 billion in revenue and has
become one of the fastestgrowing products in the history of enterprise software. In 2013 alone,
SAP HANA generated €664 million in revenue, which is an increase of 69% over the previous
year at constant currencies.

Cloud computing has now become mainstream and is a widely accepted delivery model in the
United States, and increasingly in Asia and Europe. The cloud offers an unprecedented
opportunity to simplify software delivery and speed to value as customers get immediate
access to innovation. Our annual cloud revenue run rate reached €1.06 billion at the end of
2013. For the year, we reported €757 million non-IFRS cloud subscription and support revenue.
Today, SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA is the broadest cloud portfolio in the industry. More
than 35 million users work with our solutions in the cloud, and approximately 1.4 million
companies trade over half a trillion U.S. dollars of goods and services through our cloud-based
Ariba Network.

Our strategy was always embedded in a higher purpose and vision to “help the world run better
and improve people’s lives.” In a world of limited resources, we are proud that, with our
solutions, 10 million people in South Africa now have access to banking services with their
mobile phones, urban governments in more than 50 countries deliver better services to their
citizens, and people in more than 21 countries have easier access to education. In addition,
we continue to uphold our commitment to the United Nations Global Compact.

Our non-financial performance indicators remained strong in 2013: We increased our Net
Promoter Score by 3.2 percentage points. We also reduced our carbon footprint by 9% since
the beginning of 2008. And, for the seventh time in a row, we have been ranked the number
one software company in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index. As more customers choose our
cloud solutions and our data centers grow, our total energy use will also increase. In 2014, we
are addressing this growth by powering all of our data centers with 100% renewable energy.
Moreover, we achieved an employee engagement score of 77%, which is among the highest
benchmarks for this indicator. We are especially proud of our more than 66,500 employees,
and thank them wholeheartedly for their hard work and innovative spirit.

Our momentum and strong foundation allows us to be bold about our future and set ambitious
goals. By 2017, we expect to deliver at least €22 billion in total revenue (thereof €3.0—€3.5
billion from our cloud business). To capture the growth in the cloud, we have extended the
time horizon for our 35% operating margin target to 2017. Further, we aim to increase
customer loyalty by another four percentage points in 2014. In addition, we remain committed
to increasing our already high level of employee engagement to 82% by 2015.

In a world of increasing velocity, innovation is imperative. But innovation must never lose sight
of the human spirit, which craves simplicity and clarity. That is why our focus now is to
“simplify everything so we can do anything.” With this guiding principle, we believe SAP is
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positioned to deliver profitable growth — and to continue our vision of helping the world run
better while improving people’s lives.

Best regards,

Bill McDermott Jim Hagemann Snabe
Co-CEO, SAP AG Co-CEO, SAP AG
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SAP’s continued growth over four decades is attributable to our focus on innovation, a broad

portfolio, and our ability to stay close to our customers and understand their ever-changing
needs.

OUR VISION AND MISSION

SAP’s vision is to help the world run better and improve people’s lives. Our mission is to help
every customer become a best-run business. We do this by delivering technology innovations
that address the challenges of today and tomorrow without disrupting our customers’ business
operations. For example, enterprise mobility is transforming usage of IT; in-memory
technology is simplifying the IT architecture in the enterprise and driving high-value
applications; and cloud delivery of IT solutions is simplifying the consumption of technology.
We offer solutions that drive business outcomes and enable our customers to run better. We
help our customers derive value from their SAP solutions in a cost-effective and predictable
way, with our professional services, support, and cloud delivery.

OUR GOALS FOR SUSTAINED BUSINESS SUCCESS

SAP has strong ambitions for sustainable business success, both for our company and for our
customers. We believe the most important indicators to measure this success comprise both
financial and non-financial indicators: revenue, margin, customer loyalty, and employee
engagement.

Revenue

We aim to achieve at least €22 billion total revenue by 2017. SAP still aims to achieve at least
€20 billion total revenue by 2015 (2013: €16.9 billion non-IFRS total revenue). An important
part to achieving this is our continued focus on innovations, as we expect to become the cloud
company with €3.0 to €3.5 billion total revenue from our cloud business by 2017. In 2014, we
expect to increase non-IFRS software and software-related services (SSRS) growth by 6% to
8% at constant currencies.

Margin

We aim for 35% non-IFRS operating margin (2013: 32.6%). In order to capture growth
opportunities in the cloud, we expect to reach this goal in 2017 instead of 2015, as previously
stated. In 2014, we expect between €5.8 billion to €6.0 billion non-IFRS operating profit at
constant currencies.

Customer Loyalty
We use the Net Promoter Score (NPS) to measure customer loyalty. In 2014, we are aiming

for an increase in NPS by four percentage points (2013: 12.1%).

Employee Engagement
We use the employee engagement index to measure motivation and loyalty of our employees,
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how proud they are of our company, and how strongly they identify with SAP. We are
committed to achieving a score of 82% in 2015 (2013: 77%). Despite the slight drop in
employee engagement in 2013 compared to 2012, we expect to see an incremental increase in
our industry-leading score in 2014.

These four goals affirm our commitment to innovation and sustainability, and will help us
deliver on our vision and mission.

In addition to the primary KPls, which directly measure our performance with regard to our four
company objectives, SAP manages a large set of secondary performance indicators, which
influence the primary KPIs in a variety of ways. Our integrated report seeks to clarify some of
those relationships, for example the link between our energy consumption and our margin.

Our main indicators are presented with more detail throughout the report. For more information
on strategic goals, see the Internal Management System; Report on Expected Developments;
Customers; and Employees and Social Investment sections.

OUR STRATEGY: SIMPLIFY EVERYTHING WITH THE SAP CLOUD POWERED BY HANA
Organizations around the world are now entering a new era of business model innovation,
made possible by the convergence of cloud, mobile, social, and in-memory technologies.

However, businesses often contend with layers of IT complexity that have been built up over
the decades. This complexity is the result of several factors, including the proliferation of
hardware and custom applications. In addition, investments in innovations often take a long
time to implement or to realize business value. Due to the complexity of the current
consumption model, customers are not able to respond fast enough to changing market
conditions. We believe that simplicity is the key: By solving the challenge of business
complexity, we can help unlock our customers’ innovation potential. We are committed to
leading this simplification.

In today’s technology industry, the biggest winners have grown by offering simplicity and ease
of consumption over a cloud model, which has translated to massive user adoption and
market success.

In 2014, SAP will focus on helping its customers “simplify everything, so they can do
anything.”

With the SAP HANA platform, we have an opportunity to simplify our product portfolio and IT
landscape for our customers. SAP HANA can radically simplify enterprise applications as it
collapses the entire IT stack. With SAP HANA Cloud Platform, we have the ability to take our
core on-premise applications to the cloud and offer a choice of cloud deployments to our
customers.

With SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA, we will focus our simplification on three areas —
simplifying our consumption model, simplifying our portfolio, and simplifying user experience.

— Simplify software consumption by moving our entire portfolio to the cloud: We are
transitioning our consumption model to SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA where we can
deliver end-to-end solutions and drive business outcomes for the customers. We will offer
our entire portfolio of solutions — applications, analytics, and platform through SAP Cloud
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powered by SAP HANA. We will move our core SAP Business Suite software to the cloud
as a managed service, delivered by both SAP and our partners. We will also accelerate our
investments in line-of-business public cloud solutions across SuccessFactors, Ariba, and
our cloud portfolio, all running on SAP HANA. We will deliver a true, integrated cloud to our
customers. As we are committed to offering flexibility and choice, we will continue to offer
an on-premise deployment model to our customers.

— Simplify our products with SAP HANA as the common platform: We will standardize
every SAP product (including SuccessFactors and Ariba) on the common SAP HANA
platform, and deliver integration across our portfolio. This will drive a simplified suite
experience for our customers and partners. Our partners and ecosystem can either extend
our solutions or build end-to-end applications based on the SAP HANA platform.

— Simplify the user experience: We will simplify the user experience (UX) by offering a
“mobile first” approach based on SAP Fiori applications, which offer a simple and easy-to-
use experience for broadly used SAP software functions that work seamlessly across
devices. We will build applications that show empathy with the user and dramatically
improve the experience of our customer’s customers and our customers’ employees.

In addition to simplifying our business model, we will focus on end-to-end delivery of industry-
specific solutions that can drive business value and outcomes. We will continue to build an
open ecosystem and our partner network to deliver SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA on
their cloud infrastructure. Our ecosystem will play a vital role in building new solutions on the
SAP HANA platform and delivering value to our customers.

With our focus on simplification, we aim to better innovate and grow.

Today SAP only receives a small percentage of each customer’s overall IT spend. By
investing in innovations and shifting our customers to a cloud business model, we will be able
to help reduce their total cost of ownership (TCO) on IT. This enables customers to reinvest
the TCO savings in new innovations and SAP could capture a higher share of customer IT
spend.

Additionally, SAP will drive innovation and top-line growth across the following dimensions:

— Drive the Big Data agenda for our customers with our real-time in-memory SAP HANA
platform and predictive analytics solutions

— Establish SAP HANA as a standard enterprise business platform and monetize through
partners and ecosystem

— Focus on the customer’s customer by extending to business-to-business-to-consumer
(B2B2C) through our portfolio of omnichannel and CRM solutions

— Drive accelerated growth in selected industries such as banking, insurance, retail, public
sector, and healthcare

— Emerging markets will continue to be a growth driver, with high double-digit growth in
software and cloud revenues expected through 2017. In addition to our investments in
China, Russia, and the Middle East, we are expanding our investments in Africa.

We will stay committed to our customers’ success and evolve our execution to drive further
value creation for our customers. We strive to provide our customers a significant competitive
advantage and to help make their growth more sustainable — financially, ecologically, and
socially.
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For more information about SAP’s goals, see the Report on Expected Developments section.
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d Financial and Non-Financial Performance

Strategy and Business Model
Integrated Perfomance Analysis

FOLLOW THE CONNECTIONS BETWEEN OUR NON-FINANCIAL AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

Integrated reporting is based on the idea that a full picture of a company’s performance must
include its social, environmental, and economic impacts. A related idea is that these realms
are intrinsically linked. Actions taken in one area affect another, with these connections
holding the potential for companies to increase their value creation by responding more
effectively to today’s and tomorrow’s business landscape. But what do we know about the
relations between our financial and non-financial indicators? Challenging ourselves to go
beyond our assumptions, we looked into the connections and came up with the illustration
below. We know that we do not have all the answers yet, so we invite your feedback as we
continue to work on improving our performance.
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Employee engagement is the level of employee commitment, pride, and loyalty, as well as the
feeling of employees of being advocates for their company.
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Capability Building >> Employee Engagement:

Because it is closely linked to how much a company develops its employees and supports
their careers, internal hiring to management and expert positions positively affects employees’
commitment and loyalty. This hypothesis was confirmed by a study of Roberts & Davenport
(2002), which identified “career development” as the key driver of employee engagement.

Employer Ranking >> Employee Engagement:

Studies find that a company’s image and the associated pride of employees (important criteria
in employer rankings) are key drivers of employee engagement (Global workforce study,
2012).

Employee Engagement >> Employer Ranking:

We believe that SAP will achieve higher rankings as an employer if our employees
demonstrate a high level of employee engagement, as employee engagement is an important
criterion of employer rankings.

Social Investment >> Employee Engagement:

Mueller et al. (2012) have found that employees’ perception of a company’s commitment to
corporate social responsibility is positively linked to their own commitment to the organization.
With corporate social responsibility and social investment becoming more and more important
to SAP, we expect to see employee engagement increase as well.

Employee Engagement >> Margin:

Galup Consulting (2010) has documented 12% higher profitability for companies with high
employee engagement. At the same time, we deem it possible that a low level of employee
engagement can decrease productivity and efficiency — and can thus incur costs and lower
margin.

Margin >> Employee Engagement:

In our view, a high margin, as great business news, can raise employee morale, encourage
identification with our vision, and thus drive employee engagement. On the other hand, we
believe that a high margin can also have a negative impact on employee engagement. If, to
reach an ambitious margin target, cost savings and budget cuts are implemented, employees
might feel constrained and dissatisfied.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Employee Engagement:

Several studies have found a positive relationship between “employee welfare” or “wellness”
(and thus the Business Health Culture) and employee engagement (Emmema et al., 2012;
World Economic Forum Report, 2010).

Employee Engagement >> Employee Retention:

The CLC Genesee (2011) reports that companies with highly engaged employees have
considerably less voluntary turnover than companies with unengaged employees and will thus
lead to a higher retention rate.

GHG Footprint >> Employee Engagement:

We believe that lowering SAP’s GHG footprint can have a positive impact on employee
engagement because loyalty will rise as employees see their company act responsibly
towards the environment. However, because lowering emissions also brings certain
restrictions, such as flying less, it may also have a negative impact on employee
engagement.
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Employee Engagement >> GHG Footprint:

We believe that engaged employees are likely to want to help SAP achieve its target in
lowering its GHG emissions. Yet another possible outcome is that a higher level of employee
engagement may lead to more business activity requiring travel and therefore could lead to an
increase in GHG emissions.

Employee Engagement >> Revenue:

A study by Gallup Consulting (2010) shows that companies with highly engaged employees
have 18% higher productivity, which is likely to lead to an increase in revenue.

Revenue >> Employee Engagement:

We believe that a higher revenue will have a positive impact on a company’s work
environment, thereby increasing employees’ pride and loyalty.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index)
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The BHCI is a score for readiness of employees to accept change, in particular their
perception of affiliation and purpose, leadership, recognition, empowerment, reward, stress
level, and life balance at SAP.

Women in Management >> BHCI (Business Health Culture Index):

We believe that a balance of men and women in management will help to create a more
balanced working environment, one in which diversity is valued and people feel free to express
their individual styles. It is our expectation that such an environment will positively affect our
Business Health Culture Index.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Women in Management:


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/354.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=w&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/354.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=B&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/354.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=w&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/354.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=B&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/354.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=B&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/354.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=w&no_cache=1

McKinsey (2007) found that different elements of the BHCI such as flexible working hours, the
ability to work from home, or career flexibility — can make it easier for women to balance work
and family life. This leads us to conclude that the higher our BHCI, the more attractive SAP
will become to women who are seeking management positions.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Employee Retention:

Studies show that an organization is four times more likely to lose talent if its employees have
an unfavorable view of health and well being at the company (World Economic Forum Report,
2010). By implication, stronger performance on the Business Health Culture Index will
correlate with a higher level of employee retention.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Margin:

According to Mercer’'s survey on the total financial impact of employee absences (2010), a
high absence rate causes significant costs for the company (35% of base payroll). We believe
that a lower Business Health Culture Index will most likely lead to higher absence rates (for
example due to burnout or other illnesses). By comparison, it is our expectation that a high
BHCI will lead to a decrease in absences and costs, thereby resulting in a higher margin.

Social Investment >> BHCI (Business Health Culture Index):

We believe that by supporting our employees in engaging in activities with a positive social
impact, such as skills-based volunteering, we are enhancing the meaning they find in work.
This sense of purpose helps to create a richer and more rewarding work environment that
reduces stress and promotes satisfaction and well being.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Employee Engagement:

Several studies have found a positive relationship between “employee welfare” or “wellness”
(and thus the Business Health Culture) and employee engagement (Emmema et al., 2012;
World Economic Forum Report, 2010).

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Revenue:

According to the World Economic Forum Report (2010), companies that actively promote
employee health and well-being achieve stronger performance and are more productive. A
higher Business Health Culture Index is therefore likely to create a positive impact on SAP’s
revenue.

GHG Footprint >> BHCI (Business Health Culture Index):

Many of SAP’s GHG emissions are caused by business travel and commuting, which we
believe can have both negative and positive impacts on employee health. Some people may
experience greater stress through more travel because they have less time to spend at home,
are jet lagged, or lose valuable working hours; others may enjoy travel, which enables them to
experience other places, meet new people, and get a taste of life as a ‘jet setter’.

Employee Retention
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Employee retention is the ratio of the average headcount (expressed in full-time equivalents)
minus employee-initiated terminations (turnover) divided by the average headcount, taking into
account the past 12 months.

Capability Building >> Employee Retention:

According to the Global Workforce Study (2012) the “chances to advance the career” is the
second-most important driver of employee retention. By promoting and thus growing from
within, SAP creates career opportunities for its employees. In turn, it is our expectation that
this opportunity leads to an increase in employee retention.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Employee Retention:

Studies show that an organization is four times more likely to lose talent if its employees have
an unfavorable view of health and well being at the company (World Economic Forum Report,
2010). By implication, stronger performance on the Business Health Culture Index will
correlate with a higher level of employee retention.

Employee Engagement >> Employee Retention:

The CLC Genesee (2011) reports that companies with highly engaged employees have
considerably less voluntary turnover than companies with unengaged employees and will thus
lead to a higher retention rate.

Employee Retention >> Revenue:

Alexander, Bloom, & Nuchols (1994) have found a negative relationship between employee
turnover and organizational productivity. In other words, employee retention is positively
correlated with organizational productivity and thus a company’s revenue.
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Employee Retention >> Customer Loyalty:

Koys (2001) has found evidence that employee turnover has a negative impact on customer
satisfaction. We believe this effect stems from the fact that experienced employees work
more efficiently, have better product knowledge, can build trusting relationships with
colleagues and customers, and thus have the ability to better serve customers’ needs.

Employee Retention >> Margin:

“The cost of losing and replacing a strategic or critical employee starts at 150 percent of the
value of that employee’s compensation package” (Rodgers: The hidden costs of employee
turnover). A higher level of employee retention will therefore help to avoid costs and thus
increase SAP’s margin.

Women in Management
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Women in Management is the percentage of women in management positions (managing
teams, managing managers, executive board) as compared to the total number of managers,
expressed by the number of individuals.

Capability Building >> Women in Management:

Like many other companies, SAP has more women in less senior positions than in more
senior ones. Given this significant pool of talent, we assume that internal promotions will
increase the percentage of women in management positions.

Women in Management >> BHCI (Business Health Culture Index):

We believe that a balance of men and women in management will help to create a more
balanced working environment, one in which diversity is valued and people feel free to express
their individual styles. It is our expectation that such an environment will positively affect our
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Business Health Culture Index.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Women in Management:

McKinsey (2007) found that different elements of the BHCI such as flexible working hours, the
ability to work from home, or career flexibility — can make it easier for women to balance work
and family life. This leads us to conclude that the higher our BHCI, the more attractive SAP
will become to women who are seeking management positions.

Women in Management >> Employer Ranking:

Several research findings indicate that diversity and inclusion programs (Roland Berger, 2011),
as well as the presence of female board directors (Catalist, 2011), have a positive effect on
corporate reputation (an important criterion in employer rankings). Looking at German
companies, Roland Berger (2011) estimate that the monetary impact of this relationship
amounts to €20.8 billion per year.

Employer Ranking >> Women in Management:

We believe that a highly ranked employer can attract talent more easily. As SAP focuses on
diversity — and in particular women in management — women will likely feel more attracted to
our emloyer brand. As a result, we would expect to find more women on the short list for
management positions.

Women in Management >> Revenue Impact:

Studies show that companies with a relatively high percentage of women in upper
management ranks or as board members achieve stronger financial performance compared to
those with a relatively low percentage (Catalist, 2011). We believe that having more women in
management positions will increase our revenue as it helps us to better serve our diverse
customer base.

Women in Management >> Customer Loyalty:

A study by the European Commission has shown that diversity programs — including those
focused on the promotion of women to management positions — have a direct and positive
impact on customer satisfaction (European Commission, 2003). This finding is supported by
another recent study, which states that customers are increasingly requesting information
about organizations’ diversity policies and initiatives (Catalist, 2011).

Women in Management >> Margin:
Studies show that companies with a high level of gender diversity outperform companies with
an average level in terms of return on equity (11.4% vs. an average 10.3%); operating results
(EBIT 11.1% vs. 5.8%); and stock price increases (64% vs. 47% over the period 2005-2007)
(McKinsey, 2007). It is therefore likely that a higher share of women in management positions
will result in a higher margin for SAP.

Social Investment
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Social investment reflects SAP’s activities in volunteering and technology and cash
donations.

Social Investment >> BHCI (Business Health Culture Index):

We believe that by supporting our employees in engaging in activities with a positive social
impact, such as skills-based volunteering, we are enhancing the meaning they find in work.
This sense of purpose helps to create a richer and more rewarding work environment that
reduces stress and promotes satisfaction and well being.

Social Investment >> Employee Engagement:

Mueller et al. (2012) have found that employees’ perception of a company’s commitment to
corporate social responsibility is positively linked to their own commitment to the organization.
With corporate social responsibility and social investment becoming more and more important
to SAP, we expect to see employee engagement increase as well.

Social Investment >> Revenue:

A meta-analysis by Orlitzky et al. (2003) suggests that corporate social responsibility (or what
we characterize as social investment) is likely to have a positive impact on an organization’s
financial performance. In our experience, social investments do in fact have a positive impact
on our ability to acquire new customers, especially in emerging markets.

Margin >> Social Investment:

It is a common best practice for companies to invest a certain percentage of their annual
profits in programs and activities that create a positive social impact. We believe that a higher
margin is therefore likely to lead SAP to make greater social investments.
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Social Investment >> Employer Ranking:

As a company’s social activities such as volunteering or donations are an important criterion
in employer rankings, we are certain that our social investment activities will affect our ranking
as an employer positively.

Capability Building
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Capability building is the internal hiring rate (promotions only) into management or expert
positions as compared to the external hiring rate into such positions.

Capability Building >> Employee Retention:

According to the Global Workforce Study (2012) the “chances to advance the career” is the
second-most important driver of employee retention. By promoting and thus growing from
within, SAP creates career opportunities for its employees. In turn, it is our expectation that
this opportunity leads to an increase in employee retention.

Capability Building >> Employee Engagement:

Because it is closely linked to how much a company develops its employees and supports
their careers, internal hiring to management and expert positions positively affects employees’
commitment and loyalty. This hypothesis was confirmed by a study of Roberts & Davenport
(2002), which identified “career development” as the key driver of employee engagement.

Capability Building >> Women in Management:

Like many other companies, SAP has more women in less senior positions than in more
senior ones. Given this significant pool of talent, we assume that internal promotions will
increase the percentage of women in management positions.
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Employer ranking is the attractiveness of SAP as an employer, measured through external
ratings and rankings.

Women in Management >> Employer Ranking:

Several research findings indicate that diversity and inclusion programs (Roland Berger, 2011),
as well as the presence of female board directors (Catalist, 2011), have a positive effect on
corporate reputation (an important criterion in employer rankings). Looking at German
companies, Roland Berger (2011) estimate that the monetary impact of this relationship
amounts to €20.8 billion per year.

Employer Ranking >> Women in Management:

We believe that a highly ranked employer can attract talent more easily. As SAP focuses on
diversity — and in particular women in management — women will likely feel more attracted to
our emloyer brand. As a result, we would expect to find more women on the short list for
management positions.

Employer Ranking >> Employee Engagement:

Studies find that a company’s image and the associated pride of employees (important criteria
in employer rankings) are key drivers of employee engagement (Global workforce study,
2012).

Employee Engagement >> Employer Ranking:

We believe that SAP will achieve higher rankings as an employer if our employees
demonstrate a high level of employee engagement, as employee engagement is an important
criterion of employer rankings.
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GHG Footprint >> Employer Ranking:

A study conducted by Backhaus et al. (2002) has found that job seekers place considerable
importance on a prospective employer's commitment to sustainability. Notably, efforts to
promote environmental protection are a key differentiator for employers. Because a company’s
appeal to potential new hires helps to determine most employer rankings, SAP’s commitment
to lower our GHG Footprint is likely to increase our ranking as an employer.

Employer Ranking >> Margin:

As a highly ranked employer, we believe SAP is able to attract talented employees more
easily, which could reduce the costs of searching for talent and hiring new employees, thereby
increasing our margin.

Revenue
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Revenue is the total revenue SAP receives from the sale of its products and services.

Social Investment >> Revenue:

A meta-analysis by Orlitzky et al. (2003) suggests that corporate social responsibility (or what
we characterize as social investment) is likely to have a positive impact on an organization’s
financial performance. In our experience, social investments do in fact have a positive impact
on our ability to acquire new customers, especially in emerging markets.

Women in Management >> Revenue Impact:

Studies show that companies with a relatively high percentage of women in upper
management ranks or as board members achieve stronger financial performance compared to
those with a relatively low percentage (Catalist, 2011). We believe that having more women in
management positions will increase our revenue as it helps us to better serve our diverse
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customer base.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Revenue:

According to the World Economic Forum Report (2010), companies that actively promote
employee health and well-being achieve stronger performance and are more productive. A
higher Business Health Culture Index is therefore likely to create a positive impact on SAP’s
revenue.

Employee Retention >> Revenue:

Alexander, Bloom, & Nuchols (1994) have found a negative relationship between employee
turnover and organizational productivity. In other words, employee retention is positively
correlated with organizational productivity and thus a company’s revenue.

GHG Footprint >> Revenue:

Lowering SAP’s GHG Footprint could have a positive impact on SAP’s revenue because
customers increasingly ask their suppliers to act sustainably. This reasoning is supported by a
study confirming the existence of a strong positive correlation between a company’s
environmental performance, as demonstrated through environmental awards, and financial
performance (measured by stock market performance) (Klassen & McLaughlin, 1996).

Employee Engagement >> Revenue:
A study by Gallup Consulting (2010) shows that companies with highly engaged employees
have 18% higher productivity, which is likely to lead to an increase in revenue.

Revenue >> Employee Engagement:
We believe that a higher revenue will have a positive impact on a company’s work
environment, thereby increasing employees’ pride and loyalty.

Customer Loyalty >> Revenue:

Reichheld (2003) found a strong correlation between companies’ Net Promoter Score results
and their revenue growth rates. We support this view as we believe that loyal SAP customers
are likely to recommend SAP products to other companies, which is likely to result in
increased sales and stronger revenue.

Revenue >> Margin:

Margin reflects the relationship between operating costs and revenue; so if operating costs
grow at a lower rate than revenue, higher revenue will lead to higher margin.

Margin
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Margin is the ratio of operating profit to total revenue, expressed as a percentage.

BHCI (Business Health Culture Index) >> Margin:

According to Mercer’'s survey on the total financial impact of employee absences (2010), a
high absence rate causes significant costs for the company (35% of base payroll). We believe
that a lower Business Health Culture Index will most likely lead to higher absence rates (for
example due to burnout or other illnesses). By comparison, it is our expectation that a high
BHCI will lead to a decrease in absences and costs, thereby resulting in a higher margin.

Employee Engagement >> Margin:

Galup Consulting (2010) has documented 12 % higher profitability for companies with high
employee engagement. At the same time, we deem it possible that a low level of employee
engagement can decrease productivity and efficiency — and can thus incur costs and lower
margin.

Margin >> Employee Engagement:

In our view, a high margin, as great business news, can raise employee morale, encourage
identification with our vision, and thus drive employee engagement. On the other hand, we
believe that a high margin can also have a negative impact on employee engagement. If, to
reach an ambitious margin target, cost savings and budget cuts are implemented, employees
might feel constrained and dissatisfied.

Women in Management >> Margin:

Studies show that companies with a high level of gender diversity outperform companies with
an average level in terms of return on equity (11.4% vs. an average 10.3%); operating results
(EBIT 11.1% vs. 5.8%); and stock price increases (64% vs. 47% over the period 2005-2007)
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(McKinsey, 2007). It is therefore likely that a higher share of women in management positions
will result in a higher margin for SAP.

Margin >> Social Investment:

It is a common best practice for companies to invest a certain percentage of their annual
profits in programs and activities that create a positive social impact. We believe that a higher
margin is therefore likely to lead SAP to make greater social investments.

Renewable Energy >> Margin:

The purchase of renewable energy over conventional energy sources is often correlated with
higher costs, and thus we expect a small negative impact on our margin when we augment our
purchase of renewable energy.

Employee Retention >> Margin:

“The cost of losing and replacing a strategic or critical employee starts at 150 percent of the
value of that employee’s compensation package” (Rodgers: The hidden costs of employee
turnover). A higher level of employee retention will therefore help to avoid costs and thus
increase SAP’s margin.

Total Energy Consumed >> Margin:
We have found that reduced energy consumption is strongly correlated with a reduction in
costs. The thus achieved cost avoidance has a positive impact on our margin.

Employer Ranking >> Margin:

As a highly ranked employer, we believe SAP is able to attract talented employees more
easily, which could reduce the costs of searching for talent and hiring new employees, thereby
increasing our margin.

Revenue >> Margin:
Margin reflects the relationship between operating costs and revenue; so if operating costs
grow at a lower rate than revenue, higher revenue will lead to higher margin.

Customer Loyalty >> Margin:

We believe that positive experiences among our customers can significantly increase
business with existing customers, as well as help attract new customers. Both results can
lower the cost of sales, thereby increasing our margin.

Data Center Energy >> Margin:

We have found that reduced energy consumption is strongly correlated with a reduction in
costs. The thus achieved cost avoidance has a positive impact on our margin.

Customer Loyalty
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Customer loyalty is measured with the Net Promoter Score: Percentage of customers that are
likely to recommend SAP to friends or colleagues minus the percentage of customers that are
unlikely to do so.

Women in Management >> Customer Loyalty:

A study by the European Commission has shown that diversity programs — including those
focused on the promotion of women to management positions — have a direct and positive
impact on customer satisfaction (European Commission, 2003). This finding is supported by
another recent study, which states that customers are increasingly requesting information
about organizations’ diversity policies and initiatives (Catalist, 2011).

Employee Retention >> Customer Loyalty:

Koys (2001) has found evidence that employee turnover has a negative impact on customer
satisfaction. We believe this effect stems from the fact that experienced employees work
more efficiently, have better product knowledge, can build trusting relationships with
colleagues and customers, and thus have the ability to better serve customers’ needs.

GHG Footprint >> Customer Loyalty:
We believe that lowering SAP’s carbon emissions has a positive reputational effect, thereby
enhancing SAP’s standing with its customers.

Customer Loyalty >> Revenue:

Reichheld (2003) found a strong correlation between companies’ Net Promoter Score results
and their revenue growth rates. We support this view as we believe that loyal SAP customers
are likely to recommend SAP products to other companies, which is likely to result in
increased sales and stronger revenue.
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Customer Loyalty >> Margin:

We believe that positive experiences among our customers can significantly increase
business with existing customers, as well as help attract new customers. Both results can
lower the cost of sales, thereby increasing our margin.

GHG Footprint (Greenhouse Gas Footprint)
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Our GHG footprint is the sum of all greenhouse gas emissions measured and reported,
including renewable energy and third party reductions, for example, offsets.

GHG Footprint >> BHCI (Business Health Culture Index):

Many of SAP’s GHG emissions are caused by business travel and commuting, which we
believe can have both negative and positive impacts on employee health. Some people may
experience greater stress through more travel because they have less time to spend at home,
are jet lagged, or lose valuable working hours; others may enjoy travel, which enables them to
experience other places, meet new people, and get a taste of life as a ‘jet setter'.

GHG Footprint >> Employer Ranking:

A study conducted by Backhaus et al. (2002) has found that job seekers place considerable
importance on a prospective employer's commitment to sustainability. Notably, efforts to
promote environmental protection are a key differentiator for employers. Because a company’s
appeal to potential new hires helps to determine most employer rankings, SAP’s commitment
to lower our GHG Footprint is likely to increase our ranking as an employer.

GHG Footprint >> Employee Engagement:
We believe that lowering SAP’s GHG footprint can have a positive impact on employee
engagement because loyalty will rise as employees see their company act responsibly
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towards the environment. However, because lowering emissions also brings certain
restrictions, such as flying less, it may also have a negative impact on employee
engagement.

Employee Engagement >> GHG Footprint:

We believe that engaged employees are likely to want to help SAP achieve its target in
lowering its GHG emissions. Yet another possible outcome is that a higher level of employee
engagement may lead to more business activity requiring travel and therefore could lead to an
increase in GHG emissions.

GHG Footprint >> Revenue:

Lowering SAP’s GHG Footprint could have a positive impact on SAP’s revenue because
customers increasingly ask their suppliers to act sustainably. This reasoning is supported by a
study confirming the existence of a strong positive correlation between a company’s
environmental performance, as demonstrated through environmental awards, and financial
performance (measured by stock market performance) (Klassen & McLaughlin, 1996).

GHG Footprint >> Customer Loyalty:
We believe that lowering SAP’s carbon emissions has a positive reputational effect, thereby
enhancing SAP’s standing with its customers.

Renewable Energy >> GHG Footprint:

Increasing the percentage of renewable energy in our overall mix of energy sources directly
translates into a lower GHG footprint, as we replace some of the energy generated by fossil
fuels.

Total Energy Consumed >> GHG Footprint:

The emissions caused by SAP’s energy consumption add directly to the corporate carbon
footprint if they are not reduced through offsets or — for electricity consumption — renewable
energy certificates (RECs).

Data Center Energy >> GHG Footprint:

The emissions caused by SAP’s data center energy consumption add directly to the corporate
carbon footprint if they are not reduced through offsets or renewable energy certificates
(RECs).

Total Energy Consumed
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Total energy consumed is the sum of all energy consumed through SAP’s own operations,
including energy from renewable sources.

Total Energy Consumed >> Margin:
We have found that reduced energy consumption is strongly correlated with a reduction in
costs. The thus achieved cost avoidance has a positive impact on our margin.

Total Energy Consumed >> GHG Footprint:

The emissions caused by SAP’s energy consumption add directly to the corporate carbon
footprint if they are not reduced through offsets or — for electricity consumption — renewable
energy certificates (RECs).

Data Center Energy >> Total Energy Consumed:

The energy consumed in SAP’s data centers forms part of the total energy consumed in our
operations.

Data Center Energy
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Data center energy is the amount of energy consumed in SAP’s data centers related to the
number of employees.

Data Center Energy >> Margin:
We have found that reduced energy consumption is strongly correlated with a reduction in
costs. The thus achieved cost avoidance has a positive impact on our margin.

Data Center Energy >> GHG Footprint:

The emissions caused by SAP’s data center energy consumption add directly to the corporate
carbon footprint if they are not reduced through offsets or renewable energy certificates
(RECs).

Data Center Energy >> Total Energy Consumed:

The energy consumed in SAP’s data centers forms part of the total energy consumed in our
operations.

Renewable Energy
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Renewable energy reflects the shares and types of electricity obtained from renewable
sources such as hydro, wind, solar, and biomass.

Renewable Energy >> Margin:

The purchase of renewable energy over conventional energy sources is often correlated with
higher costs, and thus we expect a small negative impact on our margin when we augment our
purchase of renewable energy.

Renewable Energy >> GHG Footprint:

Increasing the percentage of renewable energy in our overall mix of energy sources directly
translates into a lower GHG footprint, as we replace some of the energy generated by fossil
fuels.
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DEEPENING OUR UNDERSTANDING OF THE CONNECTIONS BETWEEN NON-
FINANCIAL AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

One of the most important features in our first integrated report last year was a visual
exploration of the connections between non-financial and financial performance. We showed
how such measures as revenue, employee engagement, and carbon emissions impact each
other, at times in unexpected ways.

These connections are at the heart of an integrated report, which puts financial results in the
context of an organization’s full range of impacts. Taken together, all three realms of
performance — economic, social, and environmental — provide a full measure of a company’s
ability to create value and navigate today’s fast-changing business landscape.

FOLLOWING THE CHAIN OF IMPACT FOR EACH OF 12 NON-FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Last year, for example, we documented that for every percentage point our retention rate goes
up or down, the impact on our operating profit is approximately €62 million. This year, we
aimed to get closer to assessing such financial impacts for other non-financial indicators. To
do so, we went beyond establishing that one indicator is linked to another. Instead, we
focused on describing the entire chain of cause and effect that underlies these links.

We mapped specific activities undertaken by SAP that are intended to change employee
behavior, and subsequently impact company performance, and thereby creating a financial
result. Describing such a chain advances the methodology for assessing non-financial
performance in financial terms. For example, we can shed light on why and how something
such as employee engagement leads to higher revenue. We believe that such insights are a
prerequisite for fully modeling the financial impact of non-financial performance.

To create and validate these chains of cause and effect, we turned to both internal and
external stakeholders. We started with those inside SAP, meeting in small groups that
rigorously examined the cascade of impacts from activities related to each of our non-financial
indicators. We next conferred with external stakeholders, including academics, financial
investors, and SAP peers, to vet our findings.

P Changes of Behavior
e S )

WHAT’S NEXT: PUTTING INTANGIBLES INTO TANGIBLE TERMS

The final stage in creating our chains of impact will be monetizing the end results. In other
words, if our health efforts lead to greater productivity, what does that mean in financial terms?
This last stage will extend our methodology further than in the past, when calculations focused
merely on documenting correlations — such as how companies with more women in leadership



positions perform better financially. Now we are seeking to design calculations with deeper
insight behind them. Understanding cause-and-effect chains in detail will help us to manage
our portfolio of activities in a more effective way.

Our cause and effect chains have also led us to consider adding two new non-financial
performance indicators to our assessment — innovation and productivity. These two areas
continually showed up as we looked at how our activities lead to greater financial performance,
and we will continue to explore how we might incorporate and measure them in the future.

FOLLOW OUR CAUSE-AND-EFFECT CHAIN FOR THE BUSINESS HEALTH CULTURE
INDEX

Below we present an example of one of our cause-and-effect chains for our Business Health
Culture Index. This index assesses both the health of our employees and the health of our
organizational culture, which are interrelated. Our chain starts with activities that support
health at SAP, from flexible work arrangements to leadership development to our global health
and innovation awareness weeks. Each of these strengthens our organizational culture and
helps our employees manage stress, achieve work/life balance, feel empowered in their roles,
and perform at their best.

Employees
Activities
(Examples)

L i Employee
development Retention

Health

Work
flexibility

Candidates

Moving from left to right, we diagram the impact of these activities. Flexibility, for example,
enhances stress resilience and work/life balance, which, in turn leads to greater employee
engagement. A company culture with engaged employees enhances our employer ranking,
helping us attract top talent, which spurs our innovation and ultimately boosts our revenues.
Leadership development leads to a stronger work culture, which increases productivity as well
as employee retention, resulting in a higher operating margin.

In each case, the chain demonstrates how the intangible becomes tangible. Overall, such
connections tell the story of how actions in one area are inextricably tied to impacts in
another. As we move forward, we will continue to update our progress in putting definitive
numbers to these results, so that we understand how we can best create long-term value for
SAP.
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Creating economic, social, and environmental value over the long-term is central to our vision

of helping the world run better and improving people’s lives. To realize our vision, SAP
provides software and services to customers throughout the world, all based on our deep
expertise in business processes spanning 25 industries.

To provide software and related services to our customers, we rely on financial capital
provided by investors. We leverage our intellectual capital to continually increase our
knowledge base and expertise. Engaged, highly skilled, and agile employees are central to
innovating with and building relationships with our customers and partners, and ultimately to
our business success.

Our direct sales organizations drive most business development. Sales go-to-market
strategies are established at the global level, and adapted and executed by the regional
subsidiaries. Our customer-facing employees, in close collaboration with sales support and
marketing, drive demand, build pipeline, and enhance relationships with customers within our
target industries. Our marketing efforts cover large enterprises as well as small and midsize
enterprises. We believe our broad portfolio of solutions and services enables us to meet the
needs of customers of all sizes and across industries.

In addition, our extensive ecosystem provides scalability to meet the demand for SAP
innovation and provide customers with a wide selection of third-party competencies. We have
developed an independent sales and support force through independent value-added resellers.
We have also established partnerships with hardware and software suppliers, system
integrators, and third-party consultants. For more information, see the Partner Ecosystem
section.

Our sales model has been focused on charging a one-time, upfront fee for a perpetual license
to our software that is typically installed at the customer site. In addition, the customer usually
concludes a maintenance contract that covers support and software updates. As we see
customers’ preferences evolve, we are expanding the delivery of our solutions in the cloud,
which we believe is a simple and efficient software consumption model. Our cloud solutions
are offered under a subscription-based licensing model. With this model, the customer
periodically pays a fee to use software for a limited amount of time. This software is installed
at an SAP or an SAP partner location, and the customer accesses the software through the
Internet.

To help companies invest in SAP solutions and the associated services and hardware, the
SAP Financing service offers customers payment plans optimized for maximum economic
benefit. It can help preserve liquidity, provide an alternative to credit from their existing
banking relationships, and balance their budgetary priorities — while giving customers the
flexibility to choose the best possible solution.
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We measure the outcome of our activities through four performance indicators: revenue,
margin, customer loyalty, and employee engagement. Each of these directly correlates with
our ability to deliver financial returns to our providers of capital. Ultimately, it is our highly
engaged employees who build our customers’ success and loyalty to SAP.

SAP contributes to the creation of long-term value for society in a number of ways. At SAP
and within our ecosystem, we support job creation and economic prosperity through demand
for highly qualified workers to sell, implement, and enhance our software for customers. Our
solutions support the learning and talent development of our customers’ employees. Other
SAP solutions enhance health and safety, both on the manufacturing side and in the final
consumer products, which impact millions of people worldwide.

Our greatest positive environmental impact stems from enabling improvements through the
solutions we provide to customers. For example, our software plays a primary role in driving
supply chain optimization, efficiency gains in production processes, and transparency
regarding energy consumption and emissions.

We also leverage our expertise in business processes across industries to direct our
innovations to the world’s greatest challenges, such as the social and environmental strains
posed by a rapidly expanding global middle class. Our goal is to create long-term value by
providing solutions not just for the current challenges faced by our customers, but also those
of the future. In this way, we see our role moving beyond the creation of new efficient
solutions: We want to help fundamentally change how people live, conduct business, and use
software. This framework underscores how SAP can create its greatest impact through the
use of our solutions by more than 253,500 customers worldwide.
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OUR FOCUS ON CUSTOMERS AND INNOVATION
SAP’s portfolio of products, solutions, services, and support is designed with customer
centricity in mind. Our solutions help customers address the major trends and issues of our
time — such as the unprecedented power of people to connect, the ubiquity of mobile
technology, the pressures of population growth and rapid urbanization, and the increasing
demand on natural resources. Our software enables companies of all sizes to better connect
to their customers and suppliers, and to measure, track, and manage their sustainable
operations. Our solutions also address our customers’ expectations for shorter innovation
cycles, an attractive total cost of ownership (TCO), a superior user experience, and choice of
consumption options — whether on premise or in the cloud.

SAP’s portfolio offers solutions to customers of all sizes and across 25 industries, all around
the globe. The platform for all our solutions is called SAP HANA. SAP was the first company
to introduce an in-memory database not only for analytics, but also for running complete
enterprise applications in main memory. SAP HANA is an in-memory data platform that is
deployable as an on-premise appliance or in the cloud. It is a revolutionary platform best
suited for performing real-time analytics, and developing and deploying real-time applications.
Due to its hybrid structure for processing transactional workloads and analytical workloads
fully in-memory, SAP HANA combines the best of both worlds. It also offers a unique
opportunity for business innovation, simplifying IT landscapes, reducing TCO, and boosting
performance by a wide margin. All of our products will be enabled to run on the SAP HANA
platform, and we continue to make SAP HANA a key differentiator in both technology and
business applications across our entire portfolio.

SOLUTIONS

SAP has built a deep expertise in more than 40 years of delivering market-leading software to
distinct industries and lines of business. Our end-to-end solutions for industries and lines of
business combine assets across our product, service, technology, and market categories to
solve specific customer challenges.

Solutions for Lines of Business

Our line-of-business solutions are relevant across all industries, providing best-practice
capabilities to key functional areas within an organization. As a result, they enable
professionals to excel within their respective disciplines. Our portfolio of solutions currently
covers 12 lines of business:

— Asset management

— Corporate strategy and sustainability
— Finance

— Human resources

— Information technology
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— Manufacturing

— Marketing

— Procurement

— R&D and engineering

— Sales

— Service

— Supply chain management

We deliver these solutions on premise or through the cloud as software-as-a-service (SaaS)
offerings:

— SAP Cloud for Human Resources: Together with existing HR cloud solutions from SAP,
SuccessFactors, an SAP company, offers a full suite of cloud solutions that help
companies improve workforce productivity and engage, train, motivate, and retain their
people.

— SAP Cloud for Finance: Cloud solutions that support key financial processes including
travel and expense reporting.

— SAP Cloud for Sales, SAP Cloud for Service, SAP Cloud for Marketing: These
individual cloud portfolios offer applications that manage all aspects of customer interaction
— marketing, sales, service — while employing next-generation social capabilities.

— SAP Cloud for Procurement: The portfolio from Ariba, an SAP company, combines the
world’s largest cloud-based business network with cloud-based applications for buying,
selling, and managing cash used by companies around the globe to connect to their trading
partners.

— Cloud Suites: SAP offers SAP Business Suite powered by SAP HANA in the cloud. In
addition, SAP Business ByDesign and SAP Business One Cloud provide two cloud suites
for subsidiaries and small businesses.

Solutions for Industries

For decades, SAP has developed deep expertise within specific industry groups. Our product
development teams include professionals from within those industries, and we continually
engage with customers to develop solutions that represent industry best practices. With the
2013 addition of the SAP for Sports & Entertainment industry portfolio, SAP now supports
enterprises in 25 industries.

Industry Sector Industry Portfolio

Consumer SAP for Consumer Products
SAP for Life Sciences
SAP for Retail
SAP for Wholesale Distribution

Discrete manufacturing SAP for Aerospace & Defense
SAP for Automotive
SAP for High Tech
SAP for Industrial Machinery & Components

Energy and natural resources SAP for Chemicals
SAP for Mill Products
SAP for Mining
SAP for Oil & Gas
SAP for Utilities

Financial services SAP for Banking
SAP for Insurance

Public services SAP for Defense & Security
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SAP for Healthcare
SAP for Higher Education & Research
SAP for Public Sector

Services SAP for Engineering, Construction & Operations
SAP for Media
SAP for Professional Services
SAP for Sports & Entertainment
SAP for Telecommunications
SAP for Transportation & Logistics

Solutions for Small Businesses and Midsize Companies

SAP offers a number of targeted solutions for small businesses and midsize companies,
including the SAP Business All-in-One solution, the SAP Business One application, and Edge
solutions, which combine business management and business intelligence software. These
solutions are targeted and optimized for small businesses and midsize companies, and
provide growing enterprises with the capabilities they need to compete in a global market.

SAP also offers affordable, scalable solutions in the cloud, such as SAP Business ByDesign
and SuccessFactors HCM Suite. These solutions are relevant for companies of all sizes,
including small and midsize enterprises. Additionally, we offer SAP Business One Cloud to
small businesses and midsize companies. SAP Business One Cloud is a comprehensive and
easy-to-consume cloud offering with predictable costs.

PRODUCTS
In 2013, SAP offered innovative products in five market categories: Applications, Analytics,
Mobile, Database and Technology, and Cloud, all powered by the SAP HANA platform.

We will continue to offer products in these market categories, along with innovations designed
to meet customer needs now and in the future. As described in the Vision, Mission, and
Strategy section of this management report, our strategy will focus even more on how our
products deliver simplicity, better business outcomes, and sustainable business value.

In 2013, our product portfolio comprised the following:

Applications
SAP is the recognized leader in enterprise applications. Based on our leading technology and
our unmatched business process know-how, we deliver innovations without disruptions.

SAP Business Suite software helps create a comprehensive business process platform for
companies to run better and perform better every day.

The main applications in SAP Business Suite are:

— SAP Customer Relationship Management (SAP CRM): Provides a comprehensive set of
functionality for marketing, sales, and service to engage with customers.

— SAP ERP: Supports critical business processes such as finance, HR, and other essential
corporate functions.

— SAP Product Lifecycle Management (SAP PLM): Manages the product and asset
lifecycle across the extended supply chain.

— SAP Supplier Relationship Management (SAP SRM): Supports key procurement
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activities.
— SAP Supply Chain Management (SAP SCM): Helps adapt supply chain processes to a
rapidly changing competitive landscape.

SAP Business Suite is also available “powered by SAP HANA” as our next-generation
business suite that captures and analyzes data in real time on a single in-memory platform. In
the past, companies would run separate disk-based systems; one to capture transactional
data, and one to analyze data in a data warehouse. SAP Business Suite powered by SAP
HANA allows customers to work with a single in-memory data management system,
empowering customers to run their business in real time to transact, analyze, and predict
instantly and proactively. This gives companies the ability to translate real-time insights into
action immediately, while removing the complexity of redundant system data and systems.
Customers can now manage mission-critical business processes, such as planning,
execution, reporting, and analysis, in real time using the same relevant live data. This
simplification lowers TCO.

Analytics

Our analytics offerings enable users to unleash the power of collective insight by helping them
collect massive amounts of Big Data and use it to drive better business outcomes. The
solutions enable users to unlock the data they need empowering them with the right
information at the right time to make insightful business decisions, anticipate change, and
uncover new opportunities. When using software powered by SAP HANA, companies can gain
insight by overcoming the classic trade-off between the speed and flexibility of data analysis.
As a result, data analysis becomes much faster and more cost-effective.

Analytic solutions from SAP include:

— Business intelligence (BI): Helps users to make fact-based decisions with enterprise
business intelligence solutions that enable users to engage with all their data, on any
device, across any platform. Our Bl solutions include the SAP BusinessObjects BI
platform, SAP Crystal Reports, SAP BusinessObjects Dashboards, and SAP Lumira.

— Enterprise performance management (EPM): Helps companies improve performance,
organizational agility, and decision making. SAP solutions for EPM include SAP Business
Planning and Consolidation, SAP Profitability and Cost Management, SAP Financial
Consolidation, and SAP Disclosure Management applications.

— Governance, risk, and compliance (GRC): Provides organizations with a real-time
approach to manage GRC across heterogeneous business environments. SAP solutions for
GRC include the SAP Risk Management, SAP Access Control, and SAP Global Trade
Services applications as well as the SAP Sustainability Performance Management analytic
application.

— Predictive analytics: Brings advanced analytics capabilities to a broad spectrum of users
— beyond data scientists to line-of-business users and analysts in the workplace — to help
uncover new business opportunities, predict trends, and proactively respond to change.
This is made possible by automating key modeling and analytical tasks and enabling faster
deployment and adoption of predictive analytics tools.

Mobile

Today’s businesses demand mobile access to critical business information. Mobile solutions
from SAP offer the foundation for enterprise mobility and seamless integration with the core
enterprise applications of our customers. SAP is recognized as a market leader in enterprise
mobility.
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Our portfolio of mobile solutions includes:

— Enterprise mobility management: In many organizations, employees use different types
of mobile devices to access critical enterprise data, content, and applications. To address
this demand, SAP offers the SAP Afaria mobile device management solution and the SAP
Mobile Documents solution.

— Mobile apps: SAP has a variety of mobile apps that interface with our on-premise
solutions and address line-of-business, industry, and consumer needs. In addition, SAP
has opened our mobile development platform to our partner ecosystem to support the
growing demand for mobile apps.

— SAP Mobile Platform: SAP Mobile Platform combines Sybase Unwired Platform, the
former Sybase 365 Mobilizer Platform (for business-to-consumer applications), and Agentry
from the acquired company Syclo into a single platform, thus supporting mobile
development and deployment across the entire enterprise.

Database and Technology

Our database and technology portfolio provides a solid and comprehensive foundation for
business applications. SAP HANA, our ground-breaking in-memory platform, has redefined
innovation in the database and technology market and has become the fastest-growing
product in our history. We depend on our ecosystem to expand our reach, and accelerate
growth and adoption of SAP database and technology products beyond our installed base
customers.

In addition to SAP HANA, we offer a comprehensive family of database and technology
solutions that includes:

— Application development and integration: SAP NetWeaver provides a comprehensive
technology platform, designed to efficiently develop, run, and extend business applications.
SAP NetWeaver provides technology and enterprise software, such as the SAP NetWeaver
Business Warehouse (SAP NetWeaver BW) application, and the SAP NetWeaver
Application Server, SAP NetWeaver Portal, and SAP NetWeaver Process Orchestration
components.

— Database: We offer the technology to make up a real-time data platform, including SAP
HANA, SAP |IQ database software, SAP Adaptive Server Enterprise (SAP ASE), and the
SAP SQL Anywhere suite.

Cloud

In a world where customers need to respond quickly to changing market conditions, the cloud
model offers an ideal combination of flexibility, affordability, and rapid time to value. With SAP
Cloud powered by SAP HANA, we are helping customers enjoy the innovation potential of a
cloud-based setup. At the same time, we are simplifying our consumption model, our product
portfolio, and our customers’ user experience.

Today, SAP offers one of the most comprehensive cloud portfolios on the market. With the
decision to offer all our products in the cloud, the cloud category will evolve from a product
category to a deployment option for our customers to simplify the consumption of our
solutions. Our offerings span cloud applications, business networks, and cloud platforms. In
addition, we offer our customers a choice of different cloud deployments to fit their business
needs, such as public or private cloud models.

In 2013, SAP began offering SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA, which includes
infrastructure, platform, and software as services in the cloud, incorporating the former SAP
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HANA Enterprise Cloud managed cloud services offering. It allows entire enterprise systems
to be run in the cloud and provides customers with a new deployment option to gain immediate
value from the innovations of SAP HANA. This enables the operation of mission-critical
business applications as well as new applications powered by SAP HANA. In providing such
services, we aim to enable organizations to realize faster time to value coupled with lower total
cost of ownership, and benefit from increased flexibility and reliability.

In addition, SAP HANA Cloud Platform is a development platform-as-a-service (PaaS)
designed to help customers, independent software vendors, and partners rapidly create
innovative enterprise software applications in the cloud leveraging our leading in-memory
technology.

SAP supports a hybrid model, allowing customers to integrate new cloud services with their
on-premise applications. This gives customers the opportunity to consume new innovations
using the cloud while safeguarding their investments in their existing application landscape.

SERVICES AND SUPPORT

SAP offers comprehensive services and support to help our customers maximize the value of
their SAP investments by offering higher value realization, faster adoption of innovation, and
higher efficiency in the implementation of our solutions. Our services and support portfolio
covers the entire end-to-end application lifecycle, from a tight integration with our development
organization, to accelerating innovation and continuous improvement of our software solutions,
to complete risk and quality management.

Software-Related Services

Custom Development
The SAP Custom Development organization specializes in building individual software

solutions that address the unique needs of our customers, and that fit seamlessly with
existing SAP software. SAP Custom Development draws on our innovations, especially SAP
HANA, to deliver unmatched impact and value for specific customer use cases.

Maintenance and Support
SAP offers a comprehensive and tiered maintenance and support model to customers of our

on-premise solutions on a global basis. This support offering primarily includes SAP Enterprise
Support and SAP Standard Support offerings.

— SAP Enterprise Support: Our premier maintenance and support offering is designed as a
strategic, long-term partnership with our customers.

— SAP Standard Support: Our basic support offering delivers functions, knowledge, and
tools that help customers implement, maintain, and enhance their SAP solutions.

Our support portfolio also contains two additional premium maintenance offerings:

— SAP MaxAttention: These services provide the highest possible level of support for our
customers. The combination of SAP MaxAttention and SAP Enterprise Support offers
customers comprehensive all-round support. This strategic offering is designed for
continuous business and co-innovation with customers. Through the SAP Active Global
Support (SAP AGS) organization, SAP MaxAttention offers support services tailored to the
requirements of the customer, expertise acquisition by the customer, and continuous
cooperation at senior management level based on an agreed-to balanced scorecard.

— SAP ActiveEmbedded: These enhanced engagement services help optimize solutions and
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accelerate adoption of technologies without disrupting customer businesses.

For our cloud portfolio, support is included as part of our cloud subscriptions. Customers have
the option of choosing standard, premium, and platinum support. In the premium and platinum
offerings, customers have access to support offerings, such as access to a dedicated support
account manager.

Professional Services

Consulting Services
We offer consulting services for the planning, implementation, and optimization phase of our

business solutions. Our consultants engage in a wide range of services, including business
transformation, IT transformation, performance and insight optimization, and business
applications services. These services help customers optimize business performance and
leverage the full power of SAP solutions.

SAP consultants also implement SAP Rapid Deployment solutions, which combine
preconfigured software and predefined services, such as SAP Best Practices, templates,
tools, and user guides. By doing so, they help companies adopt innovations more quickly and
at transparent cost.

Education Services
The SAP Education organization offers a complete portfolio of multimodal learning that covers

the learning needs of single individuals, as well as organizations. We provide a consistent
curriculum for learners around the world, including online e-learning, virtual live classroom
sessions, learning on demand, and classroom training. Our educational programs help people
become more proficient, efficient, and productive in their use of SAP solutions. Every year,
more than 500,000 individuals are trained by SAP Education, making it one of the largest IT
training organizations in the world.

For more information about services and support from SAP, see www.sap.com/services-
support/svc.html. For more information about how SAP handles security and privacy in our
products and services, see the Security and Privacy section of the SAP Integrated Report
2013 online. For more information about SAP products and solutions, see
www.sap.com/pc/index.html.
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Strategy and Business Model
Research and Development

v Assured
Research and development is the source of the discoveries that will shape the future for SAP

and its customers. At SAP, research and development is a global effort that is highly
collaborative, focused on customer value, and involves co-innovation with customers,
partners, and academia.

GLOBAL DEVELOPMENT, LOCAL FOCUS

Our Products & Innovation organization is truly global, with the majority of development
colleagues located in 14 SAP Labs locations in 12 countries (see graphic). SAP Labs are
globally distributed, situated within major technology hubs where access to talent and the
latest technology trends create an optimal setup for innovation.

SAP Labs locations in fast-growing markets strive to produce market-relevant solutions that
complement SAP’s global product portfolio. In addition, they are structured in a manner that
allows for close interaction with local stakeholders, including customers, partners, and
universities. This strategy of distributed development, focusing on locations with talent
availability, fostering diversity and access to new ideas, while also ensuring local market
relevance, has proven highly successful for SAP.

To every technology and engineering challenge, SAP brings the strength and experience of a
global development team. This helps ensure the rapid impact of research and development
activities on our solution portfolio, and contributes to an ever-increasing pace of innovation.
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Major Development Locations (SAP Labs) in 12 Countries

CONTINUOUS INNOVATION

Research and development is only successful if it provides continuous improvement for
existing products, while at the same time executing against promising new concepts that can
help SAP enter new markets. And it must do so better and faster than our competition.

The following were among our 2013 R&D accomplishments:

SAP HANA

In 2013, SAP made further investments in our next-generation in-memory platform, SAP
HANA, as the foundation for all of our products, solutions, and services — so that our
customers can run their businesses in real time. A rich and growing ecosystem of partners
further drives the adoption of SAP HANA as an open platform, and a number of startup
companies now deliver new and innovative applications built on the SAP HANA platform.

Cloud

To further advance our leadership in the cloud, we continued to expand our portfolio of cloud-
based applications. For example, customers that want to accelerate their transition to the real-
time enterprise can now take advantage of our latest innovation in the cloud, SAP Cloud
powered by SAP HANA, which includes infrastructure, platform, and software as services in
the cloud, incorporating the former SAP HANA Enterprise Cloud managed cloud services
offering. Core elements include an elastic infrastructure, the in-memory platform, and services
for deploying SAP or custom applications in real time.

SAP Business Suite powered by SAP HANA

Our highly engaged and diverse research and development teams are also working to improve
SAP Business Suite by simplifying the end-to-end experience of using the applications while
also optimizing performance. Combining SAP Business Suite with SAP HANA was a major
milestone in 2013, enabling customers to make decisions in real time and gain unmatched
visibility into business processes. In addition, the software helps customers unleash their full
potential when it comes to meeting consumer and competitive demands through real-time
access to data, real-time analytics, and unprecedented improvements in performance.


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/uploads/pics/SAP-GB13_Online-Grafiken_800px_Netzwerk-E.png
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/uploads/pics/SAP-GB13_Online-Grafiken_800px_Netzwerk-E.png
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=e&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=S&no_cache=1
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/about-this-integrated-report/glossary/back/321.html?tx_a21glossaryadvancedoutput_pi1[char]=a&no_cache=1

Adhering to our imperative of “SAP runs SAP,” SAP has led the way in the adoption of SAP
Business Suite powered by SAP HANA by going live internally with SAP CRM and SAP ERP
applications now running on SAP HANA in 2013.

SAP Fiori

With SAP Fiori applications, SAP continues to further renew and simplify the user experience
for all our products. For example, SAP Fiori offers an intuitive end-to-end user experience for
broadly and frequently used SAP software functions that work seamlessly across devices —
desktop, tablet or smartphone.

New Industry Solutions

Across industries, we continue to look for opportunities to help our customers and partners
expand their businesses by analyzing, evaluating, and co-innovating business processes. In
2013, for example, SAP brought its knowledge and experience to the sports and entertainment
industry. Our solutions help sports teams, leagues, and venues run faster, smarter, and
simpler. In addition, they are designed to deepen fan engagement, drive on-field performance,
and optimize business efficiency.

A CULTURE OF CUSTOMER CENTRICITY, EMPOWERMENT, AND ACCOUNTABILITY
Today, SAP’s development is closely attuned to customers’ business environments, product
landscapes, and users. In addition, we foster a development culture of customer centricity,
empowerment, and accountability. We believe that our work impacts such factors as customer
loyalty and employee engagement, and that those factors have significant relevance to our
company’s financial performance.

Our design-led research and development methodology puts the customer and user at the
center during the entire development process. This results in robust solutions to complex
business challenges — solutions that are technically feasible, desirable to users, and viable to
the business for both SAP and its customers.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

SAP’s strong commitment to research and development (R&D) is also reflected in our
expenditures: In 2013, we increased our R&D expense (IFRS) slightly by €21 million, to €2,282
million (2012: €2,261 million). We spent 13.6% of total revenue on R&D in 2013 (2012: 13.9%).
Our non-IFRS R&D expense as a portion of total operating expenses declined slightly from
19.2% to 19.0% year over year. While we continue to increase our innovative capacity, we
increased our efficiency.

At the end of 2013, our total full-time equivalent (FTE) count in development work was 17,804
(2012: 18,012). Measured in FTEs, our R&D headcount was 27% of total headcount (2012:
28%). Total R&D expense includes not only our own personnel costs but also the external
cost of works and services from the providers and cooperation partners we work with to deliver
and enhance our products. We also incur external costs for translating, localizing, and testing
products, for obtaining certification for them in different markets, patent attorney services and
fees, strategy consulting, and the professional development of our R&D workforce.
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Research and Development {IFRS)
£ millions | change since previous year

1,591 1729 1,935 2,261 2282
-2% +9% +12% +17% +1%
2009 2010 201 2012 2013
PATENTS

As a leader in enterprise applications, SAP actively seeks intellectual property protection for
innovations and proprietary information. Our software innovations continue to strengthen our
market position in enterprise solutions and services. Our investment in R&D has resulted in
numerous patents. SAP holds a total of more than 5,500 validated patents worldwide. Of
these, more than 700 were granted and validated in 2013.

While our intellectual property is important to our success, we believe our business as a whole
is not dependent on any particular patent.
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v Assured
SAP engages with an extensive partner ecosystem to address the needs of customers around

the world. With nearly 11,500 partners at the end of 2013, we continue to foster our partner
ecosystem. Partners operate independently of SAP, and complement our business in one or
more of the following ways:

— Selling SAP software: SAP partners help companies of all sizes identify, purchase, and
deploy the ideal solutions to address their business needs. SAP value-added resellers
(VARs) and multitier distribution channels offer local market and industry expertise that
addresses specific market needs. SAP closely aligns its sales efforts with those of our
partners through well-defined rules of engagement that outline each organization’s roles and
responsibilities. In most markets, partners are the primary sales channel to address the
needs of small and midsize enterprises (SMEs). Our company also sells select products
through our own online channel, SAP Store, which includes complementary solutions
developed by SAP partners. In addition, SAP resells applicable partner solutions as part of
our solution extensions portfolio. These partner-developed solutions are tested, validated,
and approved by SAP development organizations, and supported by SAP.

— Developing solutions that complement SAP software: SAP has a vibrant community of
partners that develop on SAP platforms and create complementary products integrating
with SAP applications. This community is vital to providing our customers with a broad
portfolio of solutions that leverage the capabilities of SAP HANA, SAP Mobile Platform, our
cloud offerings, and more. At the same time, we maintain strategic relationships with
industry-leading technology, software, and services firms. SAP engages with the partner
community in the development of new solutions, and works closely with partners on new
product initiatives. Partners can embed SAP technology within their offerings under an
original equipment manufacturer (OEM) licensing agreement. We also work actively with
partners to enable new and innovative delivery and go-to-market approaches to support
customer needs and preferences. Beyond these formal partnerships, companies can also
certify their integration with SAP technology through the SAP Integration and Certification
Center (SAP ICC).

— Providing implementation and other services: SAP has strong partnerships with a broad
network of IT professional services firms that provide consulting, system integration,
hosting, education, and more. At the end of 2013, our partners collectively had more than
380,000 skilled resources in SAP solutions and technology. These companies are critical to
the successful implementation and deployment of SAP solutions at customers we serve
together. In response to growing customer demand for flexible deployment and purchase
options, SAP is working closely with the partner ecosystem to offer innovative cloud-based
offerings and business models, including OEM and managed cloud services, and by
making SAP platforms and applications available through public cloud offerings.

To help the SAP partner ecosystem achieve its business goals, SAP provides an extensive
array of business support offerings. SAP’s flagship partner program, SAP PartnerEdge, offers
a tiered engagement model that provides marketing, sales, and technical enablement, as well
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as education, deal support, and a variety of other benefits and resources. We provide SAP
global partners — a select group of leading global technology, software, and services
companies — with dedicated teams that work closely with them to proactively engage in
business development and technical initiatives addressing specific market needs. Many of our
partners participate in SAP Community Network, an online community that facilitates
networking and information sharing for technical professionals. In addition, many participate in
the SAP Listens program, which surveys partners for feedback and provides insight into
projects we have initiated to address partner issues.

A vibrant partner ecosystem is essential to SAP’s success, and is a key component in our
ability to achieve our mission of helping businesses run better and improving the lives of
people everywhere.
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Performance
Key Facts

Performance Summary
€ millions, unless otherwise stated

2013 2012 Change
in %
Financial key performance indicators
Software and cloud subscriptions (IFRS) 5,212 4,928 6
Non-IFRS adjustments 63 73 -14
Software and cloud subscriptions (non-IFRS) 5,275 5,001 5
Software and software-related service revenue (IFRS) 13,950 13,165 6
Non-IFRS adjustments 82 81 1
Software and software-related service revenue (Non-IFRS) 14,032 13,246 6
Total revenue (IFRS) 16,815 16,223 4
Non-IFRS adjustments 82 81 1
Total revenue (non-IFRS) 16,897 16,304 4
Operating proft (IFRS) 4,479 4,041 11
Non-IFRS adjustments 1,035 1,148 -10
Operating profit (non-IFRS) 5,514 5,190 6
Operating margin as a percentage (IFRS) 26.6 24.9 7
Operating margin as a percentage (non-IFRS) 32.6 31.8 3
Free cash flow 3,266 3,281 0
Net liquidity —1,467 -2,502 41
Days’ sales outstanding (DSO, in days) 62 59 5
Equity ratio (total equity as a percentage of total assets) 59 54 10
Operating expenses
Research and development 2,282 2,261 1
Research and development (as a percentage of total revenue) 14 14 0
Number of employees in research and development at year-end” 17,804 18,012 -1
Financial performance measures
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic (in millions) 1,193 1,192 0




Earnings per share, basic (in €) 2.79 2.35 19
Dividend per ordinary share (in €) 1.00 0.85 18
SAP share price at year-end (in €) 62.31 60.69 3
Market capitalization (in € billions) 76.5 74.7 2
Employees and personnel expenses
Number of employees at year-end” 66,572 64,422 3
Personnel expenses per employee — excluding share-based payments (in 109 111 -1
€ thousands)
Women working at SAP (as a percentage) 31 30 3
Women in managementz) (total, as a percentage) 21.2 20.8 2
Employee Engagement Index (as a percentage) 77 79 -3
Business Health Culture Index (as a percentage) 67 66 2
Employee retention (as a percentage) 93.5 94.0 -1
Environment
Greenhouse gas emissions (in kilotons) 545 485 12
Greenhouse gas emissions per employee” (in tons) 8.3 7.9 5
Greenhouse gas emissions per € revenue (in grams) 324 30.0 8
Total energy consumption (in GWh) 910 860 6
Energy consumed per employee” (in kWh) 13,900 14,000 -1
Data center energy consumed (in GWh) 173 160 8
Data center energy per employee” (in kKWh) 2,633 2,598 1
Renewable energy sourced (as a percentage) 43 51 -16
Customers
Net Promoter Score (as a percentage) 121 8.9 36

") Full-time equivalents
2) Numbers based on year-end.
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Performance
Five Year Summary

SAP Group
(€ millions, unless otherwise stated)
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Revenue and income
Software and cloud subscriptions (IFRS) 5,212 4,928 4,125 3,424 2,735
Non-IFRS adjustments 63 73 0 0 0
Software and cloud subscriptions (non-IFRS) 5,275 5,001 4,125 3,424 2,735
Software and software-related service revenue 13,950 13,165 11,319 9,794 8,198
(IFRS)
Non-IFRS adjustments 82 81 27 74 11
Software and software-related service revenue 14,032 13,246 11,346 9,868 8,209
(non-IFRS)
Total revenue (IFRS) 16,815 16,223 14,233 12,464 10,672
Non-IFRS adjustments 82 81 27 74 11
Total revenue (non-IFRS) 16,897 16,304 14,260 12,538 10,683
Software and software-related service revenue 83 81 80 79 77
as a percentage of total revenue
Operating profit (IFRS) 4,479 4,041 4,884 2,591 2,588
Non-IFRS adjustments 1,035 1,148 -171 1,416 339
Operating profit (non-IFRS) 5,514 5,190 4,713 4,007 2,927
Operating margin as a percentage (IFRS) 26.6 24.9 34.3 20.8 24.3
Operating margin as a percentage (non-IFRS) 32.6 31.8 33.1 32.0 274
Operating margin as a percentage (non-IFRS at BS15 33.0 32.7 33.2 27.6
constant currency)
Share-based payments 327 522 68 58 54
Restructuring® 70 8 4 -3 198
Acquisition-related charges 555 537 448 300 271
Financial income, net —66 —72 —42 —67 -80
Profit before tax 4,396 3,796 4,767 2,338 2,435
Income tax expense -1,071 —-993 -1,331 -525 —685
Profit after tax 825 2,803 3,437 1,813 1,750

Profit before tax (as a percentage) 26 23 33 19 23




Return on equity (as a percentage) 22 21 31 20 22

Liquidity and cash flow

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,832 3,822 3,775 2,922 3,019
Net cash flows from investing activities -1,781 -5,964 -1,226 -3,994 —299
Net cash flows from financing activities -1,589 -194 -1,176 2,520 2,170
Free cash flow 3,266 3,281 3,330 2,588 2,794
Free cash flow as a percentage of total revenue 19 20 23 21 26
Cash conversion rate (net cash flows from 115 136 110 161 173
operating activities as a percentage of proft after

tax)

Cash and cash equivalents 2,748 2,477 4,965 3,518 1,884
Short-term investments 93 15 636 10 400
Group liquidity (cash and cash equivalents/short- 2,841 2,492 5,601 3,528 2,284
term investments/restricted cash)

Financial debts (due to banks, private 4,308 4,994 3,965 4,378 703
placements, bonds)

Net liquidity —1,467 -2,502 1,636 -850 1,581
Days’ sales outstanding (DSO, in days) 62 59 60 65 79

Assets, equity and liabilities

Trade and other receivables 3,963 4,005 3,577 3,177 2,598
Total current assets 7,352 6,928 9,669 7,143 5,255
Total non-current assets 19,741 19,378 13,558 13,696 8,119
Deferred cloud subscription and support revenue 443 317 4 2 0
(IFRS)

Non-IFRS adjustments 4 40 0 0 0
Deferred cloud subscription and support revenue 447 358 4 2 0
(non-IFRS)

Total current liabilities (including deferred income) 6,347 6,546 6,266 5,153 3,416
Total non-current liabilities (including deferred 4,699 5,627 4,254 5,862 1,467
income)

Total equity (including non-controlling interests) 16,048 14,133 12,7079) 9,824 8,491

Total assets 27,094 26,306 23,227 20,841 13,374
Equity ratio (total equity as a percentage of the 59 54 55 47 63
total assets)

Debt ratio (total liabilities as a percentage of total 41 46 45 53 37
assets)

Investment in goodwill, intangible assets or 1,812 6,859 657 5,502 299

property, plant, and equipment (including
capitalizations due to acquisitions)

Depreciation and amortization 951 863 724 534 499




Operating expenses

Cost of software and software-related services 2,597 2,555 2,107 1,823 1,658
Cost of professional services and other services 2,402 2,520 2,247 2,071 1,851
Total cost of revenue 4,999 5,075 4,354 3,894 3,509
Research and development 2,282 2,261 1,935 1,729 1,591
Research and development (as a percentage of 14 14 14 14 15
total revenue)
Research and development (as a percentage of 18 19 21 18 20
total operating expenses)
Number of employees in research and 17,804 18,012 15,861 15,884 14,813
development at year end”
Sales and marketing 4,131 3,912 3,083 2,646 2,199
General and administration 866 949 715 636 564
Financial performance measures
Issued shares at year-end (in millions) 1,229 1,229 1,228 1,227 1,226
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic (in 1,193 1,192 1,189 1,188 1,188
millions)
Earnings per share, basic (in €) 2.79 2.35 2.89 1.52 1.47
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted (in 1,195 1,193 1,190 1,189 1,189
millions)
Earnings per share, diluted (in €) 2.78 2.35 2.89 1.52 147
Dividend per ordinary share (in €) 1.00 0.85 1.10 0.60 0.50
Total dividend distributed®) 1,194 1,013 1,310 713 594
Total dividend distributed as a percentage of 36 36 38 39 34
profit after tax
SAP share price at year-end (in €) 62.31 60.69 40.85 38.10 33.00
SAP share prices — peak (in €) 64.80 61.43 45.90 38.40 35.26
SAP share prices — low (in €) 52.20 41.45 34.26 31.12 25.01
Market capitalization (in € billions) 76.5 74.7 50.2 46.7 40.5
Return on SAP ordinary shares® 1-year 4.20 52.10 8.70 17.00 32.90
investment period (as a percentage)
Return on SAP ordinary shares® 5-year 21.80 13.10 1.70 1.20 1.30
investment period (as a percentage)
Return on SAP ordinary shares® 10-year 7.90 13.80 2.20 3.20 -1.20
investment period (as a percentage)
Employees and personnel expenses
Number of employees at year-end3) 66,572 64,422 55,765 53,513 47,584
Number of employees, annual average3) 65,409 61,134 54,346 49,970 48,471
Personell expenses 7,489 7,286 5,880 5,261 4,963




Personell expenses — excluding share-based 7,162 6,764 5,812 5,203 4,909
payments

Personell expenses per employee — excluding 109 111 107 104 101
share-based payments (in € thousands)

Women working at SAP (as a percentage) 31 30 30 30 29
Women in management7) (total, as a percentage) 212 20.8 19.5 18.7 17.6
Women managing managers®”) (as a 14.3 14.5 13.5 13.7 14.7
percentage)

Women managing teams®)”) (as a percentage) 21.7 21.1 20.5 19.6 19.1
Employee Engagement Index (as a percentage) 77 79 77 68 69
Business Health Culture Index (as a percentage) 67 66 65 59 61
Employee retention (as a percentage) 93.5 94.0 92.8 92.9 94.2
Total turnover rate (as a percentage) 8 7 9 9 11

Environment

Greenhouse gas emissions (in kilotons) 545 485 490 455 480
Greenhouse gas emissions per employee3) (in 8.3 7.9 9.0 8.7 9.2
tons)

Greenhouse gas emissions per € revenue (in 324 30.0 34.4 36.4 42.0
grams)

Total energy consumption (in GWh) 910 860 860 845 860
Energy consumed per employeea) (in KWh) 13,900 14,000 15,700 16,100 16,500
Data center energy consumed (in GWh) 173 160 154 144 157
Data center energy per employees) (in kWh) 2,633 2,598 2,824 2,746 3,001
Renewable energy sourced (as a percentage) 43 51 32 32 0

Customers
Net Promoter Score®) (as a percentage) 121 8.9 0 0 0

) Amounts for 2009 to 2013 according to IFRS, unless otherwise stated

2) Includes —€5 million (2010) and €4 million (2009) acquisition-related charges

3) Full-time equivalents

4) 2013 numbers are based on the proposed dividend for 2013 and on 2013 closing level of treasury stock.

5) Assuming all dividends are reinvested

6) Relates to different levels of management position

7) Numbers based on year-end

8 n 2012, we adopted a new methodology for measuring customer loyalty: Net Promoter Score (NPS). There
are therefore no comparable NPS values for years prior to 2012.

9 Total equity after IAS 19 (revised) adoption: €12,689 million
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Employees and Social Investment

" Assured
Nothing has a greater impact on SAP’s long-term success than the creativity, talent, and

commitment of our people. Their ability to understand the needs of our customers and to
innovate delivers sustainable value to our company and society. Successful strategies to
attract, retain, develop, and engage our employees, therefore, are critical to driving a culture of
innovation, sustained growth, and profitability.

We continually review and evolve these strategies in response to the markets we serve,
demographic trends, and changes in our business model. As we move more of our business to
the cloud, we are navigating profound shifts in how people consume and create software. This
rapid change means that we innovate in much faster cycles than in the past. As a result, we
must have the right mix of talent and capabilities to support our customers and deliver on our
business strategy. Our people must be agile and able to connect quickly and seamlessly with
the consumers of our solutions.

We are seeking to complement our established employee base by hiring newer generations of
talent that bring a different perspective and skill set. We are also working to address shifting
expectations. Many professionals today are seeking a stronger sense of purpose in their work,
along with a creative, collaborative, and flexible job environment. Fostering this type of culture
is also critical to our ability to innovate.

To adapt to this evolving landscape, we are reviewing a wide range of areas, from how we
attract diverse talent and develop our employer brand to how we define what it means for our
leaders to develop and excel. In 2013, we took a number of steps to make our talent
management strategies even more effective in supporting our future innovation and growth.
Mobilizing the skills and passions of the people of SAP fuels not only our own success, but
also the success of our customers, as well as our ability to fulfill our vision to help the world
run better and improve people’s lives.

RECRUITING TALENT TO FULFILL OUR VISION

Throughout 2013, we continued to recruit employees throughout the world, with particular
emphasis on emerging markets, including Brazil, China, India, Russia, and Turkey. We are
also focused on countries in Africa — namely, Kenya, Nigeria, and South Africa. In addition to
our regional emphasis, we laid the foundation to attract talent with different skills to support
our cloud strategy. For example, we seek candidates with design expertise to help us create
software for the next generation of customers. In addition, we must meet increasing demand
for products that take a human-centered approach to design and are extremely easy to use.

To support these priorities, we undertook an end-to-end review of our talent management
process in 2013, with particular focus on how to attract and acquire newer generations of talent
(“early talent”). We recognize that to meet our business goals, we need a workforce that is
agile and multigenerational, with strong cross-cultural awareness. We are highlighting



opportunities for emerging talent to connect with a sense of purpose in their work at SAP. In
addition, we are creating new ways to interact with prospective hires, such as inviting our
employees to speak with college students, running design-thinking workshops on campus, and
expanding our presence on social media.

NURTURING TALENT AND LEADERSHIP

In 2013, we worked toward accelerating employee career development in several ways.
Specific projects included enhanced assessments of individual potential and development
needs, career development sessions, greater transparency of internal opportunities, and
expanded fellowships that allow people to work outside their regular roles. We encouraged
employees to work closely with their managers on an ongoing development plan and
introduced Success Map, a cloud-based solution developed by SuccessFactors, to enhance
talent management and employee development. In addition, we offer a wide range of
opportunities for our employees to develop their professional abilities, from e-learning courses
to coaching. To ensure that our learning portfolio focuses on the capabilities we need most as
an organization, we have been reviewing and refining these offerings. On average, our
employees engaged in approximately nine days of training in 2013, compared to 11 days in
2012.

We also undertook a review of our leadership culture to identify and enhance the qualities that
are critical as we shift our business model. As a result, we will increase our focus on hiring
and developing leaders who drive simplification and develop outstanding talent to ensure our
customers’ success. Two pilot programs have already provided our leaders with the
opportunity to explore such critical topics in depth, exploring how to lead through change,
inspire innovation, and take a holistic approach to leadership at SAP. In addition, we continue
to offer a comprehensive suite of leadership programs to all levels of management, from
coaching to specialized classroom learning. We are especially focused on deepening our
general management capabilities.

We believe that to address the complex problems faced by business and society, our
employees must understand and collaborate with people from a wide range of backgrounds
and perspectives. Our Social Sabbatical program supports this goal, taking an innovative
approach to developing talent while creating a positive impact in communities around the
world. A group of 72 high-performing SAP employees from 30 countries are working in close
collaboration with entrepreneurs, small and midsize enterprises, and nongovernmental
organizations (NGOs) in emerging markets. Projects run for one month and focus on helping
organizations grow, tackling business challenges, and expanding their impact. Programs are
currently running in Brazil, China, India, and South Africa. Social Sabbaticals demonstrate how
we can create value for SAP as well as others. Our employees return with an enhanced ability
to lead, design innovative solutions, and work across functions, sectors, and cultures.
Organizations benefit from fresh input and expertise that advances their mission to serve
society.

ENGAGING EMPLOYEES

In our 2013 People Survey, a general survey of all employees conducted every two years, we
achieved an overall employee engagement score of 77%. This is down from the engagement
index of 79% reached the previous year during a pulse check of half of our employees, but
equal to the score achieved during the last full People Survey in 2011. Our target for 2013 was
a score of 82%. We are now committed to achieving this score in 2015. Despite the slight drop
in employee engagement in 2013, we expect to see an incremental increase in our industry-
leading score in 2014.
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We attribute this to the fundamental transformation impacting the industry and to changes in
top management that took place this year. In response to the market and customers, we are
actively driving a growth and innovation strategy, with concerted efforts to be a leader in the
cloud with SAP HANA as the platform for the industry. At the same time, the Executive Board
has undergone significant changes in the past year, with a sole CEO model heralded for 2014.
We continually focus on driving engagement through a range of activities, from career
development to enhanced leadership. Finally, each board member has committed to following
up on a key topic from the People Survey. Employee engagement remains one of SAP’s four
company-wide strategic goals, along with revenue, margin, and customer loyalty.

RETAINING TALENT

In 2013, the employee retention rate at SAP worldwide was 93.5% (2012: 94.0%). We define
retention as the ratio of the average headcount (expressed in full-time equivalents) minus
employee-initiated terminations (turnover) divided by the average headcount. In 2013, the
average length of service at SAP worldwide was approximately 6.5 years (2012: 6.8 years).

In addition to measuring our retention rate, we also calculate its financial impact. We
conducted an analysis showing that for each percentage point that our retention rate goes up
or down, the impact on our operating profit is approximately €60 million.

We do not seek a general retention rate of 100%, as some turnover of talent supports our
ability to innovate. However, we view a high retention rate as a priority and work to retain talent
through our focus on employee engagement and career development. We are especially
focused on retention in highly competitive job markets such as in Brazil and China.

EXPANDING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP

In 2013, we continued our share-based compensation programs to give employees worldwide
the opportunity to participate in the long-term success of SAP. Our Employee Participation
Plan (EPP) is a global plan open to employees worldwide. The plan creates a common
financial incentive and reward for achieving the yearly milestones of our 2015 goals. Its
formula is based on virtual shares in the Company’s performance, allocated at the beginning of
the year, and on the performance of SAP stock. The 2013 tranche pays out in 2014.

The EPP is offered to employees in addition to our existing Share Matching Plan (SMP) and
Stock Option Plan (SOP). Under the SMP, eligible employees are invited to purchase SAP
shares at a discount of 40%. After a holding period of three years, employees receive one
SAP share free of charge for every three shares held. Participants in the 2010 tranche
received their free shares in 2013 after the holding period ended.

The SOP targets top executives and top performers with an allocation of stock options that
vest after three years. Beneficiaries who were granted options in 2010 were entitled to
exercise them in 2013 and benefited from the rise in the stock price.

For more information about share-based payments, see the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements section, Note (27).

DRIVING INNOVATION THROUGH DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

We reframed our approach to diversity and inclusion in 2013 to focus on four key areas that
are critical to innovation and sustainable long-term success: Gender Intelligence, Generational
Intelligence, Culture and Identity, and Differently Abled People. Across all four areas, we seek
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to support the unique contributions of every individual. For example, to increase understanding
and effectiveness among people of both genders, we conduct a workshop called Women and
Men Leading Together. Exploring the subtleties of gender dynamics, this workshop is now
mandatory for all senior executives.

We aim to help lead the tech industry in developing a better gender balance, and we continue
to work toward our goal of increasing the number of women in management from 18% in 2010
to 25% in 2017. Our overall percentage of women in the workforce slightly increased in 2013 to
31% (2012: 30%), and the percentage of women in management increased to 21.2% in 2013
from 20.8% in 2012. To further support progress, we offer executive sponsorships for women
and require that at least one diversity candidate is included on the short list for leadership and
other positions. In addition, all members of our Executive Board have committed to dedicated
action plans to support the recruitment, retention, and career advancement of candidates with
diverse backgrounds.

One of our most significant developments in 2013 was the introduction of our Autism at Work
initiative, which has drawn enormous support from the media, the public, and our employees.
We ran pilots in Canada, Germany, India, Ireland, and the United States, hiring an initial group
of people on the spectrum of autism disorders to work on specialized IT tasks such as
software testing. Autism at Work enables us to tap a broader pool of talent and spark
innovation by embracing differences in how people think, work, and tackle problems. We also
see potential to make a positive impact on people’s lives and facilitate a broader conversation
about autism that challenges assumptions and inspires change.

CREATING HEALTHY CULTURE

At SAP, we focus on the health of our employees as well as the health of our organizational
culture. The two are interrelated, and we want to ensure that people have the ability to manage
stress, balance their personal and professional lives, perform at their best, and thereby help
drive our innovation. Our Business Health Culture Index (BHCI), based on our People Survey,
assesses the degree to which our workplace culture supports people’s well-being and work/life
balance. In 2013, we achieved a BHCI score of 67%, compared to 66% in 2012. Given the
fast pace of change in the IT industry, we have set a goal of maintaining a score of 66% or
higher.

We work toward our health goals through such global initiatives as our Health and Innovation
Weeks, and workshops for managers on how to help their teams improve their resilience to
stress. In 2013, we piloted a program that offered employees in Austria and Ireland the chance
to create an in-depth personal health profile and identify opportunities to enhance their well-
being. Utilizing tools such as biofeedback, the program assessed everything from diet to sleep
habits to how the heart responds to stress. Highly popular with employees, the program
provided us with aggregated, anonymous data that will help guide our health efforts in the
future as we work to support creativity, resilience, and performance.

SOCIAL INVESTMENTS

Our social investment strategy leverages our talent, technology, and capital to create long-
term, sustainable change. In 2013, we continued to focus on two areas that are critical to both
SAP and society: Education and entrepreneurship. Fundamental to creating opportunity and
enabling people to join the market economy, education also helps to create a pipeline of talent
for SAP. Entrepreneurship plays an equally vital role in driving economic growth, creating jobs
and spurring innovation. As we provide emerging entrepreneurs with technology and other
support, we gain a deeper understanding of the market for small businesses and medium-size
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companies, positioning us to better serve customers in the future.

In 2013, SAP contributed about €20 million in cash donations to non-governmental and non-
profit organizations. We donated software to more than 1,300 non-profit organizations and
began a new program to provide the non-profit sector with analytics and cloud solutions. Our
employees volunteered about 125,000 hours in communities in 45 countries. In addition, the
SAP Solidarity Fund, a non-profit organization focused on helping those affected by
catastrophic events, responded to such disasters as the typhoon Haiyan in the Philippines and
the flood in Germany. SAP employees donated more than €240,000 to the fund in 2013, of
which SAP matched €185,000.

To advance our global entrepreneurship program, we identified 25 entrepreneurs in Brazil who
will receive a range of support from SAP, including technology and mentoring. We also
introduced a new program, Skills for Africa, which provides free educational opportunities in
information and communication technology (ICT) and helps people find employment. Our sister
program in Brazil, Instituto Esperansap, is now in its fourth year. These programs herald a new
way of thinking, where we play a direct role in preparing the next generation of talent and
developing a skilled workforce that will help drive our future growth.

HEADCOUNT

On December 31, 2013, we had 66,572 full-time equivalent (FTE) employees worldwide
(December 31, 2012: 64,422). This represents an increase in headcount of 2,150 FTEs in
comparison to 2012. Of the overall headcount increase in 2013, 1,111 resulted from
acquisitions. The average number of employees in 2013 was 65,409 (2012: 61,134).

We define the FTE headcount as the number of people we would employ if we only employed
people on full-time employment contracts. Students employed part-time and certain individuals
who are employed by SAP but who, for various reasons, are not currently working are
excluded from our figures. Also, temporary employees are not included in the above figures.
The number of such temporary employees is not material.

On December 31, 2013, the largest number of SAP employees (47%) were employed in the
EMEA region (including 26% in Germany and 21% in other countries in the region), while 29%
were employed in the Americas region (including 20% in the United States and 9% in other
countries in the region) and 24% in the APJ region.

Our worldwide headcount in the field of software and software-related services grew 7% to
11,261 FTEs (2012: 10,551). Cloud operations and support accounted for most of the
increase. Professional services and other services counted 14,629 FTEs at the end of 2013 -
an increase of 3% (2012: 14,259). Most of this increase was in consulting. A shift in the focus
of our industry solutions led to some movement of employees from research and development
to sales and marketing, resulting in a 1% headcount decrease to 17,804 FTEs (2012: 18,012)
in research and development and a 6% headcount increase to 15,824 FTEs (2012: 14,899) in
sales and marketing. Mainly as a result of our acquisition of hybris, general and administration
headcount rose 7% to 4,566 FTEs at the end of the year (2012: 4,286). Our infrastructure
employees, who provide IT and facility management services, numbered 2,488 FTEs — an
increase of 3% (2012: 2,415) that mainly resulted from our acquisitions and investments in our
company IT.

In the Americas region, headcount (FTEs) increased by 445, or 2%; in the EMEA region, the
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increase was 1,236, or 4%; and in the APJ region, it was 469, or 3%.

Our personnel expense per employee decreased to approximately €114,000 in 2013 (2012:
approximately €119,000). The decrease is primarily related to foreign exchange effects as the
majority of our employees is located outside of the eurozone and paid in local currency. The
personnel expense per employee is defined as the personnel expense divided by the average
number of employees. For more information about employee compensation and a detailed
overview of the number of people SAP employed, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements section, Note (7).

Number of Employees
Full-timea equivalents

47,584 53,513 55,765 64,422 66,572

15,568
30,993
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
I EMEAregion B Americas region © Asia Pacific Japan region
Employees by Functional Area
Full-time equivalents
Infrastructure Research and
2488 development
17.804
General and Professional services
administration and other sarvicas
4,566 14,629
Software and
software-related Sales and
Services marketing
11,261 15,824
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Over the past several years, we have worked to better understand the connections between

our energy consumption, its related cost, and the resulting environmental impact. Today we
measure and address our energy usage throughout SAP, as well as our greenhouse gas
emissions across our entire value chain. Since the beginning of 2008, we calculate that energy
efficiency initiatives have contributed to a cumulative cost avoidance of €260 million,
compared to a business-as-usual extrapolation.

Moreover, to credibly offer solutions that help our customers better manage their use of
resources, we must do so ourselves. By addressing the financial and environmental impact of
our energy consumption, we have gained valuable insights to create solutions for our
customers.

TOTAL ENERGY CONSUMED

Because our energy usage drives our emissions, one of the most important measures we look
at is our total energy consumed. This includes all energy that SAP produces or purchases — in
other words, the energy whose production causes emissions falling into Scopes 1 and 2 of the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol. Our total energy consumption increased to 910 gigawatt hours
(GWh) in 2013, compared to 860 GWh in 2012. This increase is due to significant growth in our
business. In addition, as software usage shifts to the cloud, we are hosting more of our
customers’ systems in our data centers, requiring additional servers and facilities that
consume more energy. As we describe in more detail below, we believe that this shift has the
opposite effect for our customers, who can save energy through our shared infrastructure.

As our business grows, we maintain the efficiency gains we have made over the past several
years. For example, our total corporate car fleet is not consuming more fuel despite the fact
that a significant number of company cars has been added, since the average company car
has become more fuel-efficient. So, while our car fleet grew by 6%, we had efficiency gains of
6% across the entire fleet. As a result, our total energy consumption remained steady at
13,900 kilowatt hours (kWh) per employee in 2013.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Our goal is to reduce the greenhouse gas emissions from our operations to levels of the year
2000 by 2020. This target includes direct and indirect emissions from running our business
(Scopes 1 and 2), as well as a limited subset of other indirect (Scope 3) emissions, such as
those stemming from business travel. We do not include all of our Scope 3 emissions in our
target because we chose to focus first on those emissions over which we have the most
control. However, as detailed in the Energy and Emissions Il section in the SAP Integrated
Report 2013 online, we are increasingly addressing both our upstream and downstream
emissions to drive a comprehensive carbon strategy for SAP.

In addition to our long-term goal for 2020, we have set annual targets. In 2013, our total
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emissions increased to 545 kilotons CO, (2012: 485 kilotons). As a result, we missed our

annual target to reduce our emissions to 460 kilotons. Just as with our increase in energy
consumption, our increased emissions reflect the growth of our business. Due to our
environmental efforts of the past, however, the overall absolute reduction achieved between
the beginning of 2008 and today is 9%. At the same time, the average number of employees
increased by almost 26%.

At the same time, we experienced some decrease in efficiency in 2013 as it relates to our
emissions. While our overall energy efficiency remained steady, our greenhouse gas
emissions increased from 30.0 grams CO, per euro of total revenue in 2012 to 32.4 grams CO,

per euro in 2013. Our carbon emissions per employee also increased by about 5% in 2013,
respectively.

One root cause for this development is our change in business model. As our customers
increasingly leverage SAP software in the cloud, our leadership in this market means that
systems that previously ran at our customers’ sites are increasingly running in SAP data
centers. In other words, the emissions that used to be caused by our customers running our
software have become SAP’s emissions. As a result, our emissions per employee and per
euro in revenue increased in 2013.

In 2014, we plan to address these emissions, as well as our overall footprint, by powering all
of our data centers and facilities with 100% renewable electricity. This shift will effectively
eliminate the emissions caused by our customers’ systems that have moved into our green
cloud. Given the large size of our customers’ footprints and our growth strategy in the cloud,
we see significant potential to reduce both our own and our customers’ environmental impact.
In 2013 alone, the emissions caused by SAP products in use at our more than 253,500
customers’ sites were at least 10 times larger than SAP's own footprint, meaning they caused
more than 5,800 ktons of CO,. By using 100% renewable energy, we will dramatically broaden

the reach of our sustainability efforts and align them with our cloud strategy. We believe this
move will not only help the world run better, but contribute to achieving our 2020 carbon target.

EFFICIENCY VERSUS TRANSFORMATION

Our results in 2013 point to an increasing challenge faced not only by SAP but also by our
customers. Companies typically increase their resource consumption when they grow. Under
traditional business models, they continuously create and sell more goods or services. For
this reason, many companies have focused on increasing their efficiency — a prime example is
the far better fuel efficiency of passenger cars today compared to decades ago.

Efficiency, however, has its limits. The demands of growth, as we are discovering, often
overtake efficiency gains. Extending the example of cars — we have many more cars on the
road today, which more than cancels out the reduction in consumption per car. For this
reason, and in addition to our green cloud strategy, we are increasingly focused on another
path to sustainable growth — applying technology innovation to transformations in how
business is conducted.

In the case of SAP, we are seeking to bring about transformations in a range of areas, from
incentivizing behavioral change to supporting innovative approaches to conserving resources.
TwoGo by SAP, for instance, is a ride-sharing application that turns the daily commute into an
economic, social, and environmental opportunity. We began offering TwoGo by SAP to other
companies in 2013, supporting their own efforts to reduce the cost of fuel, parking and
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business trips, enhance employee networks, change behavior, and reduce emissions. For
more information on this innovation, see www.twogo.com.

NET POSITIVE IMPACT

As the example of TwoGo by SAP shows, we ultimately aim to help other organizations with
their journey toward change. While we are committed to improving our own environmental
performance, we believe that we can make a far greater impact by helping our customers
reduce their energy use and emissions. We are increasingly focused on facilitating and
measuring this “enabler effect,” which our software supports in both direct and indirect ways. A
prime example of the former is a transportation application that enables companies to better
manage their freight and routes to reduce fuel consumption. Indirectly, our customers can use
our analytics to assess their operations and make adjustments that will save energy, reduce
emissions, and lower costs. For example, our software can help determine when equipment
needs refurbishment or support manufacturers in negotiating better energy rates during peak
times. Through the advanced computing power of SAP HANA, we can now help companies
make these adjustments in real time, increasing their efficiency even further.

Based on a study from Global e-Sustainability Initiative (GeSI SMARTer2020) assessing the
potential effect for the information and communications technology (ICT) industry overall as
well as our own estimates, we believe that our solutions contribute to an avoidance of
emissions that eclipses the footprint of our entire value chain, including our downstream
emissions (use of our software at customers’ sites). Putting such estimates in tangible terms,
the total emissions generated by ICT are expected to reach 1.3 gigatons (Gt) of carbon by
2020. By contrast, ICT has the potential to abate 9.1 Gt CO, in that same time period.

Similarly, we estimate that SAP’s downstream emissions will reach 0.0091 Gt CO, by 2020.
Global emissions, on the other hand, are expected to reach 55 Gt CO, by that time — offering

enormous potential for ICT as a whole and for SAP to enable reductions.

We will continue developing methodology to estimate this impact so that we can direct our
strategy and resources to those areas where we can create the greatest long-term impact.
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WHAT CAUSES OUR EMISSIONS: A DETAILED VIEW
We look at our energy usage and emissions throughout our entire value chain, gaining insights
to help us manage our environmental performance and, in turn, help our customers do the
same. Below we highlight the activities and trends that lie behind our results for 2013, from
where we consume the most purchased electricity to the impact we have through the use of
our products.

Target relevant®
15% 3% 82 %
ﬂpera tions Downstream
“ #1 % Facilities 82 % Use of Sold Products
#2 % Corporate Cars
Upstream

* 4% Business Travel
¥« 1% Employes Commuting

6% Purchased Goods & Services
4% Capital Goods
< 1% Fuel & Energy Related Activities

DIRECT EMISSIONS (SCOPE 1)

Consumption of fuel for our company cars remains the single greatest contributor to our Scope
1 emissions. In 2013, we worked to become even more efficient by reducing the cap on
emissions for our corporate car fleet. In addition, we focused on greater shifts in commuting
habits. For example, TwoGo by SAP, an SAP solution for commuting, not only makes ride-
sharing more efficient, but also helps change employee attitudes and behavior. We are also
pursuing a deeper level of change by providing incentives to our employees to purchase
electric cars, and we will continue to seek more mobility alternatives for our employees in the
future.

INDIRECT EMISSIONS (SCOPE 2)

Our purchased electricity powers everything from our data centers to our buildings throughout
the world. We continued a wide range of efficiency projects to reduce our energy usage,
including facility upgrades and new LEED certifications. We also expanded the management
of our environmental performance through ISO 14001.
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Data center energy

Data centers are at the heart of how SAP provides solutions to our customers. The energy
consumption in data centers is closely related to technology innovation and customer adoption
of our solutions. In 2013, our data center electricity consumption increased from 160 gigawatt
hours (GWh) to 173 GWh. On a per employee basis, it went from 2,598 kilowatt hours (kWh)
per employee to 2,633 kWh per employee; this represents an increase of 1.3%. Energy usage
in our data centers contributed to 6% of our total emissions in 2013, compared with 5% in
2012.

The increased energy consumption in our data centers, as with our total energy consumption,
reflects SAP’s growth and the expansion of our business model to the cloud. In the past, one
of our prime strategies for reducing our data center energy consumption was to virtualize our
servers. In line with this strategy, SAP will accelerate and enhance the virtualization efforts
around SAP HANA, one of the most important technology and platforms we offer our
customers. The number of virtual servers in our data centers increased from 67% in 2012 to
69% in 2013. In 2011, 65% of our servers were virtual.

Renewable energy

Our investment in renewable energy reduces our carbon footprint while supporting broader
shifts in the energy market. We are committed to buying from renewable sources — namely,
hydro, wind, solar, and biomass. In 2013, renewable energy accounted for 43% of our total
electricity, compared with 51% in 2012 and 32% in 2011. This decrease is due to our
acquisition of Ariba and SuccessFactors, which did not use any renewable energy, as well as
a decrease in the purchase of renewable energy certificates. While renewable energy
continued to meet our electricity needs in a number of locations, we recognize that we will
need to increase our investment to reach our long-term goal. Therefore, SAP will use 100%
renewable energy in its data centers and facilities starting in 2014 (see also “Downstream
Emissions” below).

UPSTREAM EMISSIONS (SCOPE 3)

About 15% of our carbon footprint comes from our upstream emissions, which stem from our
purchase of goods and services. Our supply chain provides us with opportunities to improve
our environmental performance, because we can have influence on our suppliers and buying
practices. For example, our business flights alone account for about 45% of our total
emissions calculated against our target.

In addition to working with our suppliers on improvements, we are encouraging the use of
virtual meeting technology. One innovation is virtual studios, where our employees can
interact virtually with customers in a different location in a compelling way. We introduced
these studios in 2013 in a range of locations, including Australia, China, Dubai, Germany,
India, Singapore, and Spain.

DOWNSTREAM EMISSIONS (SCOPE 3)

The vast majority of our overall emissions stem from the use of our software. When SAP
software runs on our customers’ hardware and on their premises, the resulting carbon footprint
is about 26 times the size of our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions. We have developed a
strategy to help our customers, hardware providers, and others address this impact. Given
that we cannot control our customers’ IT landscapes because they usually contain many
elements not related to SAP software, we share this responsibility with others.

Our downstream emissions strategy focuses on two main areas. The first is landscape
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optimization. We work with our customers to help them decommission legacy systems,
archive unused data, and consolidate their business applications, as well as virtualize their
system landscape — all of which helps reduce the size and cost of their IT environment. The
second part of our strategy involves SAP HANA, which not only increases computing speed
but can also help create much leaner and simpler operations. With SAP HANA, we are now
merging the worlds of analytic and transactional data into one real-time, in-memory platform,
which can further simplify the system landscape for our customers.

One of the most important ways that we can help our customers reduce their energy usage
and emissions is by managing their SAP systems through managed cloud services provided
by SAP Cloud powered by SAP HANA, thereby enabling them to share our infrastructure.
While we require more servers and use more energy to provide this service, we estimate that
this increase is smaller than the energy reductions we are facilitating for our customers. In
addition, we are shifting to 100% renewable energy in our data centers in 2014, which will
enable us to power our customers’ systems in our “green” cloud without any increase in
emissions. In this way, our cloud strategy will further advance our ability to help our customers
reduce their carbon footprints.

OFFSETS

It is our policy to only apply offsets to our Scope 3 emissions, and to date, we have not
bought offsets even for this purpose. Instead, we have made a 20-year investment of €3
million in the Livelihoods Fund, a unique investment fund whose returns consist of high-quality
carbon credits. We expect that, over 20 years, this investment will enable us to offset an
estimated 700 kilotons of carbon. The fund supports the sustainability of agricultural and rural
communities worldwide. In eastern India, for example, it is helping communities plant fruit
trees to diversify food sources and address over-cultivation of soil. This way, we are making a
financial investment that brings benefits to society, the environment and SAP. In effect, we
have changed from a consumer of carbon credits to a producer of them.
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CREATING A GLOBAL APPROACH FOR RECYCLING E-WASTE
Taking steps to recycle our waste and save water contributes to both our environmental and
business performance, as we keep waste out of landfills, reduce our operational costs, and
engage our employees in our efforts.

While we seek to reduce all forms of waste — from the food in our cafeteria to the paper in our
printers — our single largest source of waste comes from the IT equipment that we use to
develop our software and serve our customers. This consists of laptops, PCs, CDs,
peripherals, and a range of mobile devices including tablets and smartphones. We set an
ambitious target for 2013 to have 1.11 laptops or PCs per user. (At the end of 2011, the ratio
was 1.18 devices per user, and in 2012, it was 1.15 devices.) Our developers sometime need
multiple devices to test software on different platforms.

In 2013, we achieved this rate of 1.11 laptops or PCs per user, totaling approximately 80,000
in use throughout SAP. For 2014, we have set a goal of 1.10 devices per user. We also
continued to implement changes that we began several years ago. At that time, we took a
major step to recycle our e-waste by contracting with a global disposal partner considered one
of the world’s most sustainable companies. This partner adheres to ISO 14001 standards and
ensures that we have one uniform disposal process for e-waste worldwide. In addition, we run
a used equipment shop in Germany that offers “gently used” devices to employees who may
not require new equipment.

In 2013, most SAP locations adopted the new process to dispose of the hardware used by our
employees. In 2013, we estimate that we will be able to recycle up to 98% ") of our electronic
equipment.

COMPOSTING AND RECYCLING OUR ORGANIC AND OTHER WASTE IN MULTIPLE
LOCATIONS THROUGHOUT THE WORLD
In addition to e-waste, we estimate that we generated approximately 12 kilotons of waste in

our offices, cafeterias, and product packaging worldwide in 2013, compared to 10 kilotons in
2012.

To reduce this waste, we run comprehensive recycling programs for our offices and cafeterias.
For example, we recover leftover food in our Walldorf headquarters for use in an external
composting plant. SAP Labs in Bangalore, India, has installed an “organic waste converter’ to
recycle organic waste from the large food services and cafeteria operations on its campus into
odor-free, homogenized compost. At SAP Labs in Palo Alto, we recycle nearly 100% of office
and catering waste.

Beyond recycling, we try to use more sustainable materials in our business. For example,
while we seek to encourage electronic downloads of our software, we package our software
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compact discs in cardboard and paper instead of plastic when customers request a physical
disk. Employees in our German locations only use recycled paper, and we are seeking to
expand the availability and use of recycled paper elsewhere in EMEA as well. From 2009 to
2013, we have reduced our paper usage by more than 30% through a printing optimization
initiative that, among other improvements, sets our printers to a default setting for double-
sided printing. In 2013, we piloted a new pull printing system under which our employees must
bring their badge to the printing room to activate a job — thereby heightening awareness and
adding a step to the printing process.

USING GRAY WATER, INSTALLING WATERLESS BATHROOM FIXTURES, AND OTHER
EFFICIENCY EFFORTS

While our operations are not water-intensive, we continue to use water as efficiently as
possible. We estimate that we used approximately 1,269,000 cubic meters of water worldwide
in 2013 (924,500 cubic meters in 2012). As part of our efficiency efforts, we use run-off water,
also known as gray water, for irrigation and toilets in Walldorf, Germany. In some of our offices
in Brazil, Canada, India, Israel, Singapore, Switzerland, and the United States, we have
installed waterless bathroom fixtures, pressure reduction valves, and reduced-flush toilets. We
have very few offices in areas with extreme water scarcity. For example, in Bangalore, India,
we address this issue with a dedicated water management that ranges from technical changes
to reuse of treated sewage water and employee awareness campaigns.

As in other areas, we pursue innovation to drive further improvements. For example, we are
looking at the potential to reuse the water that is used to cool our buildings in warmer locations

throughout the world.

) The recycling rate is based on 2012 data.
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SAP AG is headquartered in Walldorf, Germany, and is the parent company of the SAP

Group, which comprises 272 companies. SAP AG is the Group holding company and employs
most of the Group’s Germany-based development and service and support personnel.

As the owner of the intellectual property in most SAP software, SAP AG derives its revenue
mainly from software license fees paid by its subsidiaries for the right to market SAP
solutions.

The SAP AG annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the reporting
standards in the German Commercial Code (as amended by the German Accounting Law
Modernization Act) and the German Stock Corporation Act. The full SAP AG annual financial
report and unqualified audit report are submitted to the operator of the Elektronischer
Bundesanzeiger (Online German Federal Gazette) for publication and inclusion in the
Unternehmensregister (German Business Register). It is available from SAP AG on request.

INCOME

The income statement uses the nature of expense method and presents amounts in millions
of euros.

SAP AG Income Statement — German Commercial Code Short Version

€ millions

2013 2012
Total revenue 8,413 7,812
Other operating income 893 796
Cost of services and materials —2,896 —-2,610
Personnel expenses -1,390 -1,417
Depreciation and amortization -309 -278
Other operating expenses -2,197 -2,215
Operating profit 2,514 2,088
Finance income 825 1,144
Income from ordinary activities 3,339 3,232
Income taxes —834 —721

Net income 2,505 2,511




The total revenue of SAP AG in 2013 was €8,413 million (2012: €7,812 million), an increase of
8%. Product revenue increased 4% to €6,543 million (2012: €6,295 million). As in previous
years, product revenue was primarily generated from license fees paid by subsidiaries of SAP
AG. The increase in SAP AG revenue in 2013 was therefore principally the result of the
increase in software and software-related service revenue achieved by the SAP Group.

Other operating income increased €97 million to €893 million (2012: €796 million). The year-
over-year increase is due primarily to a rise in gains from currency effects.

SAP AG operating profit increased 20% to €2,514 million (2012: €2,088 million). SAP AG cost
of services and materials increased 11% to €2,896 million (2012: €2,610 million). SAP AG
cost of services and materials comprises third-party services, including those provided by
SAP subsidiaries. SAP AG personnel expenses, mainly the labor cost of the developers,
service and support employees, and administration staff employed by SAP AG, decreased
slightly by 2% to €1,390 million (2012: €1,417 million) in spite of headcount increase, primarily
because of a significant decrease in share-based payment related expenses. Other operating
expenses decreased 1% to €2,197 million, mainly due to lower currency losses that declined
€39 million compared to the previous year.

Finance income was €825 million (2012: €1,144 million), a decrease of €319 million compared
with the previous year, mainly caused by a €322 million decrease in income from securities
classified as financial assets and €108 million decrease in investment income. This decrease
in finance income was offset by increases of €10 million in income from profit transfer
agreements and €26 million in net interest income, as well as a decrease of €76 million in
write-downs of financial assets.

SAP AG income from ordinary activities, which is the sum of operating profit and finance
income, increased 3% to €3,339 million (2012: €3,232 million). Income tax increased 19% to
€831 million (2012: €701 million). The primary cause was a large reduction in income from
securities classified as financial assets, much of which is non-taxable. After deducting taxes,
the resultant net income decreased €6 million year over year to €2,505 million (2012: €2,511
million).

ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION
In 2013, SAP AG total assets closed at €22,055 million (2012: €21,037 million).

SAP AG Balance Sheet — German Commercial Code Short Version
€ millions

12/31/2013 12/31/2012
Assets
Intangible assets 289 406
Property, plant, and equipment 965 917
Financial assets 16,857 16,664
Fixed assets 18,111 17,987
Inventories 2 4

Accounts receivable 2,857 2,541
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Liquid assets 884 307

Short-term assets 3,743 2,852
Prepaid expenses and deferred 113 115
charges

Deferred taxes 63 74
Surplus arising from offsetting 25 9
Total assets 22,055 21,037

Equity and liabilities

Shareholders’ equity 11,295 9,717
Provisions 1,203 1,251
Other liabilities 9,549 10,063
Deferred income 8 6
Total shareholders’ equity and 22,055 21,037
liabilities

Financial assets increased 1% compared with the previous year to €16,857 million, primarily
caused by the increase in contributions to subsidiaries. Short-term assets stood at €3,743
million (2012: €2,852 million), a year-over-year increase of €891 million. €316 million of the
increase is attributable to accounts receivable and €577 million to liquid assets.

SAP AG shareholders’ equity rose 16% to €11,295 million (2012: €9,717 million). Against
outflows of €1,013 million associated with the payment of the 2012 dividend, there was a
€2,505 million increase in net income and an inflow of €86 million from the issuance of shares
to service the share-based payments of employees and Executive Board members. The
equity ratio (that is, the ratio of shareholders’ equity to total assets) increased from 46% in
2012 to 51% in 2013.

Provisions decreased €48 million to €1,203 million. While the other provisions decreased €107
million to €662 million, mainly due to lower share-based payment related provisions, the
reserves for tax increased €58 million to €539 million.

Other liabilities decreased €514 million to €9,549 million (2012: €10,063 million). This decrease
is mainly attributable to contrasting effects: On the one hand, SAP AG made a scheduled
repayment of a bond in the amount of €600 million; on the other, SAP AG liabilities to affiliated
companies decreased €95 million, mainly due to increased cash contribution by subsidiaries
through SAP AG’s centralized management of finance and liquidity.

SAP AG Cash Flow Statement — German Commercial Code Short Version
€ millions

2013 2012

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,987 2,334

Net cash flows from investing activities —485 —4,598




Net cash flows from financing activities -1,975 =271

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 527 —2,535
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 307 2,842
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 834 307

Mainly due to the mentioned cash contributions by subsidiaries through SAP AG’s centralized
management of finance and liquidity as well as to positive business performance, the cash
flow from operating activities increased €653 million to €2,987 million in 2013 (2012: €2,334
million).

SAP AG used net cash flows from investing activities of €485 million in 2013 (2012: €4,598
million), a year-over-year decrease of €4,113 million. The outflows were €500 million for
property, plant and equipment and financial assets and €50 million for long-term investments.
They were in part offset by inflows of €66 million from sales of property, plant and equipment
and financial assets. In the prior year, contributions to subsidiaries’ capital related to the
acquisition of SuccessFactors and Ariba occasioned outflows of €4,830 million.

Net cash flows from financing activities were €1,975 million in 2013 compared to €271 million
in 2012. In 2013, SAP AG outflows included the dividend of €1,013 million (2012: €1,310
million and repayments of financial liabilities of €1,015 million. On the other hand, SAP AG
generated inflows of €53 million from the reissuance of treasury shares and the issuance of
new shares for share-based payments.

At the close of the year, SAP AG held €834 million in short-term liquid assets (2012: €307
million), a year-over-year decrease of €527 million.

OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS
SAP AG is subject to materially the same opportunities and risks as the SAP Group. For more
information, see the Opportunity Report and the Risk Report sections.
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EXECUTIVE BOARD’S ASSESSMENT
SAP delivered strong revenue and profit growth in 2013. SAP HANA, our platform for real-time
business applications, was a major growth engine in 2013. SAP Business Suite powered by
SAP HANA is becoming a leading platform for high-perform applications.

Our stable, highly profitable core business and our fast-growing cloud business can together
deliver continued growth and an expanding margin. We still aim to increase total revenue
growth, both for the near term and for the medium term. At the same time, we want to build
still greater profitability for our business. All in all, SAP remains in good financial shape.

INFLUENCE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES ON OUR FINANCIAL POSITION
For more information about our accounting policies, see the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements section, Note (3).

There are no off-balance sheet financial instruments, such as sale-and-lease-back
transactions, asset-backed securities, and liabilities related to structured entities, that are not
disclosed in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Bob Calderoni, president of Ariba, an SAP company, and a member of our Global Managing

Board, decided to leave SAP with effect from January 15, 2014.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS OF SAP GROUP FOR THE YEARS

ENDED DECEMBER 31,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR SAP

GROUP FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF SAP GROUP

AS AT DECEMBER 31,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF SAP GROUP

AS AT DECEMBER 31,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS OF SAP GROUP FOR THE

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (PDF)

Consolidated Income Statements of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31,

€ millions, unless otherwise stated

Notes 2013 2012 2011

Software 4,516 4,658 4,107
Cloud subscriptions and support 696 270 18
Software and cloud subscriptions 5,212 4,928 4,125
Support 8,738 8,237 7,194
Software and software-related service revenue 13,950 13,165 11,319
Consulting 2,242 2,442 2,341
Other service 623 616 573
Professional services and other service revenue 2,865 3,058 2,914
Total revenue (5) 16,815 16,223 14,233
Cost of software and software-related services —2,597 -2,555 -2,107
Cost of professional services and other services -2,402 -2,520 —2,247



http://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/performance/consolidated-financial-statements-ifrs.html#c8109
http://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/performance/consolidated-financial-statements-ifrs.html#c8105
http://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/performance/consolidated-financial-statements-ifrs.html#c8101
http://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/performance/consolidated-financial-statements-ifrs.html#c8095
http://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/en/performance/consolidated-financial-statements-ifrs.html#c8091
http://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/fileadmin/user_upload/2013/Downloadcenter/EN/21_03_2014/SAP_GB13_E-Notes.pdf
https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/fileadmin/user_upload/2013/Konzernabschluss_nach_IFRS/SAP_GB13_E-Notes.pdf#page=27

Total cost of revenue —4,999 -5,075 —4,354

Gross profit 11,816 11,147 9,879
Research and development —2,282 -2,261 -1,935
Sales and marketing —4,131 -3,912 -3,083
General and administration —866 -949 —715
Restructuring (18) -70 -8 —4
TomorrowNow litigation (23) 0 0 717
Other operating income/expense, net (6) 12 23 25
Total operating expenses -12,336 -12,181 -9,348
Operating profit 4,479 4,041 4,884
Other non-operating income/expense, net (8) -17 -173 -75
Finance income 115 103 119
Finance costs -181 -175 -161
Financial income, net (9) -66 -72 -42
Profit before tax 4,396 3,796 4,767
Income tax TomorrowNow litigation 0 0 -281
Other income tax expense -1,071 —-993 -1,049
Income tax expense (10) -1,071 -993 -1,331
Profit after tax 3,325 2,803 3,437
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests -1 0 1
Profit attributable to owners of parent 3,326 2,803 3,435
Earnings per share, basic (in €) (11) 2.79 2.35 2.89
Earnings per share, diluted (in €) (11) 2.78 2.35 2.89

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for SAP Group for the Years Ended

December 31,
€ millions

Notes 2013 2012 2011

Profit after tax 3,325 2,803 3,437

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements on defined benefit pension plans (18) 16 -12 =17

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified (10) -3 4 5

Other comprehensive income after tax for items that will not be 13 -8 -12
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reclassified to profit or loss

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (20)
Exchange differences -576 -214 106
Available-for-sale financial assets (26) 60 13 -7
Cash flow hedges (25) 0 63 -1
Income tax relating to items that will be reclassified (10) -8 -20 7
Other comprehensive income after tax for items that will be -524 -157 105
reclassified to profit or loss
Other comprehensive income net of tax -511 -165 93
Total comprehensive income 2,814 2,638 3,530
attributable to owners of parent 2,815 2,638 3,530
attributable to non-controlling interests -1 0 1
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position of SAP Group as at December 31,
€ millions
Notes 2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents 2,748 2,477
Other financial assets (12) 251 154
Trade and other receivables (13) 3,865 3,917
Other non-financial assets (14) 346 294
Tax assets 142 85
Total current assets 7,352 6,928
Goodwil (15) 13,688 13,192
Intangible assets (15) 2,956 3,234
Property, plant, and equipment (16) 1,820 1,708
Other financial assets (12) 607 509
Trade and other receivables (13) 98 88
Other non-financial assets (14) 107 68
Tax assets 172 170
Deferred tax assets (10) 294 408
Total non-current assets 19,741 19,378
Total assets 27,094 26,306
Trade and other payables 17) 850 870
Tax liabilities 433 440
Financial liabilities 17) 748 802
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Other non-financial liabilities 17) 2,263 2,204
Provision TomorrowNow litigation (23) 223 234
Other provisions 422 609

Provisions (18) 645 843

Deferred income (19) 1,408 1,386

Total current liabilities 6,347 6,546

Trade and other payables 17) 45 63

Tax liabilities 318 388

Financial liabilities (17) 3,758 4,446

Other non-financial liabilities 17) 112 98

Provisions (18) 277 347

Deferred tax liabilities (10) 115 223

Deferred income (19) 74 62

Total non-current liabilities 4,699 5,627
Total liabilities 11,046 12,173

Issued capital 1,229 1,229

Share premium 551 492

Retained earnings 16,258 13,934

Other components of equity —718 -194

Treasury shares -1,280 -1,337

Equity attributable to owners of parent 16,040 14,125
Non-controlling interests 8 8
Total equity (20) 16,048 14,133
Equity and liabilities 27,094 26,306

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended December

31,

€ millions

Notes 2013 2012 2011
Profit after tax 3,325 2,803 3,437
Adjustments to reconcile profit after taxes to net cash flows
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization (15), (16) 951 863 724
Income tax expense (10) 1,071 993 1,331
Financial income, net (9) 66 72 42
Decrease/increase in sales and bad debt allowances on 42 -25 -18
trade receivables
Other adjustments for non-cash items 57 31 14
Decrease/increase in trade and other receivables -110 —298 —426
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Decrease/increase in other assets -131 -23 -39
Decreaselincrease in trade payables, provisions, and other -176 420 —404
liabilities
Decrease/increase in deferred income 125 154 121
Cash outflows due to TomorrowNow litigation (23) —1 7 -52
Interest paid -159 -165 -139
Interest received 67 92 92
Income taxes paid, net of refunds —1,295 -1,102 -908
Net cash flows from operating activities 3,832 3,822 3,775
Business combinations, net of cash and cash equivalents (4) -1,160 —6,094 -188
acquired
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant, and —566 -541 —445
equipment
Proceeds from sales of intangible assets or property, plant, 66) 39 55
and equipment
Purchase of equity or debt instruments of other entities -1,531 -1,022 —2,046
Proceeds from sales of equity or debt instruments of other 1,421 1,654 1,398
entities
Net cash flows from investing activities -1,781 -5,964 -1,226
Purchase of non-controlling interests 0 0 -28
Dividends paid (21) -1,013 -1,310 -713
Purchase of treasury shares (21) 0 -53 —246
Proceeds from reissuance of treasury shares 49 90 251
Proceeds from issuing shares (share-based payments) 0 15 46
Proceeds from borrowings 1,000 5,778 519
Repayments of borrowings -1,625 —-4,714 -1,005
Net cash flows from financing activities -1,589 -194 -1,176
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and -191 -152 74
cash equivalents
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents 271 -2,488 1,447
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the (21) 2,477 4,965 3,518
period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (21) 2,748 2,477 4,965

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.


https://www.sapintegratedreport.com/2013/fileadmin/user_upload/2013/Konzernabschluss_nach_IFRS/SAP_GB13_E-Notes.pdf#page=62
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(1) GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of

SAP AG and its subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “us,” “our,” “SAP”
“Group,” and “Company”) have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The
designation “IFRS" includes all standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and related
interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC).

We have applied all standards and interpretations that were
effective on and endorsed by the European Union (EU) as at
December 31, 2013. There were no standards or interpretations
impacting our Consolidated Financial Statements for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, that were effective
but not yet endorsed. Therefore our Consolidated Financial
Statements comply with both IFRS as issued by the IASB and
with IFRS as endorsed by the EU.

Our Executive Board approved the Consolidated Financial
Statements on February 20, 2014, for submission to our
Supervisory Board.

All amounts included in the Consolidated Financial Statements
are reported in millions of euros (€ millions) except where
otherwise stated. Due to rounding, numbers presented through-
out this document may not add up precisely to the totals

we provide and percentages may not precisely reflect the
absolute figures.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(2) SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
The Consolidated Financial Statements include SAP AG and
all subsidiaries of SAP AG.

The following table summarizes the changes in the number of
entities included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Entities Consolidated in the Financial Statements

German Foreign Total
December 31, 2011 23 176 199
Additions 4 92 96
Disposals -5 =23 -28
December 31, 2012 22 245 267
Additions 1 24 25
Disposals -1 -19 -20
December 31, 2013 22 250 272

The additions relate to legal entities added in connection with
acquisitions and foundations. The disposals are due to sales,
mergers and liquidations of legal entities.

In August 2013, we acquired hybris AG, which may affect
comparability of our 2013 Consolidated Financial Statements
with our 2012 and 2011 Consolidated Financial Statements. For
more information about our business combinations and the
effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements, see



(3) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(3a) Bases of Measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on

the historical cost basis except for the following:

— Derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale financial
assets, and liabilities for cash-settled share-based payments
are measured at fair value.

— Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at period-end exchange rates.

— Post-employment benefits are measured according to IAS 19
(Employee Benefits) as described in

Where applicable, information about the methods and assump-
tions used in determining the respective measurement bases
is disclosed in the Notes specific to that asset or liability.

(3b) Relevant Accounting Policies

Business Combinations and Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method as at the closing date, which is the date on which we
obtain control of the acquiree. The consideration transferred in
an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets trans-
ferred and liabilities incurred at the date of transfer of control.
Settlements of pre-existing relationships are not included in
the consideration transferred. Such amounts are recognized in
profit and loss. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a business combination (including contingent
consideration) are measured at their acquisition date fair values.
Changes in contingent consideration classified as a liability at
the acquisition date are recognized in profit and loss unless
they related to facts that existed at the measurement date that
we become aware of during the measurement period. We
decide on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to
measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are accounted

v Assured

as expense in the periods in which the costs are incurred
and the services are received, with the expense being classified
as general and administration expense.

The excess of the consideration transferred in a business
combination over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill.

With respect to at-equity investments, the carrying amount of
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries that use

a functional currency other than the euro are translated at the
closing rate at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.
Income and expenses are translated at average rates of
exchange computed on a monthly basis. All resulting exchange
differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.
Exchange differences from monetary items denominated in
foreign currency transactions that are part of a long-term
investment (that is, settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur in the foreseeable future) are also included in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is disposed
of, liquidated, or abandoned, the foreign currency translation
adjustments applicable to that entity are reclassified from
other comprehensive income to profit or loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



On initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are
recorded in the respective functional currencies of Group
entities by applying to the foreign currency amount the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies

are remeasured at the period-end closing rate. Resulting
exchange differences are recognized, in the period in which
they arise, in other non-operating expense.

Operating cash flows of foreign subsidiaries are translated into
euros using average rates of exchange computed on a monthly
basis. Investing and financing cash flows of foreign subsidiaries

v Assured

are translated into euros using the exchange rates in effect
at the time of the respective transaction. The effect of
exchange rate changes on cash is reported in a separate line
item in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Any goodwill arising from the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated

at the respective closing rates.

The exchange rates of key currencies affecting the Company
were as follows:

Exchange Rates

Equivalent to €1
Closing Rate as at December 31, Annual Average Exchange Rate
2013 2012 2013 2012 2011
U.S. dollar uUsD 1.3791 1.3194 1.3301 1.2862 1.3863
Pound sterling GBP 0.8337 0.8161 0.8482 0.8104 0.8656
Japanese yen JPY 144.72 11361 130.21 103.05 110.17
Swiss franc CHF 1.2276 1.2072 1.2302 1.2055 1.2299
Canadian dollar CAD 1.4671 1.3137 1.3710 1.2843 1.3739
Australian dollar AUD 1.5423 1.2712 1.3944 1.2419 1.3436

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue from fees charged to our customers for
(a) licenses to our on-premise software products, (b) the use
of our hosted cloud subscription software offerings and (c)
support, consulting, development, training, and other services.
The majority of our software arrangements include support
services, and many also include professional services and
other elements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Software and software-related service revenue, as shown in our
Consolidated Income Statements, is the sum of our software
revenue, our support revenue and our cloud subscriptions and
support revenue. Professional services and other service
revenue as shown in our Consolidated Income Statements is
the sum of our consulting revenue and other service revenue.
Other service revenue as shown in our Consolidated Income
Statements mainly consists of revenue from training services,
messaging services, and SAP marketing events. Revenue
information by segment and geographic region is disclosed in



If, for any of our product or service offerings, we determine at
the outset of an arrangement that the amount of revenue
cannot be measured reliably, we conclude that the inflow of
economic benefits associated with the transaction is not
probable, and we defer revenue recognition until the arrangement
fee becomes due and payable by the customer. If, at the outset
of an arrangement, we determine that collectability is not
probable, we conclude that the inflow of economic benefits
associated with the transaction is not probable, and we defer
revenue recognition until the earlier of when collectability
becomes probable or payment is received. If collectability
becomes not probable before all revenue from an arrangement
is recognized, we recognize revenue only to the extent of the
fees that are successfully collected unless collectability
becomes probable again. If a customer is specifically identified
as a bad debtor, we stop recognizing revenue from the
customer except to the extent of the fees that have already
been collected.

We account for out-of-pocket expenses invoiced by SAP and
reimbursed by customers as support, cloud subscription and
support, consulting, or other service revenue, depending on
the nature of the service for which the out-of-pocket expenses
were incurred.

Software revenue represents fees earned from the sale

or license of software to customers for use on the customer’s
premises, in other words, where the customer has the right to
take possession of the software for installation on the
customer’s premises (on-premise software). Revenue from
the sale of perpetual licenses of our standard software
products is recognized in line with the requirements for selling
goods stated in IAS 18 (Revenue) when evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer,
the amount of revenue and associated costs can be measured
reliably, and collection of the related receivable is probable.
The fee of the sale is recognized net of returns and allowances,
trade discounts, and volume rebates.

v Assured

We usually sell or license on-premise software on a perpetual
basis. Occasionally, we license on-premise software for a
specified period of time. Revenue from short-term time-based
licenses, which usually include support services during the
license period, is recognized ratably over the license term.
Revenue from multi-year time-based licenses that include
support services, whether separately priced or not, is
recognized ratably over the license term unless a substantive
support service renewal rate exists; if this is the case, the amount
allocated to the delivered software is recognized as software
revenue based on the residual method once the basic criteria
described above have been met.

In general, our software license agreements do not include
acceptance-testing provisions. If an arrangement allows
for customer acceptance-testing of the software, we defer
revenue until the earlier of customer acceptance or when
the acceptance right lapses.

We usually recognize revenue from on-premise software
arrangements involving resellers on evidence of sell-through by
the reseller to the end-customer, because the inflow of the
economic benefits associated with the arrangements to us is
not probable before sell-through has occurred.

Sometimes we enter into customer-specific on-premise software
development agreements. We recognize software revenue in
connection with these arrangements using the percentage-of-
completion method based on contract costs incurred to date
as a percentage of total estimated contract costs required

to complete the development work. If we do not have a suffic-
ient basis to reasonably measure the progress of completion or
to estimate the total contract revenue and costs, revenue is
recognized only to the extent of the contract costs incurred for
which we believe recoverability to be probable. When it becomes
probable that total contract costs exceed total contract
revenue in an arrangement, the expected losses are recognized
immediately as an expense based on the costs attributable

to the contract.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



On-premise software subscription contracts combine software
and support service elements, as under these contracts the
customer is provided with current software products, rights to
receive unspecified future software products, and rights to
product support during the on-premise software subscription
term. Customers pay a periodic fee for a defined subscription
term, and we recognize such fees ratably over the term of

the arrangement beginning with the delivery of the first product.
Revenue from on-premise software subscription contracts

is allocated to the software revenue and support revenue line
items in our Consolidated Income Statements.

On-premise software rental contracts also combine software
and support service elements. Under such contracts the
customer is provided with current software products and
product support, but not with the right to receive unspecified
future software products. Customers pay a periodic fee over
the rental term. We recognize fees from software rental
contracts ratably over the term of the arrangement. Revenue
from rental contracts is allocated to the software revenue
and support revenue line items in our Consolidated Income
Statements.

Support revenue represents fees earned from providing
customers with unspecified future software updates, upgrades,
and enhancements, and technical product support services

for on-premise software products. We recognize support revenue
based on our performance under the support arrangements.
Under our major support services our performance obligation
is to stand ready to provide technical product support and

to provide unspecified updates and enhancements on a when-
and-if-available basis. For these support services we recognize
revenue ratably over the term of the support arrangement.

We do not sell separately technical product support or unspeci-
fied software upgrades, updates, and enhancements. Accordingly,
we do not distinguish within software and software-related
service revenue or within cost of software and software-related
services the amounts attributable to technical support
services and unspecified software upgrades, updates, and
enhancements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Revenue from cloud subscriptions and support represents

fees earned from providing customers with:

— Theright to use software in a cloud-based-infrastructure
(hosting) provided by SAP, where the customer does
not have the right to terminate the hosting contract and take
possession of the software to run it on the customer’s own
IT infrastructure or by a third party hosting provider without
significant penalty, or

— Additional premium support beyond the standard support
which is included in SAP’s basic cloud subscription fees, or

— Hosting services and related application management
services for software hosted by SAP, where the customer
has the right to terminate the hosting contract and take
possession of the software without significant penalty.

Cloud subscription and support revenue is recognized as the
services are performed. Where a fixed fee is agreed for

the right to continuously access and use a cloud offering for
a certain term, the fee is recognized ratably over the term
covered by the fixed fee. Fees that are based on actual trans-
action volumes are recognized as the transactions occur.

Revenue from consulting primarily represents fees earned
from providing customers with consulting services which
primarily relate to the installation and configuration of our
software products and cloud offerings. Usually, our consulting
contracts do not involve significant production, modification,
or customization of software and the related revenue is
recognized as the services are provided using the percentage-
of-completion method of accounting as outlined above.



Revenue from other services represents fees earned

from providing customers with training services, application

management services for software not hosted by SAP,

messaging services, SAP marketing events, and referral
services.

- Training services provide educational services to customers
and partners regarding the use of our software products.
We recognize training revenue and application management
services as the services are rendered.

— Messaging services primarily comprise the transmission of
electronic text messages from one mobile phone provider
to another. We recognize revenue from message services
based upon the number of messages successfully processed
and delivered. Revenue from fixed-price messaging
arrangements is recognized ratably over the contractual
term of the arrangement.

— Revenue from marketing events hosted by SAP, for which
SAP sells tickets to its customers, is recognized when
the marketing event is completed.

— Referral services comprise referring customers to partners.
We recognize revenue from referral services upon providing
the referral.

The majority of our arrangements contain multiple elements.
We account for software, support, cloud subscription,
consulting and other service deliverables as separate units of
account and allocate revenue based on fair value. Fair value

is determined by establishing either company-specific objective
evidence, or an estimated stand-alone selling price.

The revenue amounts allocated to the individual elements
are recognized when the revenue recognition criteria described
above have been met for the respective element.

We generally determine the fair value of each element based
on its company-specific objective evidence of fair value, which
is the price charged when that element is sold separately or,
for elements not yet sold separately, the price established by
our management if it is probable that the price will not change
before the element is sold separately.

v Assured

We derive the company-specific objective evidence of fair value
for our support services from the rates charged to renew the
support services annually after an initial period. Such renewal
rates generally represent a fixed percentage of the discounted
software license fee charged to the customer. The majority of
our customers renew their annual support service contracts

at these rates.

Where company-specific objective evidence of fair value or
third-party evidence of selling price cannot be established
for deliverables, we determine the fair value of the respective
element by estimating its stand-alone selling price. This is
generally the case for our cloud subscription offerings.

Estimated stand-alone selling price (ESP) for our cloud
subscription offerings is determined based on the rates agreed
with the individual customers to apply if and when the sub-
scription arrangement renews. We determine ESP by consid-
ering multiple factors which include, but are not limited to,

the following: i) substantive renewal rates contained within an
arrangement for cloud subscription deliverables; ii) gross
margin objectives and internal costs for services; and

iii) pricing practices, market conditions, and competitive
landscape.

We apply the residual method of revenue recognition when
company-specific objective evidence of fair value or estimated
stand-alone selling price exists for all of the undelivered
elements in the arrangement, but does not exist for one or
more delivered elements. This is generally the case in multiple
element arrangements involving on-premise software and
services related to on-premise software where company-
specific objective evidence of fair value or estimated stand-
alone selling price exists for all the services in the arrangement
(for example, support services, consulting services, cloud
subscription services), but does not exist for the on-premise
software. Under the residual method, revenue is allocated to all
undelivered elements in the amount of their respective fair
values and the remaining amount of the arrangement fee is
allocated to the delivered element. With this policy we have
considered the guidance provided by FASB ASC Subtopic 985-
605, Software Revenue Recognition (FASB ASC 985-605),
where applicable, as authorized by IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors (IAS 8).
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In multiple element arrangements where company-specific
objective evidence of fair value or an estimated stand-alone
selling price exists for all elements, revenue is allocated to
the elements based on their relative fair values (relative fair
value method).

Our consideration of whether on-premise software, cloud

subscriptions, consulting or other services are to be accounted

for separately or as one combined element of the arrangement
depends on:

— Whether the arrangement involves significant production,
modification, or customization of the software or cloud
subscription, and

— Whether the services are not available from third-party
vendors and are therefore deemed essential to the software.

If neither of the above is the case, revenue for the on-premise
software or cloud subscription element, and the other
elements, are recognized separately. In contrast, if one or both
of the above applies, the respective elements of the arrange-
ment are combined and accounted for as a single unit of
account, and the portion of the arrangement fee allocated to
this single unit of account is recognized using the percentage-
of-completion method, as outlined above, or over the cloud
subscription term, if applicable, depending on which service
term is longer.

We consider FASB ASC 985-605 in our accounting for options
that entitle the customer to purchase, in the future, additional
on-premise software. We allocate revenue to future incremental
discounts whenever customers are granted the right to license
additional on-premise software at a higher discount than the
one given within the initial software license arrangement, or to
purchase or renew services at rates below the fair values
established for these services.

Our contributions to resellers that allow our resellers to
execute qualified and approved marketing activities are recog-
nized as an offset to revenue, unless we obtain a separate
identifiable benefit for the contribution, and the fair value of the
benefit is reasonably estimable.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cost of Software and Software-Related Services

Cost of software and software-related services includes the
cost incurred in producing the goods and providing the
services that generate software and software-related service
revenue. Consequently, this line item includes primarily
employee expenses relating to these services, amortization of
acquired intangibles, fees for third-party licenses, shipping
and ramp-up cost.

Cost of Professional Services and Other Services

Cost of professional services and other services includes
the cost incurred in providing the services that generate
professional service and other service revenue including
messaging revenues. The item also includes sales and
marketing expenses related to our professional services and
other services that result from sales and marketing efforts
that cannot be clearly separated from providing the services.



Research and Development

Research and development includes the costs incurred by
activities related to the development of software solutions
(new products, updates, and enhancements) including
resource and hardware costs for the development systems.

Development activities involve the application of research
findings or other knowledge to a plan or design of new or
substantially improved software products before the start of
commercial use. Development expenditures are capitalized
only if all of the following criteria are met:

— The development cost can be measured reliably.

— The product is technically and commercially feasible.

— Future economic benefits are probable.

— We intend to complete development and market the product.

We have determined that the conditions for recognizing
internally generated intangible assets from our software
development activities are not met until shortly before

the products are available for sale. Development costs incurred
after the recognition criteria are met have not been material.
Consequently, all research and development costs are
expensed as incurred.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing includes costs incurred for the selling and
marketing activities related to our software solutions, software-
related service portfolio, and cloud business.

General and Administration

General and administration includes costs related to finance
and administrative functions, human resources, and general
management as long as they are not directly attributable to
one of the other operating expense line items.

v Assured

Leases

We are a lessee of property, plant, and equipment, mainly
buildings, hardware, and vehicles, under operating leases that
do not transfer to us the substantive risks and rewards of
ownership. Rent expense on operating leases is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the life of the lease including renewal
terms if, at inception of the lease, renewal is reasonably
assured.

Some of our operating leases contain lessee incentives, such
as up-front payments of costs or free or reduced periods of
rent. The incentives are amortized over the life of the lease and
the rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the life of the lease. The same applies to contractually-agreed
future increases of rents.

Income Tax

Deferred taxes are accounted for under the liability method. We
recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position and their respective tax bases
and on the carryforwards of unused tax losses and unused tax
credits. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and
unused tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in profit or
loss, unless related to items recognized in other comprehen-
sive income or directly in equity, in the period of (substantive)
enactment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent

that itis no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow the benefit of part or all of the deferred tax
assets to be utilized.

We have aligned the presentation of prior period comparative
amounts for tax assets and tax liabilities with the current
period presentation by offsetting certain current tax assets
against certain current tax liabilities and certain deferred

tax assets against certain deferred tax liabilities which were not
offset previously. The impact of this offsetting on the compara-
tive amounts was to decrease both, current tax assets and
current tax liabilities as of December 31, 2012, by €70 million
and to decrease both, deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities as of December 31, 2012, by €353 million.
Management concluded that these adjustments were
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

Share-Based Payments

Share-based payments cover cash-settled and equity-settled
awards issued to our employees. The fair values of both equity-
settled and cash-settled awards are initially measured at grant
date using an option-pricing model.

The fair value of equity-settled awards is not subsequently
remeasured. The grant date fair value of equity-settled awards
is recognized as personnel expense in profit or loss over the
period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled
to the rights, with a corresponding increase in share premium.
The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of equity-settled awards that ultimately vest.
We grant our employees discounts on certain share-based
payments. Since those discounts are not dependent on future
services to be provided by our employees, the discount is
recognized as an expense when the rights are granted.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the share-based payments that are settled by paying cash
rather than by issuing equity instruments, a provision is
recorded for the rights granted reflecting the vested portion of
the fair value of the rights at the end of each reporting period.
Personnel expense is recognized over the period the benefici-
aries are expected to perform the related service (vesting
period), with a corresponding increase in provisions. Cash-
settled awards are remeasured to fair value at the end of each
reporting date until the award is settled. Any changes in the
fair value of the provision are recognized as personnel expense
in profit or loss. The amount of unrecognized compensation
expense is dependent on the future price of our ordinary
shares which we cannot reasonably predict.

Where we hedge our exposure to cash-settled awards, changes
in the fair value of the respective hedging instruments are

also recognized as personnel expense in profit or loss. The fair
values for hedged programs are based on market data
reflecting current market expectations.

For more information about our share-based payments,
see

Other Components of Equity

Other components of equity include:

— Exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of our foreign operations as well as the
exchange differences from intercompany long-term
monetary items for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future

— Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale financial
assets

— Gains and losses on cash flow hedges comprising the net
change in fair value of the effective portion of the respective
cash flow hedges that have not yet impacted profit or loss



Treasury Shares

Treasury shares are recorded at acquisition cost and are
presented as a deduction from total equity. Gains and losses
on the subsequent reissuance of treasury shares are credited
or charged to share premium on an after-tax basis. On
cancellation of treasury shares, any excess of their carrying
amount over the calculated par value is charged to retained
earnings.

Earnings per Share

We present basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS). Basic
earnings per share is determined by dividing profit after

tax attributable to equity holders of SAP AG by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
respective year. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential
dilution assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

Financial Assets

Our financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents
(highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less), loans and receivables, acquired equity
and debt investments, and derivative financial instruments
(derivatives) with positive fair values.

These assets are recognized and measured in accordance with

IAS 39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement).

Accordingly, financial assets are recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position if we have a
contractual right to receive cash or other financial assets from
another entity. Regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recorded at the trade date. Financial assets are
initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs. Interest-free or below-market-
rate loans and receivables are initially measured at the present
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value of the expected future cash flows. The subsequent

measurement depends on the classification of our financial

assets to the following categories according to IAS 39:

- Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-

derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments

that are neither quoted in an active market nor intended to
be sold in the near term. This category comprises trade
receivables, receivables and loans included in other financial
assets, and cash and cash equivalents. We carry loans and
receivables at amortized cost less impairment losses. For
further information on trade receivables, see the

section.

Available-for-sale financial assets: Available-for-sale financial

assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not assigned

to either of the two other categories and mainly include
equity investments and debt investments. Available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value, with changes

in fair value being reported net of tax in other comprehensive

income. Fair value changes are not recognized in profit or loss

until the assets are sold or impaired.

- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise only
those financial assets that are held for trading, as we do not
designate financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition. This category solely contains
embedded and freestanding derivatives with positive fair
values. Except where hedge accounting is applied, all
changes in the fair value of financial assets in this category
are immediately recognized in profit or loss. For more
information about derivatives, see the section.

All financial assets not accounted for at fair value through
profit or loss are assessed for impairment at each reporting
date or if we become aware of objective evidence of impair-
ment as a result of one or more events that indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Objective
evidence includes but is not limited to a significant or
prolonged decline of the fair value below its carrying amount,

a high probability of insolvency, or a material breach of
contract by the issuer such as a significant delay or a shortfall
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in payments due. Impairment losses in the amount of the
difference between an asset'’s carrying amount and the present
value of the expected future cash flows or current fair value,
respectively, are recognized in financial income, net. For
available-for-sale financial assets such impairment losses
directly reduce an asset’s carrying amount, while impairments
on loans and receivables are recorded using allowance accounts.
Account balances are charged off against the respective
allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted and
the likelihood of recovery is considered remote. Impairment
losses are reversed if the reason for the original impairment
loss no longer exists. No such reversals are made for available-
for-sale equity investments.

Income/expenses and gains/losses on financial assets consist
of impairment losses and reversals, interest income and
expenses, dividends, and gains and losses from the disposal of
such assets. Dividend income is recognized when earned.
Interest income is recognized based on the effective interest
method. Neither dividend nor interest income is included in net
gains/losses at the time of disposal of an asset. Financial assets
are derecognized when contractual rights to receive cash

flows from the financial assets expire or the financial assets are
transferred together with all material risks and benefits.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

v Assured

Derivatives
We account for derivatives and hedging activities in
accordance with IAS 39 at fair value.

Many transactions constitute economic hedges, and therefore
contribute effectively to the securing of financial risks but do
not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39. For the hedging
of currency risks inherent in foreign currency denominated
and recognized monetary assets and liabilities, we do not
designate our held-for-trading derivative financial instruments
as accounting hedges, as the profits and losses from the
underlying transactions are recognized in profit or loss in the
same periods as the profits or losses from the derivatives.

We occasionally have contracts that require payment streams

in currencies other than the functional currency of either party

to the contract. Such embedded foreign currency derivatives

are separated from the host contract and accounted for

separately if the following are met:

— The economic characteristics and risks of the host contract
and the embedded derivative are not closely related.

— A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative.

— The combined instrument is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

We designate derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk or
interest rate risk as cash flow or fair value hedges in a hedging
relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting under IAS 39
and carry them at their fair value. At inception, we designate
and document the hedge relationship, including the nature of
the risk, the identification of the hedged item, the hedging
instrument, and how we will assess the hedge effectiveness.
Furthermore, at inception and on an ongoing basis we measure
and document whether the derivatives are highly effective in
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offsetting the changes in the fair values or cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. The accounting
for changes in fair value of the hedging instrument depends
on the type of the hedge and the effectiveness of the hedging
relationship. For more information about our hedges, see

a) Cash Flow Hedge

In general, we apply cash flow hedge accounting to the foreign
currency risk of highly probable forecasted transactions and
interest rate risk on variable rate financial liabilities.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the deri-
vative instrument determined to be an effective hedge is
recognized in other comprehensive income and presented
within other components of equity from cash flow hedges.
With regard to foreign currency risk, this relates to the spot
price and the intrinsic values of the derivatives designated and
qualifying as cash flow hedges, while gains and losses on

the interest element and on those time values excluded from
the hedging relationship as well as the ineffective portion of
gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss. We subsequently
reclassify the effective portion of gains or losses from other
comprehensive income to profit or loss when the hedged
transaction affects profit or loss.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive
income at that time remains in other comprehensive income
until the forecasted transaction is ultimately recognized in profit
or loss. When a forecasted transaction is no longer expected

to occur, the cumulative gain or loss existing in other compre-
hensive income at that time is immediately transferred to profit
or loss.
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b) Fair Value Hedge
We apply fair value hedge accounting for hedging certain
of our fixed rate financial liabilities.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss,
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset
or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk (basis
adjustment). The change in the fair value of the derivatives and
the change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged

risk are recognized in profit or loss in the line item relating to
the hedged item.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
the basis adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged

item for which the effective interest method is used is amortized
over the period to maturity.

The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is tested
prospectively and retrospectively. Prospectively, we apply the
critical terms match for our foreign currency hedges as
currencies, maturities, and the amounts are identical for the
forecasted transactions and the spot element of the forward
exchange rate contract or intrinsic value of the currency
options, respectively. For interest rate swaps, we also apply the
critical terms match as the notional amounts, currencies,
maturities, basis of the variable legs or fixed legs, respectively,
reset dates, and the dates of the interest and principal
payments are identical for the debt instrument and the
corresponding interest rate swaps. Therefore, over the life of
the hedging instrument, the changes in the designated
components of the hedging instrument will offset the impact
of fluctuations of the underlying hedged items.

The method of retrospectively testing effectiveness depends
on the type of the hedge as described further below:
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a) Cash Flow Hedge

Retrospectively, effectiveness is tested on a cumulative basis
applying the dollar offset method by using the hypothetical
derivative method. Under this approach, the change in fair value
of a constructed hypothetical derivative with terms reflecting
the relevant terms of the hedged item is compared to the
change in the fair value of the hedging instrument employing
its relevant terms. The hedge is deemed highly effective if

the results are within the range 80% to 125%.

b) Fair Value Hedge

Retrospectively, effectiveness is tested using statistical methods
in the form of a regression analysis by which the validity and
extent of the relationship between the change in value of the
hedged items as the independent and the fair value change

of the derivatives as the dependent variable is determined. The
hedge is deemed highly effective if the determination coefficient
between the hedged items and the hedging instruments
exceeds 0.8 and the slope coefficient lies within a range of —0.8
to -1.25.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are recorded at invoiced amounts less sales

allowances and allowances for doubtful accounts. We record

these allowances based on a specific review of all significant
outstanding invoices. When analyzing the recoverability of

our trade receivables, we consider the following factors:

— First, we consider the financial solvency of specific
customers and record an allowance for specific customer
balances when we believe it is probable that we will not
collect the amount due according to the contractual terms
of the arrangement.

— Second, we evaluate homogenous portfolios of trade receiva-
bles according to their default risk primarily based on the
age of the receivable and historical loss experience, but also
taking into consideration general market factors that might
impact our trade receivable portfolio. We record a general
bad debt allowance to record impairment losses for a
portfolio of trade receivables when we believe that the age of
the receivables indicates that it is probable that a loss has
occurred and we will not collect some or all of the amounts due.
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Account balances are written off, that is, charged off against
the allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted
and the likelihood of recovery is considered remote.

In our Consolidated Income Statements, expenses from
recording bad debt allowances for a portfolio of trade receiva-
bles are classified as other operating income, net, whereas
expenses from recording bad debt allowances for specific
customer balances are classified as cost of software and
software-related services or cost of professional services and
other services, depending on the transaction from which

the respective trade receivable results. Sales allowances are
recorded as an offset to the respective revenue item.

Included in trade receivables are unbilled receivables related
to fixed-fee and time-and-material consulting arrangements
for contract work performed to date.

Other Non-Financial Assets
Other non-financial assets are recorded at amortized cost,
which approximates fair value due to their short-term nature.

Intangible Assets

We classify intangible assets according to their nature and
use in our operation. Software and database licenses consist
primarily of technology for internal use, whereas acquired
technology consists primarily of purchased software to be
incorporated into our product offerings and in-process
research and development. Customer relationship and other
intangibles consist primarily of customer contracts and
acquired trademark licenses.
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All our purchased intangible assets other than goodwill have
finite useful lives. They are initially measured at acquisition
cost and subsequently amortized either based on expected
usage or on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives ranging from two to 16 years.

We recognize acquired in-process research and development
projects as an intangible asset separate from goodwill if a
project meets the definition of an asset. Amortization for these
intangible assets starts when the projects are complete

and the developed software is taken to the market. We typically
amortize these intangibles over five to seven years.

Amortization expenses of intangible assets are classified
as cost of software and software-related services, cost of
professional services and other services, research and
development, sales and marketing, and general and adminis-
tration depending on their use.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried at acquisition cost
plus the fair value of related asset retirement costs, if any and if
reasonably estimable, and less accumulated depreciation.
Interest incurred during the construction of qualifying assets is
capitalized and amortized over the related assets’ estimated
useful lives.

Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated over their
expected useful lives, generally using the straight-line method.
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Useful Lives of Property, Plant, and Equipment

Buildings 25to 50 years

Based on the lease contract

Leasehold improvements

Information technology equipment 3to5years

Office furniture 4 to 20 years

Automobiles 4 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the shorter of the term of the lease or the
useful life of the asset. If a renewal option exists, the term used
reflects the additional time covered by the option if exercise

is reasonably assured when the leasehold improvement is first
put into operation.

Impairment of Goodwill and Non-Current Assets

We test goodwill for impairment at least annually and when
events occur or changes in circumstances indicate that the
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is less than its carrying value.

The recoverable amount of goodwill is estimated each year at
the same time. The goodwill impairment test is performed

at the level of our operating segments since there are no lower
levels in SAP at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in

a business combination is allocated to the operating segments
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the com-
bination. If the carrying amount of the operating segment to
which the goodwill is allocated exceeds the recoverable amount,
an impairment loss on goodwill allocated to this operating
segment is recognized. The recoverable amount is the higher
of the operating segment’s fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. Fair value less costs of disposal is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or cash generating unit
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, less the cost of
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disposal. Value in use is the present value of the future cash
flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating
unit. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed in future
periods.

We review non-current assets, such as property, plant, equip-
ment, and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount

of an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. Intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or groups of assets. If assets do not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, the impairment test is not performed at
an individual asset level; instead, it is performed at the level of
the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of

an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset or its CGU is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value

of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses are presented in other operating income,
net in profit or loss.
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Contingent Assets

We carry insurance policies to, among other things, offset
the expenses associated with defending against litigation
matters as well as other risks. We recognize the respective
reimbursements in profit or loss when it is virtually certain
that the reimbursement will be received and retained by us.

Liabilities

Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank
loans, issued bonds, private placements and other financial
liabilities which comprise derivative and non-derivative
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognized and measured in accordance
with IAS 39. Accordingly, they are recognized in the Consolidated
Financial Statements if we have a contractual obligation to
transfer cash or another financial asset to another party. Finan-
cial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. In the case

of financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit

or loss, the initial measurement includes directly attributable

transaction costs. If material, financial liabilities are discounted
to present value based on prevailing market rates adjusted for
credit risk, with the discount being recognized over time as
interest expense. The subsequent measurement depends on
the allocation of financial liabilities to the following categories

according to IAS 39:

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss only
comprise those financial liabilities that are held for trading,
as we do not designate financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition. This category
solely contains embedded and other derivatives with
negative fair values, except where hedge accounting is
applied. All changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
in this category are immediately recognized in profit
or loss. For more information about derivatives, see the

section.

— Financial liabilities at amortized cost include all non-
derivative financial liabilities which are measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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Expenses and gains/losses on financial liabilities consist of
interest expense, and gains and losses from the disposal

of such liabilities. Interest expense is recognized based on the
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the contractual
obligation is discharged, canceled, or has expired.

Other non-financial liabilities with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market are mainly
the result of obligations to employees and fiscal authorities
and are generally measured at amortized cost.

Provisions

Provisions are recorded when all of the following conditions

are met:

- Itis more likely than not that we have a legal or constructive
obligation to third parties as a result of a past event.

— The amount can be reasonably estimated.

— Itis probable that there will be an outflow of future economic
benefits to settle the obligation, while there may be
uncertainty about the timing or amount of the future
expenditure required in the settlement.

We regularly adjust provisions as further information becomes
available or circumstances change. Non-current provisions
are reported at the present value of their expected settlement
amounts as at the reporting date. Discount rates are regularly
adjusted to current market interest rates.

A provision for restructuring is recognized when we have

approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan and
the restructuring has commenced or has been announced.
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Post-Employment Benefits

We measure our pension-benefit liabilities and other post-
employment benefits based on actuarial computations using
the projected-unit-credit method in accordance with IAS 19.
The assumptions used to calculate pension liabilities and
costs are disclosed in .As a result of the actuarial
calculation for each plan, we recognize an asset or liability for
the overfunded or underfunded status of the respective defined
benefit plan. We classify a portion of the liability as current
(determined on a plan-by-plan basis) if the amount by which
the actuarial present value of benefits included in the benefit
obligation payable within the next 12 months exceeds the fair
value of plan assets. Remeasurements of the defined benefit
obligation (DBO) or plan assets resulting from demographic
and financial data different than originally assumed and from
changes in assumptions can result in actuarial gains and
losses. We recognize all such remeasurements immediately in
retained earnings through other comprehensive income. They
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined
benefit plans are recognized in employee expenses.

SAP’s pension benefits are classified as defined contribution
plans if the payment to a separate fund relieves SAP of all
obligations from the pension plan. Obligations for contributions
to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an
expense in profit or loss when paid or due.

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries are required to provide
termination indemnity benefits to their employees regardless
of the reason for termination (retirement, voluntary, or
involuntary). We treat these plans as defined benefit pension
plans if the substance of the post-employment planis a
pension-type arrangement. Most of these arrangements provide
the employee with a one-time payout based on compensation
levels, age, and years of service on termination independent of
the reason (retirement, voluntary, or involuntary).
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Deferred Income

Deferred income is recognized as software revenue, support
revenue, cloud subscription and support revenue, consulting
revenue, or other service revenue, depending on the reasons
for the deferral, once the basic applicable revenue recognition
criteria have been met, for example, when the related services
are performed or when the discounts are used.

(3c) Management Judgments and Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in
conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabili-
ties, revenues, and expenses, as well as disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities.

We base our judgments, estimates, and assumptions on histori-
cal and forecast information, as well as regional and industry
economic conditions in which we or our customers operate,
changes to which could adversely affect our estimates.
Although we believe we have made reasonable estimates about
the ultimate resolution of the underlying uncertainties, no
assurance can be given that the final outcome of these matters
will be consistent with what is reflected in our assets, liabilities,
revenues, and expenses. Actual results could differ from
original estimates.

The accounting policies that most frequently require us to

make judgments, estimates, and assumptions, and therefore

are critical to understanding our results of operations,

include the following:

— Revenue recognition

— Valuation of trade receivables

— Accounting for share-based payments

— Accounting for income tax

— Accounting for business combinations

— Subsequent accounting for goodwill and other intangibles

— Accounting for legal contingencies

— Recognition of internally generated intangible assets
from development
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Our management periodically discusses these critical
accounting policies with the Audit Committee of the
Supervisory Board.

Revenue Recognition

As described in the Revenue Recognition section of

we do not recognize revenue before persuasive evidence

of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer,
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, and collection
of the related receivable is probable. The determination of
whether the amount of revenue can be measured reliably or
whether the fees are collectible is inherently judgmental as it
requires estimates as to whether and to what extent subse-
quent concessions may be granted to customers and whether
the customer is expected to pay the contractual fees. The
timing and amount of revenue recognition can vary depending
on what assessments have been made.

In most of our revenue-generating arrangements we sell to
the customer more than one product solution or service.
Additionally, we have ongoing relationships with many of our
customers and often enter into several transactions with the
same customer within close proximity in time. We therefore
have to determine the following:
— Which arrangements with the same customer are
to be accounted for as one arrangement
— Which deliverables under one arrangement are
to be accounted for separately
— How to allocate the total arrangement fee to the individual
elements of one arrangement
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The determination of whether different arrangements with the
same customer are to be accounted for as one arrangement
is highly judgmental, as it requires us to evaluate whether the
arrangements are negotiated together or linked in any other
way. The timing and amount of revenue recognition can vary
depending on whether two arrangements are accounted for
separately or as one arrangement.

Under an arrangement including on-premise software, or a
cloud subscription, and other deliverables, we do not account
for the on-premise software, or cloud subscription, and the
other deliverables separately if one of the other deliverables
(such as consulting services) is deemed to be essential to

the functionality of the on-premise software, or cloud subscrip-

tion. The determination whether an undelivered element is
essential to the functionality of the delivered element requires
the use of judgment. The timing and amount of revenue recog-
nition can vary depending on how that judgment is exercised,

because revenue may be recognized over a longer service term.

We also do not account separately for different deliverables
under an arrangement if we have no basis for allocating

the overall arrangement fee to the different elements of the
arrangement. However, we believe that such allocation basis
exists if we can either demonstrate for each undelivered
element of the arrangement a company-specific fair value, or,

where such company-specific fair value cannot be established,

if we can reasonably estimate stand-alone selling prices,
as further defined in the Revenue Recognition section of
.Judgment is required in the determination of an

appropriate fair value measurement which may impact the

timing and amount of revenue recognized depending on

the following:

— Whether an appropriate measurement of fair value can
be demonstrated for undelivered elements.

— The approaches used to establish fair value.
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Additionally, our revenue for on-premise software contracts
would be significantly different if we applied a revenue alloca-
tion policy other than the residual method.

Revenue from consulting, other services, and customer-
specific on-premise software development projects is deter-
mined by applying the percentage-of-completion method.

The percentage-of-completion method requires us to make
estimates about total revenue, total cost to complete

the project, and the stage of completion. The assumptions,
estimates, and uncertainties inherent in determining the

stage of completion affect the timing and amounts of revenue
recognized and expenses reported. If we do not have a
sufficient basis to measure the progress of completion or to
estimate the total contract revenue and costs, revenue
recognition is limited to the amount of contract costs incurred.
The determination of whether a sufficient basis to measure the
progress of completion exists is judgmental. Changes in
estimates of progress towards completion and of contract
revenue and contract costs are accounted for as cumulative
catch-up adjustments to the reported revenue for the
applicable contract.

Valuation of Trade Receivables
As described in the Trade and Other Receivables section in

, we account for impairments of trade receivables
by recording sales allowances and allowances for doubtful
accounts on an individual receivable basis and on a portfolio
basis. The assessment of whether a receivable is collectible
is inherently judgmental and requires the use of assumptions
about customer defaults that could change significantly.
Judgment is required when we evaluate available information
about a particular customer’s financial situation to determine
whether it is probable that a credit loss will occur and the
amount of such loss is reasonably estimable and thus an
allowance for that specific account is necessary. Basing the
general allowance for the remaining receivables on our
historical loss experience, too, is highly judgmental, as history
may not be indicative of future development, particularly
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in the global economic circumstances resulting from the recent
global financial crisis. Changes in our estimates about the
allowance for doubtful accounts could materially impact the
reported assets and expenses in our financial statements,

and our profit could be adversely affected if actual credit losses
exceed our estimates.

Accounting for Share-Based Payments

We use certain assumptions in estimating the fair values for
our share-based payments, including expected future share
price volatility and expected option life (which represents our
estimate of the average amount of time remaining until the
options are exercised or expire unexercised). In addition, the
final payout for these plans also depends on our share price at
the respective exercise dates. All these assumptions may
significantly impact the fair value determination and thus the
amount and timing of our share-based payment expense.
Furthermore, the fair values of the options granted under our
2009 Plan (SOP PP) are dependent on our performance
against the Technology Peer Group Index (TechPGlI) since the
respective grant date, the volatility and the expected
correlation between the market price of this index, and our
share price.

For the purpose of determining the estimated fair value of our
stock options, we believe expected volatility is the most sen-
sitive assumption. Regarding future payout under the plans,
the price of SAP’s shares will be the most relevant factor. The
fair values of the Restricted Share Units (RSUs) granted under
our Employee Participation Plan (EPP) and Long-Term Incen-
tive Plan (LTI) 2015 depend on SAP’s share price directly after
the announcement of the preliminary fourth quarter and full-
year results for the last financial year of the respective perfor-
mance period under the EPP (three-year holding period under
the LTI 2015), and thus may be significantly above or below
the budgeted amounts. With respect to our plan granted in 2009
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(SOP PP), we believe that future payout will be significantly
impacted not only by our share price but also by the require-
ment to outperform the TechPGI. Changes in these factors
could significantly affect the estimated fair values as calculated
by the option-pricing model, and the future payout. For more
information about these plans, see

Accounting for Income Tax

We conduct operations and earn income in numerous foreign
countries and are subject to changing tax laws in multiple
jurisdictions within the countries in which we operate. Our
ordinary business activities also include transactions where
the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain, such as those involving
revenue sharing and cost reimbursement arrangements
between SAP Group entities. In addition, the amount of income
tax we pay is generally subject to ongoing audits by domestic
and foreign tax authorities. As a result, judgment is necessary
in determining our worldwide income tax provisions. We have
made reasonable estimates about the ultimate resolution of
our tax uncertainties based on current tax laws and our inter-
pretation thereof. Such judgment can have a material effect

on our income tax expense, income tax provision, and profit
after tax.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent

that itis no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow the benefit of part or all of the deferred tax
assets to be utilized. This assessment requires management
judgment, estimates, and assumptions. In evaluating our ability
to utilize our deferred tax assets, we consider all available
positive and negative evidence, including the level of historical
taxable income and projections for future taxable income

over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are recover-
able. Our judgment regarding future taxable income is based
on expectations of market conditions and other facts and
circumstances. Any adverse change to the underlying facts or
our estimates and assumptions could require that we reduce
the carrying amount of our net deferred tax assets.

For more information about our income tax, see
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Accounting for Business Combinations

In our accounting for business combinations, judgment is

required in determining whether an intangible asset is

identifiable, and should be recorded separately from goodwill.

Additionally, estimating the acquisition date fair values of

the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed involves

considerable management judgment. The necessary measure-

ments are based on information available at the acquisition
date and are based on expectations and assumptions that have
been deemed reasonable by management. These judgments,
estimates, and assumptions can materially affect our financial
position and profit for several reasons, among which are the
following:

- Fair values assigned to assets subject to depreciation and
amortization affect the amounts of depreciation and
amortization to be recorded in operating profit in the periods
following the acquisition.

— Subsequent negative changes in the estimated fair values of
assets may result in additional expense from impairment
charges.

— Subsequent changes in the estimated fair values of liabilities
and provisions may result in additional expense (if increasing
the estimated fair value) or additional income (if decreasing
the estimated fair value).

Subsequent Accounting for Goodwill and

Other Intangibles

As described in the Intangible Assets section in ,all

our intangible assets other than goodwill have finite useful

lives. Consequently, the depreciable amount of the intangible
assets is allocated on a systematic basis over their useful lives.

Judgment is required in determining the following:

— The useful life of an intangible asset, as this determination
is based on our estimates regarding the period over which
the intangible asset is expected to produce economic
benefits to us.

— The amortization method, as IFRS requires the straight-line
method to be used unless we can reliably determine the
pattern in which the asset'’s future economic benefits are
expected to be consumed by us.
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Both the amortization period and the amortization method
have an impact on the amortization expense that is recorded in
each period.

In making impairment assessments for our intangible assets
and goodwill, the outcome of these tests is highly dependent

on management'’s latest estimates and assumptions regarding
future cash flow projections and economic risks, which are
complex and require significant judgment and assumptions
about future developments. They can be affected by a variety
of factors, including changes in our business strategy, our
internal forecasts, and an estimate of our weighted-average
cost of capital. Due to these factors, actual cash flows and
values could vary significantly from the forecasted future cash
flows and related values derived using the discounted cash
flow method. Although we believe the assumptions and
estimates we have made in the past have been reasonable and
appropriate, different assumptions and estimates could
materially affect our financial position and profit.

The results of goodwill impairment tests may depend on

the allocation of goodwill to our operating segments. This
allocation is judgmental as it is based on our estimates
regarding which operating segments are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the business combination.

We recognized no impairment losses on our goodwill and no
significant impairment losses on our intangible assets during
2013. Although we do not currently have an indication of

any significant impairment, there can be no assurance that
impairment losses will not occur in the future. For more
information, see
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Accounting for Legal Contingencies

As described in , we are currently involved in various

claims and legal proceedings. We review the status of each

significant matter not less frequently than each quarter and

assess our potential financial and business exposures related

to such matters. Significant judgment is required in the

determination of whether a provision is to be recorded and

what the appropriate amount for such provision should be.

Notably, judgment is required in the following:

— Determining whether an obligation exists

— Determining the probability of outflow of economic benefits

— Determining whether the amount of an obligation is reliably
estimable

— Estimating the amount of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation

Due to uncertainties relating to these matters, provisions
are based on the best information available at the time.

At the end of each reporting period, we reassess the potential
obligations related to our pending claims and litigation and
adjust our respective provisions to reflect the current best
estimate. In addition, we monitor and evaluate new information
that we receive after the end of the respective reporting

period but before the Consolidated Financial Statements are
authorized for issue to determine whether this provides
additional information regarding conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period. Such revisions to our estimates

of the potential obligations could have a material impact on our
financial position and profit. For further information about

this case, see and

Recognition of Internally Generated Intangible Assets
from Development

Under IAS 38, internally generated intangible assets from

the development phase are recognized if certain conditions
are met. These conditions include the technical feasibility,
intention to complete, the ability to use or sell the asset under
development, and the demonstration of how the asset will
generate probable future economic benefits. The cost of a
recognized internally generated intangible asset comprises all
directly attributable cost necessary to make the asset capable

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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of being used as intended by management. In contrast, all
expenditures arising from the research phase are expensed as
incurred.

We believe that determining whether internally generated
intangible assets from development are to be recognized
as intangible assets requires significant judgment, particularly
in the following areas:

— Determining whether activities should be considered
research activities or development activities.

— Determining whether the conditions for recognizing an
intangible asset are met requires assumptions about
future market conditions, customer demand and other
developments.

— The term “technical feasibility” is not defined in IFRS, and
therefore determining whether the completion of an asset
is technically feasible requires judgment and a company-
specific approach.

— Determining the future ability to use or sell the intangible
asset arising from the development and the determination
of the probability of future benefits from sale or use.

— Determining whether a cost is directly or indirectly
attributable to an intangible asset and whether a cost
is necessary for completing a development.

We have determined that the conditions for recognizing
internally generated intangible assets from our software
development activities are not met until shortly before
the developed products are available for sale. This assess-
ment is monitored by us on a regular basis.
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(3d) New Accounting Standards Adopted

in the Current Period

The following new accounting standards and amendments to

standards have been adopted in fiscal year 2013:

— Amendments to IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) —
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities, which
require entities to disclose gross amounts subject to rights of
set-off, amounts set off in accordance with the accounting
standards followed, and the related net credit exposure. The
amendments did not result in an impact on the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements.

- IFRS 10 (Consolidated Financial Statements), IFRS 11 (Joint
Arrangements), and IFRS 12 (Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities) including amendments to the transition guidance
for IFRS 10-12 issued in June 2012, which provide a single
consolidation model that identifies control as the basis for
consolidation for all types of entities, establish principles
for the financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement,
and combine, enhance and replace the disclosure require-
ments for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and
structured entities. The adoption of this new set of standards
(we adopted the new standards earlier than required by
the European Union) did not result in a change in the financial
position of the Group. However, additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure has been added, for example, with
respect to consolidated structured entities.

- IFRS 13 (Fair Value Measurement), which defines fair value,
sets out in a single IFRS a framework for measuring fair
value, and requires disclosures about fair value measure-
ments. The adoption of the standard has resulted in
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additional disclosures, for example, relating to risks asso-
ciated with financial instruments and to the valuation
techniques used for the valuation of the financial instruments.
Amendments to IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements),
which aim to improve and align the presentation of items

of other comprehensive income in financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS and U.S. GAAP. Since SAP
had already made appropriate changes in the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income in prior years, the
adoption of the standard did not result in any changes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Amendments to IAS 19, which aim to improve the under-
standing of how defined benefit plans affect an entity’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. The
retrospective application of the revised IAS 19 in accordance
with the transitional provisions set out in IAS 19.173 (as
revised in 2011) resulted in the netting of items in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position (mandatory
netting of plan assets with time credits and semiretirement
obligations now classified as other long-term employee
benefits), reclassifications of certain employee benefit
liabilities from short-term benefits to long-term benefits and
consequential remeasurement of these liabilities. These
changes, which are immaterial both individually and in the
aggregate, resulted in amounts of adjustments for the
following balance sheet line items as of December 31, 2012:
decrease of non-current other financial assets by €124
million, increase of deferred tax assets by €18 million (thus
reducing total assets by €106 million), increase of current
other non-financial liabilities by €68 million, decrease of
current and non-current other provisions by €93 million and
€45 million respectively, increase of deferred tax liabilities
by €3 million (thus reducing total liabilities by €67 million)
and a reduction of retained earnings by €39 million. The
impacts on our income statements were inconsequential in
all periods presented. The standard also resulted in additional

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



disclosures (for example, a sensitivity analysis for changes
in defined benefit obligations, additional components con-
sidered in actuarial assumptions, etc.), for more information
see .

— Amendments to IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets), which aim
to remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the
disclosures required under IAS 36 and expand the disclosures
on recoverable amounts of assets or cash-generating units
when they are based on fair value less costs of disposals. SAP
has early-adopted these new amendments to IAS 36.

(3e) New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

The standards and interpretations (relevant to the Group)

that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance
of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The
Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when
they become effective:

v Assured

- IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments) and subsequent amendments
to IFRS 7 and IFRS 9, which will be applicable in fiscal
year 2017 at the earliest (the final mandatory effective date
is expected to be determined after the final guidance has
beenissued). The new guidance is expected to impact
the classification and measurement of financial assets. We
have not yet completed the determination of the impact
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

— Amendments to IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation) —
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities, which
become mandatory for the Group’s 2014 Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements, aim to eliminate inconsistencies when
applying the offsetting criteria and include some clarifications.
The amendments will not have a material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
In 2013, we concluded the following business combinations:

Acquired Businesses

Sector Acquisition Type  Acquired Voting Interest Acquisition Date
Ticket-Web GmbH & Co. KG, Solution provider of ticketing & customer relationship Asset Deal NA March 4,2013
Wildau, Germany management
KMS Software Company LLC., Provider of employee onboarding solutions Asset Deal NA April 1,2013
Los Angeles, California, USA
Camilion Solutions, Inc., Solutions for the insurance industry Share Deal 100% April 2,2013
Toronto, Canada
SmartOps Corporation, Provider of inventory and service-level optimization Share Deal 100% April 12,2013
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA software solutions
hybris AG, Rotkreuz, Provider of independent commerce technology Share Deal 100% August 1,2013
Switzerland (B2Band B2C)
KXEN Inc., San Francisco, Provider of predictive analytics technology for line Share Deal 100% October 1,2013

California, USA of business users and analysts

We acquire businesses in specific areas of strategic
interest to us.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Acquisition of hybris

On August 1, 2013, following satisfaction of applicable
regulatory and other approvals, we acquired 100%

of the shares of hybris AG.

hybris is a recognized leader in independent commerce
technology (B2B and B2C). We expect this acquisition to
combine hybris's omnichannel commerce solution with SAP’s
enterprise technology and in-memory, cloud, and mobile
innovations and help facilitate new levels of customer insight
and engagement.

Financial Impact of Our Acquisitions

as of the Acquisition Date

The following table summarizes the values of identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as of the acquisition
date.
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Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets Acquired
and Liabilities Assumed
€ millions
Total Thereof
hybris
Cash and cash equivalents 16 10
Other financial assets 1 1
Trade and other receivables 40 30
Other non-financial assets 5 4
Property, plant, and equipment 8 7
Intangible assets 376 332
Thereof acquired technology 192 167
Thereof customer relationship 182 164
and other intangibles
Customer relationship 156 144
Trade name 11 10
Other intangible assets 15 10
Thereof software and database licenses 2 1
Current and deferred tax assets 21 13
Total identifiable assets 467 397
Trade accounts payable 13 10
Loans and borrowings 25 24
Current and deferred tax liabilities 83 67
Provisions and other non-financial liabilities 34 30
Thereof legal and litigation related liabilities 1 1
Deferred revenue 16 14
Total identifiable liabilities 171 145
Total identifiable net assets 296 252
Goodwill 840 780
Total consideration transferred in cash 1,136 1,032

The goodwill arising from the acquisitions consists largely
of the synergies and the know-how and technical skills of the
acquired businesses’ workforces.
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hybris goodwill is attributed to expected synergies from

the acquisition particularly sourcing from the customers’
transformations from channel-centric to omnichannel
business. By combining hybris commerce solutions with SAP
products, we expect to enable our customers — across all
devices, delivery channels and touchpoints — to provide new
levels of real-time customer interaction and customer
engagement.

The initial accounting for the business combinations entered
into in 2013 is incomplete because we are still obtaining

the information necessary to identify and measure contingent
liabilities and tax related assets and liabilities of the acquired
businesses. Accordingly, the respective amounts recognized in
our financial statements for these items are regarded
provisional as of December 31, 2013.

The acquisition-related costs incurred totaled €10 million for
our 2013 business combinations, all of which were recognized
in general and administration expense.

Impact of Business Combinations

on Our Financial Statements

The amounts of revenue and profit or loss of the hybris
business acquired in 2013 since the acquisition date included
in the consolidated income statements for the reporting period
are as follows:

Impact of hybris on SAP’s Financials

€ millions
Con-
tribution
of hybris
Revenue 70
Profit after tax -11

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Had hybris been consolidated as of January 1, 2013, our
estimated pro forma revenue for the reporting period would
have been €16,865 million, and pro forma profit after tax
would have been €3,282 million.

These amounts were calculated after applying the Company’s
accounting policies and after adjusting the results for hybris
to reflect, for example:

— Additional depreciation and amortization that would have
been charged assuming the fair value adjustment to
property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets had
been applied from January 1, 2013

— The impact of fair value adjustments on deferred revenue
on a full-year basis

— The borrowing costs on the funding levels and debt/equity
position of the Company after the business combination

— Employee benefits

— Related tax effects

These pro forma numbers have been prepared for comparative
purposes only. The pro forma revenue and profit numbers

are not necessarily indicative of either the results of operations
that would have actually occurred had the acquisition been

in effect at the beginning of the respective periods or of future
results.

Prior year acquisitions are described in the Consolidated
Financial Statements in the 2012 Annual Report.

(5) REVENUE
For detailed information about our revenue recognition

policies, see

For revenue information by segment and geographic region,
see
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Revenue from construction-type contracts (contract revenue)
is included in software revenue and consulting revenue
depending on the type of project. The status of our construc-
tion projects in progress at the end of the reporting period
accounted for under IAS 11 was as follows:

v Assured

(7) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE AND HEADCOUNT

Employee Benefits Expense
Employee benefits expense comprises the following:

Employee Benefits Expense

Construction Projects in Progress € millions
€ millions
2013 2012 2011
2013 2012 2011
Salaries 5,997 5726 4,938
Revenue recognized 194 196 172 Social security expense 857 777 642
in the respective year Pension expense 212 190 168
Aggregate cost recognized 221 255 229 Share-based payment expense 327 522 68
(multi-year) Termination benefits 39 65 65
Recognized result 87 2 14 Employee-related restructuring 57 6 0
(+ profit/— loss; multi-year) expense
Advance payments received 1 3 5 Employee benefits expense 7,489 7,286 5,880
Gross amounts due from 3 7 20
customers
Gross amounts due to customers 69 15 44 Pension expense includes the amounts recorded for our defined
Loss provisions 3 34 27

(6) OTHER OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSE, NET
Other operating income/expense, net, was as follows:

Other Operating Income/Expense, Net

€ millions

2013 2012 2011
Miscellaneous other operating -6 -3 -3
expenses
Gain/loss on disposals 0 -5 18
of non-current assets
Miscellaneous other operating 19 31 10
income
Other operating income/ 12 23 25

expense, net
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benefit and defined contribution plans as described in
. Expenses for local state pension plans are included in
social security expense.

Number of Employees

On December 31, 2013, the breakdown of our full-time
equivalent employee numbers by function in SAP and by
region was as follows:
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Number of Employees
Full-time equivalents
December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
EMEAD  Americas Asia Total EMEAY Americas Asia Total EMEAD Americas Asia Total
Pacific Pacific Pacific
Japan Japan Japan
Software and software-related 4,859 2,861 3,541 11,261 4,559 2,628 3,364 10,551 4,068 2,079 2,816 8,963

services

Professional services and other 7177 4406 3047 14629 7,020 4399 2840 14259 6808 3963 2497 13,268

services

Research and development 8,806 3,630 5,367 17,804 8,952 3,672 5,388 18,012 8,713 3,028 4,120 15,861
Sales and marketing 6,346 6,437 3,041 15,824 5,697 6,220 2,982 14,899 4,856 4,581 2,343 11,780
General and administration 2,424 1,445 697 4,566 2,243 1,383 660 4,286 2,073 1,120 542 3,735
Infrastructure 1,380 790 318 2,488 1,286 821 308 2,415 1,182 702 274 2,158
SAP Group (December 31) 30,993 19,568 16,011 66,572 29,757 19,123 15,542 64,422 27,700 15,473 12,592 55,765
Thereof acquisitions 511 571 29 1,111 791 2,987 1,038 4,816 264 49 90 403

SAP Group (months' end average) 30,238 19,418 15,752 65,409 29,009 17,619 14,506 61,134 27,296 15,010 12,040 54,346

D Europe, Middle East, Africa

Allocation of Share-Based Payment Expense

The allocation of expense for share-based payments,
net of the effects from hedging these instruments,

to the various operating expense items is as follows:

Share-Based Payments

€ millions
2013 2012 2011
Cost of software and software-related services 40 42 5
Cost of professional services and other services 61 104 11
Research and development 90 125 16
Sales and marketing 96 123 15
General and administration 40 127 21
Share-based payments 327 522 68
Thereof cash-settled share-based payments 240 450 33
Thereof equity-settled share-based payments 87 72 35

For more information about our share-based payments, see
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(8) OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSE, NET
Other non-operating income/expense, net was as follows:
Other Non-Operating Income/Expense, Net
€ millions
2013 2012 2011
Foreign currency exchange gain/loss, net 4 -154 -58
Thereof from financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss -75 -102 44
Thereof from available for sale financial assets 0 -2 0
Thereof from loans and receivables 184 -32 =177
Thereof from financial liabilities at amortized cost -105 -20 79
Thereof from non-financial assets/liabilities 0 2 -4
Miscellaneous other non-operating income 1 4 2
Miscellaneous other non-operating expense =22 =23 -19
Other non-operating income/expense, net -17 -173 -75
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(9) FINANCIAL INCOME, NET
Financial Income, net was as follows:
Financial Income, Net
€ millions
2013 2012 2011
Finance income
Interest income from
available-for-sale financial assets (debt) 0 1 2
loans and receivables 37 45 58
derivatives 32 27 37
Gains on
available-for-sale financial assets (debt) 0 0 1
available-for-sale financial assets (equity) 46 30 12
Share of result of associates 0 0 9
Finance income 115 103 119
Finance cost
Interest expense from
financial liabilities at amortized cost =131 -130 -123
derivatives =23 -28 -37
TomorrowNow litigation 0 -1 8
Losses on
available-for-sale financial assets (equity) -2 -1 0
Impairment losses from
available-for-sale financial assets (equity) -11 -7 -2
Fee expenses -14 -8 -7
Finance cost -181 -175 -161
Financial income, net -66 =72 -42
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(10) INCOME TAX Income tax expense for the years ended December 31
Income tax expense for the years ended December 31 is comprised the following components:
attributable to the following regions:

Major Components of Tax Expense
Tax Expense According to Region € millions
€ millions

2013 2012 2011
2013 2012 2011

Current tax expense/income
Current tax expense Tax expense for current year 1,249 1,173 1,152
Germany 836 700 635 Taxes for prior years -87 33 4
Foreign 326 506 521 Total current tax expense 1,162 1,206 1,156
Total current tax expense 1,162 1,206 1,156 Deferred tax expense/income
Deferred tax expense/income Origination and reversal -168 -266 164
Germany 51 -11 -14 of temporary differences
Foreign -142 -202 189 Unused tax losses, research 77 53 11
Total deferred tax expense/ -91 -213 175  anddevelopment tax credits
income and foreign tax credits
Total income tax expense 1,071 993 1,331 Total deferred tax expense/ -91 -213 175

income

Total income tax expense 1,071 993 1,331

Profit before tax for the years ended December 31 consisted of
the following:

Profit Before Tax

€ millions

2013 2012 2011
Germany 3,126 2,460 2,316
Foreign 1,270 1,336 2,451
Total 4,396 3,796 4,767
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The following table reconciles the expected income tax

expense computed by applying our combined German tax
rate of 26.41% (2012: 26.47%; 2011: 26.34%) to the actual

income tax expense. Our 2013 combined German tax rate
includes a corporate income tax rate of 15.00% (2012: 15.00%;

2011:15.00%), plus a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% (2012: 5.5%;

2011: 5.5%) thereon, and trade taxes of 10.58% (2012: 10.64%;

2011: 10.51%).

Relationship Between Tax Expense and Profit Before Tax

€ millions, unless otherwise stated

€105 million of the prior-year tax income recognized

v Assured

in the current reporting period relate to assets acquired or

liabilities assumed in business combinations of previous

reporting periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities on a gross basis as at
December 31 are attributable to the following items:

Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

€ millions

2013 2012
2013 2012 2011 Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets 87 117
Profit before tax 4,396 3,796 4,767 Property, plant, and equipment 18 35
Tax expense at applicable 1,161 1,005 1,256 Other financial assets 7 2
tax rate of 26.41% Trade and other receivables 38 67
(2012:26.47%; 2011:26.34%) Carryforwards of unused tax losses 521 641
Tax effect of: Pension provisions 78 76
Foreign tax rates -116 -114 79 Share-based payments 105 122
Non-deductible expenses 158 111 89 Other provisions and obligations 305 305
Tax exempt income -146 -169 -149 Deferred income 48 46
Withholding taxes 87 71 93 Research and development and foreign tax credits 65 37
Research and development and -41 -29 -33 Other 121 120
foreign tax credits Deferred tax assets 1,393 1,568

Prior-year taxes =113 15 -25 Deferred tax liabilities
Reassessment of deferred 60 31 0 Intangible assets 696 844
tax assets, research and Property, plant, and equipment 52 55
development tax credits, and Other financial assets 367 382
foreign tax credits Trade and other receivables 26 23
Other 21 72 21 Pension provisions 6 4
Total income tax expense 1,071 993 1,331 Share-based payments 1 2
Effective tax rate (in %) 24.4 26.2 27.9 Other provisions and obligations 21 17
Deferred income 6 20
Other 39 36
Deferred tax liabilities 1,214 1,383
Deferred tax assets/liabilities, net 179 185
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We retrospectively adjusted the provisional amounts recognized
for deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the 2012 Ariba
business combination by a corresponding decrease in goodwill

in the amount of €82 million. The adjustment reflects new
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information obtained about facts and circumstances as of the
acquisition date, mainly about the utilization of carryforwards of

unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the
following items for the years ended December 31:

Items Not Resulting in a Deferred Tax Asset

v Assured

The proposed dividend payment of €1.00 per share for the
year ended December 31, 2013, will not have any effects on the

income tax of SAP AG.

Total income tax including the items charged or credited

directly to share premium and other comprehensive income
for the years ended December 31 consists of the following:

€ millions Total Income Tax
€ millions
2013 2012 2011
2013 2012 2011

Unused tax losses
Not expiring 68 49 38 Income tax recorded in profit 1,071 993 1,331
Expiring in the following year 43 6 10 Income tax recorded in share =5 -4 -10
Expiring after the following year 525 517 93 premium
Total unused tax losses 636 572 141 Income tax recorded in other
Deductible temporary 178 202 30 comprehensive income that will not
differences be reclassified to profit and loss
Unused research and develop- Actuarial gains/losses on defined 3 -4 -5
ment and foreign tax credits benefit pension plans
Not expiring 25 32 17 Income tax recorded in other
Expiring in the following year 1 0 0 comprehensive income that will be
Expiring after the following year 1 36 reclassified to profit and loss
Total unused tax credits 27 68 20 Gains/losses on cash flow 0 17 -1

hedges

Currency effects 8 3 -6
€421 million (2012: €367 million; 2011: €34 million) of the Total 1,077 1,005 1,309

unused tax losses relate to U.S. state tax loss carryforwards. As
described above, prior-year numbers for unused tax losses
related to the 2012 Ariba business combination were adjusted,
resulting in a decrease in the amount of €743 million.

We have not recognized a deferred tax liability on approxi-
mately €7.07 billion (2012: €5.84 billion) for undistributed
profits of our subsidiaries, because we are in a position to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in

the foreseeable future.
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The income tax recorded in share premium relates to our
equity-settled share-based payment.

We are subject to ongoing tax audits by domestic and foreign
tax authorities. As a result of the tax audit of SAP AG and its
German subsidiaries for the years 2003 through 2006, we are
in dispute with the German tax authorities in respect of
intercompany financing matters. We strongly disagree with the
tax authorities’ position and intend to vigorously contest it.
Currently, we expect that we will need to initiate litigation to
prevail. We have not recorded a provision for this matter as

we believe that the tax authorities’ claim has no merit and that
no adjustment is warranted. If, contrary to our view, the German
tax authorities were to prevail in their arguments before the
court, we would expect to have an additional tax expense
(including related interest expense) for the tax audit period
2003 through 2006 and for the following years 2007 through
2013 of approximately €168 million in total.
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(11) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Restricted shares (the bonus shares in the Share Matching
Plan discussed in below) granted to employees
under our share-based payments are included in the diluted
earnings per share calculations to the extent they have a
dilutive effect.

Earnings per share for the years ended December 31 was
calculated as follows:

Earnings per Share
€ millions, unless otherwise stated

2013 201